
MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 20th October 2021

TIME: 6.30 pm

VENUE: Bootle Town Hall

Member

Councillor

Substitute

Councillor
Cllr. Daren Veidman (Chair)
Cllr. Brenda O'Brien (Vice-Chair)
Cllr. Jennifer Corcoran
Cllr. Denise Dutton
Cllr. James Hansen
Cllr. John Kelly
Cllr. Sonya Kelly
Cllr. Steve McGinnity
Cllr. Dr. John Pugh
Cllr. Joe Riley
Cllr. Michael Roche
Cllr. Paula Spencer
Cllr. Lynne Thompson
Cllr. Paul Tweed
Cllr. Carran Waterfield

Cllr. Natasha Carlin
Cllr. John Sayers LLB. Cert PA.
Cllr. Anne Thompson
Cllr. Terry Jones
Cllr. Susan Bradshaw
Cllr. Patrick McKinley
Cllr. Leslie Byrom C.B.E.
Cllr. Janet Grace
Cllr. John Dodd
Cllr. Sinclair D'Albuquerque
Cllr. Gordon Friel
Cllr. Dave Robinson
Cllr. John Dodd
Cllr. Janis Blackburne
Cllr. Linda Cluskey

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby / Ian Barton
Telephone: 0151 934 2181 /  2788
email: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk / 

ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk  

by no later than 12:00 (noon) on the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.

mailto:ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk


A G E N D A

1.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting by switching their 
camera and microphone off during the whole consideration of 
any item of business in which he/she has an interest, except 
where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer by 12 Noon the day 
before the meeting to determine whether the Member should 
withdraw from the meeting room, during the whole 
consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an 
interest or whether the Member can remain in the meeting or 
remain in the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

2.  Apologies for Absence

3.  Minutes of the meeting held on 25 August 2021 (Pages 5 - 10)

4.  Applications for Planning Permission - Petitions

A DC/2021/00417 - Land off Holgate, Thornton  (Pages 11 - 38)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

B DC/2021/00977 - 17 Crown Close Formby Liverpool  (Pages 39 - 46)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

C DC/2020/02331 - Land off Bankfield Lane, Southport  (Pages 47 - 60)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

5.  Applications for Planning Permission - Approvals

A DC/2021/02152 - 15 Harbury Avenue, Ainsdale  (Pages 61 - 66)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer



B DC/2021/01032 - Telegraph House, Moor Lane, 
Crosby  

(Pages 67 - 106)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

C DC/2021/00124 - Land at Town Lane Kew, Southport  (Pages 107 - 122)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

6.  Planning Appeals (Pages 123 - 130)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

7.  Visiting Panel Schedule (Pages 131 - 132)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

17

PLANNING COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE BOOTLE TOWN HALL
ON  25 AUGUST, 2021

PRESENT: Councillor Veidman (in the Chair)
Councillor O'Brien (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Dutton, Hansen, John Kelly, 
Sonya Kelly, McGinnity, Riley, Roche, Spencer, 
Lynne Thompson, Tweed, Waterfield, and 
Anne Thompson

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Irving

31. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Corcoran.

32. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

33. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 28 JULY 2021 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 July 2021 be confirmed as a 
correct record.

34. DC/2018/00093 - LAND NORTH OF BRACKENWAY, FORMBY 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer, 
recommending that the above outline application for the demolition of 
existing structures and construction of up to 286 dwellings including flood 
alleviation measures, extension of nature reserve, public open space, 
ground re-profiling and associated works,  be approved subject to 
conditions and completion of a Section 106 legal agreement and for the 
reasons stated or referred to in the report.

Councillor Irving, as Ward Councillor, spoke in objection to the application. 
A response in support of the application was received from Paul Nellist 
(Avison Young), Simon Devine (Taylor Wimpey), and Phil Wooliscroft 
(Highway Consultant) on behalf of the applicant. At the Chair’s discretion 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 25TH AUGUST, 2021

18

the respondents also answered questions about the proposed 
development from the Committee.

RESOLVED:

That the recommendation be approved, and the application be granted for 
the reasons stated or referred to in the report and subject to conditions 
and the completion of a S.106 legal agreement.

35. PLANNING APPEALS REPORT 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer on the 
results of the undermentioned appeals and progress on appeals lodged 
with the Planning Inspectorate.

Appellant Proposal/Breach of 
Planning Control

Decision

Mr. Matthew 
Edwardson

DC/2020/02046 – Land to 
the rear of Gardner Road, 
Formby. L37 8DE - 
Appeal against refusal by 
the Council to grant 
planning permission for 
the change of use of the 
land from amenity space 
to private garden.

Dismissed
28/07/2021

Mr. David 
Williams

DC/2020/00311 – 34 
Summerhill Drive Maghull. 
L31 3DW.  Appeal against 
refusal by the Council to 
grant planning permission 
for the erection of a single 
storey garage extension 
to the front of the 
dwellinghouse.

Dismissed
28/07/2021

Mrs. M. Price EN/2020/00311 - The 
land at Barkeley Drive, 
Seaforth. L21 4LX .  
Appeal against  an 
enforcement notice issued 
in respect of, without 
planning permission and 
within the last 10 years, 
the change of use and 
conversion of the dwelling 
house to a 5 studio house 
in multiple occupation 

Allowed
01/06/2021

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 25TH AUGUST, 2021

19

(HMO).

Miss 
Francesca 
Shaw

DC/2020/00949 - Eden 
Salon, 32 Arbour Street, 
Southport, Merseyside. 
PR8 6SQ.  Appeal against 
the refusal by the Council 
to grant planning 
permission for the 
erection of a two-storey 
extension to the rear of 
the property.

Allowed
28/05/2021

Mr. and Mrs. 
Henry Francis 
Callaway

EN/2020/00094 – 2A 
Marldon Avenue, Crosby. 
L23 0SL
Appeal against an 
enforcement notice in 
respect of, without 
planning permission and 
within the last four years, 
the erection of a boundary 
fence and posts to the 
side of the dwellinghouse 
in excess of 1 metre in 
height adjacent to a 
highway, Liverpool Road, 
Crosby.

Quashed
28/05/2021

Mrs. Maureen 
Callaway

EN/2020/00094 – 2A 
Marldon Avenue, Crosby. 
L23 0SL
Appeal against an 
enforcement notice in 
respect of Without 
planning permission and 
within the last four years, 
the erection of a boundary 
fence and posts to the 
side of the dwellinghouse 
in
excess of 1 metre in 
height adjacent to a 
highway, Liverpool Road, 
Crosby.

Quashed
28/05/2021

Mr. Richard 
Gee – Roman 
Summers 
Associates Ltd

DC/2020/020259 - Land 
West of Damfield Lane, 
Maghull, Merseyside. L31 
3EL – Appeal against the 
Council’s refusal to grant 

Allowed
27/05/2021

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 25TH AUGUST, 2021

20

planning permission for 
the variation of conditions 
1, 14 and 16 pursuant to 
planning permission 
DC/2019/02432 to 
introduce gated access to 
the development.

Ms. Sophie 
Hartley

DC/2020/01866 – 34 St 
Andrew’s Road, Crosby. 
L23 8UB – Appeal against 
the Council’s refusal to 
grant planning permission 
for the erection of two 
storey extensions to the 
both sides and rear, 
alterations to the roof, rear 
dormer extension, 
incorporating a balcony, a 
living green wall to form 
part of rear dormer, and 
alterations to the rear 
boundary and 
landscaping of the 
dwellinghouse (part 
retrospective). 

Allowed
30/04/2021

Mr. Carl 
England

DC/2020/0108516 
Waterway Avenue, 
Netherton L30 8RQ – 
Appeal against the 
Council’s refusal to grant 
planning permission for 
the erection of a single 
storey extension to the 
rear of the dwelling house 
and a detached garage 
(alternative to 
DC/2020/00194)

Allowed
05/03/2021

Bootle Cricket 
Club

DC/2020/00636 - Bootle 
Cricket Ground, Wadham 
Road, Bootle, L20 2DD – 
Appeal against the 
Council’s refusal to grant 
planning permission for 
the erection of safety 
netting / fencing on 
Wadham Road boundary 
of cricket ground.

Allowed
10/02/2021

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 25TH AUGUST, 2021

21

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

36. VISITING PANEL SCHEDULE 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer which 
advised that the undermentioned site had been inspected by the Visiting 
Panel on Monday 23 August, 2021.

Application No. Site

DC/2018/00093 Land North of Brackenway, Formby

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 20th October 2021

Subject: DC/2021/00417
Land Off Holgate, Thornton   

     
Proposal: Proposed development of 206 dwellings, including access from Park View, car 

parking, landscaping and public open space, following the demolition of Orchard 
Farm and outbuildings.

Applicant: Mr Mark Wright
Forth Homes Construction 
LTD & Castle Green LTD

Ward: Manor Ward Type: Full application - Major

Reason for Committee Determination: Petition (Endorsed by Councilor JJ Kelly)

Summary

The proposal is for the erection of 206 dwellings on land allocated for housing between Holgate, 
Brooms Cross Road and Park View. The main issues considered are the environmental impacts, 
matters relating to transportation and highway safety, design and amenity and matters relating to 
housing mix and developer contributions.

The application is subject to over 400 objections with the overriding concern relating to increased 
traffic in light of current network issues. The Highways Manager has reviewed in great detail 
various surveys and modelling conducted by the applicant’s consultants and is satisfied that 
although there will be a significant increase in traffic locally with or without the development, 
there would no severe or cumulatively unacceptable impact on the local network associated with 
the development or new signalled junction, subject to the provision of mitigation in the form of 
off-site improvement works between Edge Lane and Brooms Cross Road. 

The application has been subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment where it has been concluded 
that it is unlikely there would be significant effects on designated European sites, subject to 
appropriate mitigation. In regard to design and character, the proposal makes efficient use of land 
and incorporates a wide range of well-designed house types. There would be 62 affordable 
dwellings while the proposal also complies with the Council’s housing mix requirements in relation 
to two- and three-bedroom houses. The proposal provides a good standard of living for future 
occupiers while not causing undue harm to the living conditions of existing neighbours. 

The development provides an extensive area of Public Open Space encompassing an existing 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4a



bridleway and incorporating new foot and cycle paths along with hundreds of new trees. Although 
the proposal would result in the loss of Orchard Farm which is deemed a Non-Designated Heritage 
Asset, a scheme of investigation can be secured in order to ensure this is appropriately recorded. 
In any event this and other minor conflicts with the Council’s policies and guidelines as identified 
within the following report, such as separation distances between dwellings, are not considered to 
amount to significant harm as to outweigh the benefits of the development.

The proposal would make a significant contribution to housing supply and delivery one of the Local 
Plan’s largest housing allocations. The development would secure net biodiversity gain, new public 
open space and around half a million pounds in financial contributions towards primary education 
and the Brooms Cross Road Management Strategy. Overall and on balance the proposal is deemed 
acceptable and is recommended for approval.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions Subject to the Completion 
of a S106 Legal Agreement Securing the Following: -

- 62 affordable dwellings (including two thirds social/ affordable rented and one third 
discount market)

- 20% of market dwellings to qualify as ‘accessible and adaptable’ under Building Regulations
- £459,380 in contributions towards primary education in the Manor Ward
- Supplementary feed for bird species on a nearby field for a minimum 30 years period 

(£95,000 in total)
- The management of public open space and sustainable drainage systems
- Contributions towards the Brooms Cross Management Plan
- Around £6,658 to monitor compliance with the agreement

Case Officer Steven Healey

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 

Application documents and plans are available at:

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QOFB72NWHN500

Page 12

Agenda Item 4a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 13

Agenda Item 4a



The Site

The application site comprises 7.2 ha of former agricultural land including the existing Orchard 
Farm complex. It is bounded by Brooms Cross Road to the north, Park View/ Southport Road to the 
west, Holgate to the east and residential properties to the south.

History
 
The Council provided an Environmental Impact Assessment Screening Opinion in December 2020 
concluding that the development of up to 221 dwellings on site would be unlikely to have 
‘significant effects on the environment’ thus not warranting the preparation of an Environmental 
Statement (DC/2020/02451).

Planning permission was granted on appeal in August 2019 for the erection of 14 dwellings 
towards the northern perimeter of the site adjacent to Orchard Farm (reference DC/2018/01568).

Consultations

Clinical Commissioning Group
No objection.

Conservation Officer
Object to the loss of Orchard House.

Environment Agency
No comment received.

Environmental Health Manager

Air Quality
No objection subject to conditions.

Contaminated Land 
No objection subject to conditions.

Noise
No objection subject to conditions.

Flooding and Drainage Manager
No objection subject to conditions.

Highways Manager 
No objection subject to conditions.

Page 14

Agenda Item 4a



Historic England
No objection.

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
No objection subject to conditions (comments based solely on transportation implications).
 
Local Plan Manager
No objection.

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service
No objection subject to conditions.

Natural England 
No objection subject to conditions.

Tree Officer
No objection.
 
United Utilities
No objection subject to conditions.
 
Neighbour Representations

A 31-signature petition endorsed by Councillor John Joseph Kelly has been submitted objecting to 
the proposal due to an exacerbation of existing traffic issues, highway safety, air pollution and 
harm to the environment and ecology.  

An ePetition containing 245 signatures has been submitted via the Council’s website, objecting to 
the proposal due to increased traffic on to an already congested road, associated highway safety 
issues and increase in air pollution. Other objections include harm to the character of the area and 
setting of historic villages and Broom’s Cross. Loss of green space, recreation opportunities, trees 
and impact on ecology of the area including protected species such as pink footed geese. Increased 
flood risk. 

Objections received from multiple residents within 441 individual addresses and Thornton Parish 
Council on the following grounds: -

Environmental Matters
- Loss of Green Belt and open space reducing opportunities for recreation and damaging the 

natural environment
- Impact on trees, ecology/ protected species including skylarks and geese
- Environmental impacts during Climate Emergency and lack of public transport

Page 15

Agenda Item 4a



- Increased risk of flooding with fields often covered with surface water
- The site constitutes Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land
- Environmental Impact Assessment should be required
- Increased air pollution

Transportation and Highway Safety
- Increase in traffic would exacerbate existing issues with regular congestion and network at 

capacity
- A new signalled junction would cause tailbacks of traffic 
- Emergency services will not be able to make their way through traffic
- Other developments in the area contributing to traffic already
- Transport Assessment uses old data and survey information from lockdown
- Concerns over existing road layout, with streets used as rat runs and associated highway 

safety issues
- Removal of a car crash barrier on Park View
- Site is not accessible to public transportation

Design and Amenity
- Detrimental impacts on the character of the area and overdevelopment of the site
- Harm to heritage assets including Orchard House, scenery and rural landscape
- Overlooking and overshadowing of existing neighbours
- Increased noise and disturbance to existing residents and general detrimental impacts on 

health and wellbeing
- Two storey properties next to bungalows on Holgate Park is inappropriate 
- Impacts on boundary treatments and existing hedges
- A bridleway through a residential estate is unsuitable
- Construction disturbance

Development Pressures and Other Matters
- No demand for houses with many empty properties not selling and Brownfield sites 

elsewhere
- Increased population will impact on services and local infrastructure, insufficient spaces in 

schools with closest schools oversubscribed and lack of availability in GP practices
- Lack of amenities within the area which is a small parish unsuitable for further 

development
- Strong opposition demonstrates the significant harm which would be caused to local 

amenity, proposal is simply for profit

Policy Context

The application site lies within an area designated as residential (housing allocation reference 
MN2.25) in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  There are a 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4a



number of site-specific development requirements for the site set out under Appendix 1 of the 
Local Plan.  These are as follows: -

- Ensure that sufficient information is provided with the planning application to enable the Council 
to make a Habitats Regulations Assessment; 
- Provide a proportional financial contribution towards the implementation of the A565 Route 
Management Strategy (Thornton to Crosby section); 
- Take all vehicular access to the site from a new signal-controlled junction onto Park View, also 
serving site MN2.24; and 
- Incorporate a pedestrian and cycle route through the site to connect with sites MN2.24, MN2.26, 
and MN2.27, and the path north of Thornton Cemetery.

Assessment of the Proposal

Principle of Development

The application site is allocated for housing within the Sefton Local Plan which establishes the 
principle of development.

Policy HC3 states that new residential development must achieve a minimum density of 30 
dwellings per hectare of the net developable area, except where: (a) constraints within the site, or 
the provision of infrastructure within the site, make this impractical, or (b) a lower density can be 
justified having regard to the layout and character of the immediate surrounding area. The density 
achieved is 28.6 dwellings per hectare which is deemed acceptable given requirements for public 
open space and character of the area. 

Environmental Matters

Ecology, Protected Species and Sites

The application is accompanied by various ecological reports including an Extended Phase 1 
Habitat Survey, Bat Survey, Wintering Bird Survey and shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment. 
The application site comprises 7.2ha of agricultural land which has recently been utilised to grow 
potatoes and which hosts habitat to a number of Protected Species. Firstly, given potential 
suitability for hedgehog the Council’s environmental consultants Merseyside Environmental 
Advisory Service has requested that reasonable avoidance measures be implemented during the 
construction phase, it will also be necessary to check for all types of bird during the breeding 
season should buildings be demolished, or vegetation cleared. This can be secured within a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan which also minimises noise and disturbance to 
species nearby off-site. 

Aside from this the site it is considered that there are ‘pathways’ between the application site and 
designated European sites for qualifying species (in this case Pink-footed Geese) which required 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4a



Habitats Regulations Assessment for likely significant effects. The applicant’s wintering bird survey 
was not considered to be significantly robust in order to conclude whether the site provided 
functionally linked habitat for a significant number of geese. Given the season in which further 
survey work can be conducted has ended, it has been agreed by all parties including MEAS that the 
site ought to be classed as functionally linked habitat thus warranting the provision of 
compensatory habitat.

Through various discussions the applicant has secured the agreement of a third-party land owner 
to fund the spreading of supplementary seed on 9.6ha hectares of land to the east of Manor Road.  
MEAS considers that a reasonable period to continue this mitigation is 30 years, with a review 
thereafter. This is reasonable as it will allow consideration as to whether the other field remains in 
use as habitat for geese, which are naturally a migratory bird. This can be secured within a section 
106 legal agreement. 

Another element of the Habitats Regulations is effectively indirect impacts on European Sites, 
namely the Sefton Coast and increased recreational pressure associated with population increase 
in the locality. Due to the provision of on-site recreational opportunities and nearby suitable 
alternative green spaces, MEAS have concluded within their assessment of ‘likely effects’ that 
there will be no significant effects on the coast. This is subject to mitigation in the form of house 
sales packs describing the importance of European sites. Natural England has reviewed the 
application and Habitats Regulations Assessment carried out by MEAS and has raised no objection, 
therefore Sefton has exercised its duty as a competent authority. The Assessment of Likely 
Significant Effects and Appropriate Assessment in both instances can be viewed on the Council’s 
website via the link on the cover page of this item.

In terms of landscaping and biodiversity gain, the proposed development includes extensive tree 
planting. Woodland fringe would be retained along parts of the site boundary supplemented by 
native species, which have been amended to small-seed bearing species in order to favour Red 
Squirrel. In order to secure net biodiversity gains a condition can be attached requiring the 
installation of bird and bat boxes. 

The submitted Habitat Survey identifies invasive species including Japanese knotweed and 
cotoneaster adjacent to the bridleway at Holgate. Given the potential for this to be spread across a 
wider area during the construction phase it is reasonable for a method statement to be provided 
to Planning Services in order to prevent ecological harm.

Overall and subject to the abovementioned mitigation measures it is considered that the proposal 
complies with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations and policy NH2 in relation to 
protected habitat and species and given that net biodiversity gain is achievable through the 
extensive landscaping scheme and bird and bat boxes. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4a



Sustainability and Low Carbon Design

Development should ‘respond to the challenge of climate change’ as set out in Sefton Local Plan 
policy SD2 (Principles of sustainable development). Local Plan policy EQ7 (Energy Efficient and Low 
Carbon Design) states that major development should incorporate measures to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions where practicable through one or more specified measures. 

One of the suggested measures is to make the most of natural solar gain through the site and 
building layout. The submitted drawings indicate that the vast majority of dwellings would be 
angled so as to have either their front or rear elevations benefit from direct sunlight during most 
of the day (i.e. angled towards the south).

In regard to climate change and increased flood risk, the indicative drainage proposals are 
designed to store the volume of water associated with a 1 in 100-year rainfall event, plus an 
additional allowance to account for increased rainfall due to climate change which can be 
accommodated within ‘swales’ (i.e. wide shallow drainage areas) within the public open space.

Various aspects of the proposed development encourage sustainable modes of transportation. 
Firstly, every property within the development would be required to provide an electric vehicle 
charging point. The proposal also includes a footway/ cycle network within a linear park which 
connects the development to an existing bridleway and the main site entrance at Park View. This 
improves accessibility, encourages residents to use local areas for recreation and provides benefit 
by way of increased tree planting.

Finally, given the scale of the development it is deemed pertinent to secure a Waste Management 
Plan within a Construction Environmental Management Plan in order to minimise construction 
waste and encourage recycling of material.

Air Quality

A detailed Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of the application which 
has been reviewed to the satisfaction of the Environmental Health Manager. The assessment has, 
through dispersion modelling, determined the future air quality impact emissions from traffic 
going to and from the proposed development, will have on existing residents. The impact of 
existing air pollution sources on future occupiers of the development has also been determined. 
The AQA concludes that the development will have a negligible impact on air quality.  

It has however been recommended that a scheme of dust control during the construction phase 
be secured by condition. This can be contained within a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4a



Ground Conditions

Agriculture

The site has most recently been used to farm potatoes and concerns have been raised over the 
loss of ‘Best and Most Versatile Land’. The Council’s Agricultural Land Study (2012) found that the 
reduction to food production and economic output by virtue of developing (allocated sites) little 
over 2% of Sefton’s agricultural land would be small in a regional context. The principle of 
developing the site is established as it is a housing allocation in the Sefton Local Plan.

Contamination

The application is accompanied by a Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Site Assessment which indicates 
the potential for Made Ground and ground gases associated with the Orchard Farm complex. It is 
not expected that there would be any widespread contamination across the main agricultural field, 
nevertheless the Environmental Health Manager has recommended a scheme of investigation to 
advise any necessary remediation. This can be secured by condition.

Archaeology

The application is accompanied by a Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment which has been 
reviewed to the satisfaction of the Council’s archaeological advisor. Orchard House is understood 
to date from the late 18th century, with the possibility of earlier settlement occupying the 
farmhouse site. Orchard House is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset. In order to 
mitigate the loss of the building a programme of archaeological and building investigation is 
recommended which can be secured by condition.

Aside from this given the wider agricultural field has not been developed throughout the Post-
Medieval and Modern periods there is yet unidentified archaeological potential. It is 
recommended that a geophysical survey and trial trenching be secured by condition in order to 
ensure appropriate recording of further potential non-designated heritage and archaeology.

Minerals

The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area. An assessment has been submitted that shows 
that it is not economically or environmentally practicable to extract the silica sand from under the 
site. It considered that the proposal complies with parts 1 (b) and (e) of policy NH8 as the applicant 
has demonstrated that the mineral concerned is not of potential value, while there is an overriding 
need to develop the site in order to deliver a major housing allocation.

Levels

A topographical survey has been submitted of the application site which shows a steady drop in 
levels from the south to the north. The highest ground levels are adjacent to properties on Holgate 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4a



and Holgate Park which exceed 19m above sea level, whereas the northern corner measures just 
under 17m above sea level before a more obvious drop to Brooms Cross Road. The difference in 
level across the site of around 2m is largely indistinguishable when viewed from any public vantage 
point given its size and the gradual slope. 

An ‘engineering’ drawing has been submitted which indicated the finished floor levels of dwellings. 
Adjacent to Holgate and Holgate Park finished floor levels are around 200-300mm higher than 
existing ground levels indicating no impact on existing properties. Towards the centre of the site 
there is greater variation of up to 800mm above existing levels however in the overall scheme of 
the development it is not considered that there are any instances where levels would jar with 
those adjacent to their closest neighbours. A validation report can be secured by condition to 
ensure the development is carried out in accordance with these levels. 

Transportation, Access and Highway Safety 

Appendix 1 of the Sefton Local Plan contains a number of site-specific requirements relating to 
transportation and the development of this site including that vehicular access be taken from a 
new signal-controlled junction onto Park View, that a pedestrian and cycle route connects the site 
to adjacent housing allocations and that a financial contribution be made towards the 
implementation of the A565 Route Management Strategy.

The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment and various Technical Notes which 
consider the impacts of the proposed scheme along with other developments in the vicinity. In 
terms of access into the site the design of the new signalled junction is considered acceptable. Part 
of this including creating an arm to the adjacent housing allocation would be outside of the 
applicant’s ownership and so would be funded by money secured within a section 106 legal 
agreement. The junction provides access for pedestrians and cyclists as well as vehicles. There is 
also a separate footway/cycle path which runs through the public open space connecting the site 
to the existing bridleway at Holgate. The layout within the site is acceptable with regard to road 
widths, turning areas, visibility and off-street parking provision. Cycle parking and electric vehicle 
charging points can be secured by condition in order to encourage sustainable means of transport.

A Minimum Accessibility Standard Assessment (MASA) has been submitted with the application - 
this was amended at the request of the Highways Manager given initial inaccuracies. The MASA 
clarifies that the site achieves the minimum expected scores for all categories in terms of 
accessibility by non-car means of transport. The new signalled junction would provide pedestrian 
and cycle links into Thornton and Crosby, while there are regular bus services also. The Highways 
Manager has recommended that a Travel Plan be secured by condition which makes prospective 
purchasers aware of certain accessibility constraints and in order to encourage sustainable 
transport during the lifetime of the development.

With regard to the impact of the proposal on the local network, the applicant’s highways 
consultants have carried out various models which accord with industry standards, including 
modelling of the new junction and existing junctions/ roundabout at Southport Road and Brooms 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4a



Cross Road, Park View and Green Lane, and Moor Lane and Edge Lane. It has been estimated that 
the development would generate 123 two-way vehicle trips in the AM peak and 127 two-way 
vehicle trips in the PM peak hour. This equates to approximately 2 additional vehicle trips per 
minute in the peak hours. 

The applicant’s reports as originally submitted indicated that even without the proposed 
development there will be capacity issues with the majority of the junctions in 2026, and in some 
cases the junctions will exceed their design capacity during the peak hours. In order to fully 
understand the potential impact of the development on the local highway network, as well 
reviewing the modelling internally, the Highways Manager procured the services of an 
independent consultant to review the junction modelling undertaken by the applicant. 

Following minor corrections which were requested to the modelling and another method of 
modelling being prepared, all parties are of the view that there will be a clear increase in traffic in 
the future which will result in increased delays and congestion at existing junctions. The proposed 
new signalled-junction and traffic associated with the proposed development would further 
increase the volume of traffic and delays. Whilst there are significant highway concerns over the 
proposed development and the impact it will have on the local and wider network, it is accepted 
that future traffic growth will have a greater impact. It is also accepted that the signal control 
junction required under the Local Plan will have a significant impact on the network; however this 
is not considered to be severe in magnitude. Further to this, mitigation is proposed which will 
assist in alleviating traffic including alterations to signal phases and road markings along Edge Lane 
and improvements to signage. These measures would be funded by the applicant and be secured 
within a section 106 legal agreement. The Highways Manager notes that an accident analysis of 
the local area indicates there are no specific issues which would be exacerbated by the proposed 
development. 

There are some concerns relating to a projected increase in traffic locally, and the additional 
impact of the proposed development and new signalled junction.  However, overall it is not 
considered that these would result in ‘an unacceptable impact on highway safety’ nor that ‘the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’ which are the relevant policy 
tests as set out under paragraph 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Local Plan policy EQ3 requires that new development be located and designed to encourage 
walking and cycling within, to and from the site. It is considered that the development achieves 
this. It has been concluded that the site meets targets in terms of accessibility to public 
transportation and local amenities. Furthermore, there are no highway safety concerns associated 
with the development which ensures safety for pedestrians and road users within and to and from 
the site

Flooding and Drainage

The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 indicating a low risk of fluvial, tidal or reservoir 
flooding. It is also classed as being at low risk of surface water flooding by the Environment 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4a



Agency. The applicant has submitted a detailed Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Pro-Forma 
which has been reviewed to the satisfaction of the Flooding and Drainage Manager. 

Outline proposals see surface water attenuated on site before connecting to existing surface water 
drains. More sustainable methods of drainage such as infiltration and connecting to a watercourse 
have been ruled out as being impractical (i.e. ground conditions comprising clay and soil not 
suitable for soakaways and the distance from a watercourse). Full details of a final surface water 
drainage scheme can be secured by condition in order to comply with the requirements of policy 
EQ8 (Flood Risk and Surface Water) of the Sefton Local Plan.

Design and Character

Built Form

Local Plan policy EQ2 requires that new development responds positively to the character, local 
distinctiveness and form of its surroundings. While the site is currently an open field it has strong 
boundary features including Brooms Cross Road and Southport Road/ Park View. This was a key 
factor in de-designated the site from the Green Belt with the Inspector concluding that there is ‘an 
obvious logic to redrawing the Green Belt boundary along the A5758’. Nevertheless, given there is 
currently no development to the west and the open Green Belt to the north, the proposed layout 
provides a landscaped buffer along the entire perimeter of the site which is discussed further 
below.

In terms of built form, the adjacent urban area largely comprises either semi-detached two storey 
properties or detached single storey/ dormer bungalows. The majority of surrounding 
development post-dates World War II and is characterised by the use of red brick with rosemary 
tiles and grey roof slate used interchangeably. There is a strong grid layout to the south of Edge 
Lane along Moor Lane, however closer to the application site development is more organic in 
character.

The proposed development would be accessed from a single point on Park View. The access road 
follows a clear route towards the furthest dwellings in the north east corner, but there is no clear 
hierarchy of roads given all are tree-lined and of the same width. This is acceptable given the 
nature of the development (i.e. wholly residential). The density and grain are consistent with what 
would be expected of a suburban development. 

The dwellings proposed would comprise a mix of detached, semi-detached and terrace, all of 
which are two storey in height. The dwellings are of a traditional style which complements the 
prevailing style of dwellings on Southport Road to the west. The level of detail on each house type 
varies which contributes to a sense of interest within the street scene, and many feature 
decorative porches, bay windows and gables. Facing materials include a mix of brickwork (red) and 
render with interchanging red and grey roof tiles.

Page 23

Agenda Item 4a



Overall it is considered that the proposal responds positively to the character and form of its 
surroundings in terms of its layout, density and the style, height and form of dwellings. The 
proposal therefore complies with policy EQ2 (Design) of the Sefton Local Plan.

Trees and Landscaping

The site contains 20 individual trees, 30 groups and eight hedges with the majority along the 
perimeter of the site although some more established trees surround the Orchard Farm complex. 
It is proposed to remove around half of the trees on site in order to facilitate the development. 
The Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objection as the majority are considered to be of poor 
quality. The loss of these trees will be compensated for by the proposed extensive tree planting 
throughout the development (some 100 tall/ heavy standard trees plus an additional 800 
Hawthorns which are technically classed as trees). Some trees adjacent to the bridleway on 
Holgate are to be retained within the future area of open space as is a linear band of trees to the 
northern site perimeter onto Brooms Cross Road along with hedgerow to the boundaries of 
properties on Holgate and Holgate Park. The submitted Method Statement outlines measures to 
protect all retained vegetation - this is acceptable and can be secured by condition. 

In terms of new landscaping, given the size of the development Local Plan policy EQ9 (Provision of 
Public Open Space, Strategic Paths and Trees) requires that on-site public open space be provided 
on the basis of 40sqm per dwelling (0.82ha in total). The proposal incorporates a main park of 
around 6,400sqm which encompasses the retained bridleway and a Local Equipped Area for Play 
(LEAP). 

The applicant first sought to incorporate a linear landscaped buffer to the perimeter onto Brooms 
Cross Road which was deemed unusable given its width and lack of infrastructure for recreation. 
Following further discussions, it has been agreed in principle that land just outside of the boundary 
and owned by the Council be incorporated within the open space and be managed and maintained 
by the developer thereafter. A cycle/footway is included within the additional area of open space 
along with enhanced landscaping to improve the frontage onto Brooms Cross Road and Park View. 
This area measures around 3,400sqm which in total provides public open space on site of almost a 
hectare which exceeds what the policy requires. The management of open space would be secured 
within a section 106 legal agreement. 

Overall it is considered that the proposal is of high-quality design with respect to landscaping, tree 
protection and replacement and that the proposal complies with policy EQ9. 

Heritage Impacts

The application is accompanied by a Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment which identifies 
the 18th century Orchard House as a Non-Designated Heritage Asset. The Conservation Officer has 
objected to its loss as contrary to Local Plan policy NH15. The outright loss of the building does 
conflict with this policy, however the overall benefits of the proposal must be considered in the 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4a



planning balance. The Council’s archaeological advisor has also raised no objection subject to 
appropriate recording of the building, as explained under the ‘Archaeology’ section of this report. 

The application site is located nearby to a Scheduled Monument, Brooms Cross. The Conservation 
Officer has stated that by virtue of further encroachment towards the monument within its 
historical rural setting a degree of harm would be caused. Nevertheless, this would be deemed 
minimal, given the presence of Brooms Cross Road which has already urbanised its setting. The 
impact on Brooms Cross is less than substantial, and in accordance with paragraph 202 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework the benefit of bringing forward a major housing allocation is 
considered to provide a public benefit which clearly outweighs this harm.

Paragraph 203 states ‘In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or 
loss and the significance of the heritage asset’. Thus on balance while Orchard Farm would be lost 
entirely, its significance is limited and is deemed to be outweighed by the abovementioned 
benefits of the development.  

Residential Amenity

Living Conditions of Future Occupiers

The application is subject to Local Plan policy HC3 and the accompanying guidance within the ‘New 
Housing’ Supplementary Planning Document, which provides standards and recommendations for 
suitable living conditions for future occupiers. The Council’s guidance recommends a distance of 
21m between windows serving habitable rooms and 12m between non-habitable rooms or 
habitable rooms and blank walls.

The proposed development is well laid out so as to achieve an acceptable distance between 
dwellings on the whole. The majority of rear to rear separation distances exceed 21m with all 
exceeding 19m which is acceptable. Within a limited number of pinch points throughout the 
development, the separation between the front of houses measures just over 17m. Given this is 
across a public highway this would not affect privacy unduly. In terms of garden depths, which the 
Council’s guidance recommends as 10.5m, the majority meet and exceed this requirement with all 
exceeding 9m in depth. On balance this is deemed acceptable. 

In terms of garden sizes, the Council’s guidance recommends 50sqm be provided for two-bedroom 
properties and 60sqm for those of three bedrooms or more. Following amendments, it is 
considered that an acceptable standard of living is provided to all of the proposed dwellings with 
all exceeding the respective standard. Overall it is considered that the proposal provides a good 
standard of living for future occupiers in terms of levels of light, outlook, privacy and outdoor 
amenity space. 

A detailed Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted to accompany the application. The 
Environmental Health Manager has reviewed the report and agreed that acoustic glazing will be 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4a



required to certain dwellings to mitigate traffic noise associated with Brooms Cross Road and Park 
View. This ought to be accompanied by ventilation such as mechanically assisted or trickle vents so 
that windows can routinely remain closed. Aside from this, plots fronting these roads will be 
required to provide acoustic fencing, the closest of which are the gardens of plots 127-131 which 
back on to Brooms Cross Road. Acoustic fencing of 2.5m in height is considered acceptable from a 
visual perspective and in order to mitigate noise to a reasonable degree. Full details of the 
mitigation measures can be secured by condition.

Impact on Existing Residents

The application site adjoins 11 existing properties on Holgate, Holgate Park and Rothwells Lane. 
The proposed dwellings adjacent to these properties would benefit from gardens of 10.5m deep or 
more so as not to cause unacceptable overlooking. The recommended 21m window to window 
separation distance is also achieved. 

There are two situations where the layout does not achieve the Council’s standard separation 
distances between existing properties, however these are deemed acceptable as significant harm 
does not result. Firstly, the blank side elevation of plot 198 would be positioned 11.5m from the 
rear conservatory of 16 Holgate Park. The half a meter shortfall is limited and given the orientation 
of both properties there would be only limited overshadowing.

There is a side extension to 23 Holgate which is understood to contain a full-length kitchen with 
windows to all sides. The proposed dwelling on plot 183 features an attached garage which runs 
close to the boundary at a distance of 5m. Given existing hedgerow restricts outlook and light and 
there is an unaffected front-facing window it is not considered that significant harm would result. 
In order to control rear extensions to this plot impacting on rear windows of number 23 it is 
deemed necessary to restrict permitted development rights.

Concerns have been raised over impacts on boundary treatments. The applicant has agreed to 
retain the existing hedgerow and protect it during the construction phase and also supplement 
with fencing behind the hedgerow which is deemed acceptable. 

Housing Provision

The proposal is to provide 206 dwellings of varying tenures and sizes. The applicant proposes 62 
affordable dwellings which meets the 30% requirement of Local Plan policy HC1. 42 of the 
dwellings would be social or affordable rented and 20 affordable home ownership which accords 
with the recommendations of the Council’s most recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment. The 
affordable dwellings would be ‘tenure blind’ as they are of the similar design and appearance to 
various open market dwellings within the proposed development. They are also adequately 
‘pepper-potted’ (i.e. dispersed) throughout the site. Affordable housing is to be secured by a 
section 106 legal agreement.  

Page 26

Agenda Item 4a



The remaining 144 dwellings would be available on the open market. Local Plan policy HC2 
requires 25% to comprise either one or two bedroom to meet local need and a minimum of 40% to 
comprise three bedrooms. The development includes 36 two-bedroom market dwellings which 
represents 25%, whereas 57 would be three bedroom representing 40%. The same policy requires 
developments of this size to provide 20% of market dwellings to be designed to meet Building 
Regulation Requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. This is to be secured within a 
section 106 legal agreement. 

The Council is currently in a position where it can demonstrate in excess of 5 years’ worth of 
housing supply. The delivery of the application site as a major housing allocation is essential in 
order to ensure continuity in housing provision within South Sefton. 

Infrastructure and Developer Contributions

Local Plan policy IN1 states that developer contributions may be sought to provide or enhance 
infrastructure to support new development, this means physical buildings as opposed to additional 
employment. Concerns have been raised over the likely impact of the proposal on local school and 
doctor provision in particular.

In terms of schools, the Council is currently seeking financial contributions to facilitate alterations 
and extensions of existing primary schools in order to accommodate an anticipated increase in 
pupil numbers. This is calculated at £2,230 per dwelling in Crosby/Thornton and therefore 
amounts to £459,380 for the proposed development. This can be secured within a section 106 
legal agreement.  

The Director of Place for South Sefton and Southport & Formby Clinical Commissioning Groups 
have commented on the application confirming that the existing GP facilities within the Thornton 
area are sufficient to accommodate any growth if needed in the future, although reviews will take 
place as and when necessary. 

Regarding impacts on services and infrastructure, United Utilities has not indicated any concerns in 
relation to the proposed surface and foul water drainage systems. There is also no evidence to 
suggest that electricity supplies, for example, are under pressure locally. 

Planning Balance and Conclusion

The proposed development is acceptable in principle given the site’s allocation for housing in the 
Local Plan. The density, design and general layout are acceptable with regard to the prevailing 
character of the local area. The loss of a non-designated heritage asset causes a degree of harm in 
planning terms. 

In terms of amenity, future occupiers would be afforded a good standard of living internally and 
externally. The proposal would provide over 60 affordable dwellings, while the remaining market 
dwellings accord with the Council’s policy on housing mix. 20% of these would meet Part M of the 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4a



Building Regulations – Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings. The applicant would also be required 
to provide almost half a million pounds to go towards primary education in the local area. 

The site is considered to be accessible to non-car-based modes of transport and would include an 
extensive area of Public Open Space on site along with tree planting to a level which far outweighs 
the limited loss of existing vegetation. The application has been accompanied by a significant 
number of transportation reports, it has been concluded that there will be a significant increase in 
traffic over the next 5-year period and that the proposed development will undoubtedly create its 
own further impact. Nevertheless, the Highways Manager is satisfied that the impacts would not 
be severe as to warrant refusal and has recommended that a scheme of off-site improvement 
works be secured for the existing road network. 

In the absence of full wintering bird surveys during the appropriate season, it has been concluded 
on a precautionary basis that the site is functional habitat for pink footed geese. In order to 
provide mitigatory habitat in accordance with the Habitats Regulations the applicant has sought 
the agreement of a nearby landowner to spread seed on their field for a minimum 30-year period. 
There are no other significant environmental impacts which have been identified and overall it is 
considered that the development would provide net biodiversity gain.  Nonetheless conditions are 
necessary such as a Construction Environmental Management Plan in order to mitigate impacts 
during the construction of the development. 

Overall there are clear benefits to the proposal in contributing significantly to the Council’s 
housing supply on a major large-scale allocation, along with a wide range of developer 
contributions which the applicant has committed to in full. The main areas of harm identified 
include increased traffic and risk of congestion, along with the loss of a non-designated heritage 
asset.  However, neither of these are deemed so harmful as to outweigh the benefits of developing 
the site. Overall and on balance it is considered that the proposal complies with adopted local and 
national policy and guidance, and it is therefore recommended for approval. 

Recommendation – Approve with Conditions Subject to the Completion 
of a S106 Legal Agreement Securing the Following: -

- 62 affordable dwellings (including two thirds social/ affordable rented and one third 
discount market)

- 20% of market dwellings to qualify as ‘accessible and adaptable’ under Building Regulations
- £459,380 in contributions towards primary education in the Manor Ward
- Supplementary feed for bird species on a nearby field for a minimum 30 years period 

(£95,000 in total)
- The management of public open space and sustainable drainage systems
- Contributions towards the Brooms Cross Management Plan
- Around £6,658 to monitor compliance with the agreement

Page 28

Agenda Item 4a



Conditions

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.

Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents: 

- Location Plan (SEFT-LP.01)
- Site Layout (SEFT-SP.01 K)
- Landscape Masterplan (D181.0o1 B)
- Landscape General Arrangement (D181.002 A, 003 A and 004 A)
- Planting Plan (D181.005 A, 006 B and 007 B)
- Planting Schedule (D181.008 B)
- Boundary Treatments (D181.009 B)
- Boundary Treatments Location Plan (D181.010)
- Engineering Planning Layout (41-01-01 P1 and 02 P1)
- Ashton Semi Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ASH.HP01 and HP02)
- Highfield-Oakley-Highfield Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HIGHOAK3.HP01 and HP02)
- Highfield-Oakley-Oakley Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HIGHOAKOAK3.HP01 and HP02)
- Highfield-Oakley-Oakley Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HIGHOAKOAK4.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Highfield-Oakley-Oakley-Oakley-Highfield Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HGHOAK5.HP01, 

HP02, HP03 and HP04)
- Oakley-Oakley-Highfield Plans and Elevations (SEFT.OAKOAKHIGH3.HP01 and HP02)
- Ashton Three Block Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ASH3.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Conwy-Alyn-Alyn-Conwy Plans and Elevations (SEFT.CONALYN4.HP01, HP02, HP03, HP04, 

HP05 and HP06)
- Conwy-Alyn-Alyn-Alyn-Conwy Plans and Elevations (SEFT.CONALYN5.HP01, HP02, HP03, 

HP04, HP05 and HP06)
- Henley Plans and Elevations (SEFT.HEN.HP01 and HP02)
- Evesham Plans and Elevations (SEFT.EVE.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Ashbury Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ASH.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Edinburgh Plans and Elevations (SEFT.EDI.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Canterbury Plans and Elevations (SEFT.CANT.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Heatherington Plans and Elevations (HEA - 00 and 01)
- Alderton Plans and Elevations (SEFT.ALD.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Salisbury Plans and Elevations (SEFT.SALS.HP01, HP02 and HP03)

Page 29

Agenda Item 4a



- Wiltshire Plans and Elevations (SEFT.WILT.HP01, HP02 and HP03)
- Sandringham Plans and Elevations (SEFT.SAND.HP01, HP02 and HP03)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.

Prior to Commencement of Development

3) No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental Management Plan has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and shall include the 
following:

- Pollution, noise and dust control measures including timing of activities in order to prevent 
disturbance to qualifying species;

- Details of piling methodology should this be necessary;
- Measures in order to minimise construction waste;
- Reasonable Avoidance Measures in relation to terrestrial mammals;
- Protective measures to be applied during bird breeding season

Reason: To protect the amenity of adjacent land users and ecological interest of the area, 
prevent air, ground and water pollution and minimise waste.

4) No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan must include 
a programme of works, days and hours of working, a site layout during the construction 
phase, relevant contact details, routes to be taken by delivery vehicles, methods for traffic 
management including directional signage and full details of the proposed measures to 
ensure that mud and other loose materials are not carried on the wheels and chassis of any 
vehicles leaving the site and measures to minimise dust nuisance.  The provisions of the 
approved Construction Traffic Management Plan shall be implemented in full during the 
period of construction.

Reason: This is required prior to the commencement of development in order to ensure the 
safety of highway users during both the construction phase of the development.

5) No development shall take place until a written scheme of archaeological and historic 
building investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The work shall then be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
scheme(s).

Reason: In order to ensure appropriate recording or archaeology and non-designated 
heritage assets.

Page 30

Agenda Item 4a



6) No development shall commence until a preliminary ground contamination investigation 
report has been submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
report must include:

- Desk study
 - Site reconnaissance

- Data assessment and reporting
- Formulation of initial conceptual model
- Preliminary risk assessment

If the Preliminary Risk Assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks a 
detailed scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of the risk assessment 
methodologies, must be prepared by a competent person. The contents of the scheme and 
scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The details are required prior to development commencing to ensure that risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised.

7) No development shall commence until the approved scope of works for the investigation and 
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report 
shall include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate 
remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage.  Remediation shall proceed in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: The details are required prior to development commencing to ensure that risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised.

8) No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition 
suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant 
linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy must include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure 
that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 on completion of the development.  The remediation strategy must be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details at all times.

Reason: The details are required prior to development commencing to ensure that risks from 
land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised.

9) Notwithstanding the equipment required to carry out any remedial works, no equipment, 
machinery or materials shall be brought onto the site for the purposes of the development 
until all protective fencing to retained trees and hedgerow within and adjacent to the site 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4a



has been installed in accordance with the submitted Method Statement (LTM0086.MS.03 
Rev K). The fencing shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials 
have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed within any fenced area, 
and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be 
made at any time.

Reason: These details are necessary prior to the commencement of development to 
safeguard all existing trees on site.

10) Prior to commencement of development, including that associated with remediation of land 
a Method Statement detailing the measures to prevent the spread of invasive species on 
site, how the plants will be disposed of following removal or treatment and ongoing 
monitoring shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved statement shall be adhered to at all times.

Reason: In order to prevent the spread of invasive species through the development site.

During Building Works

11) Prior to construction of access roads commencing above slab level a detailed scheme of 
traffic calming designed to maintain vehicle speeds at 20mph or less on the proposed access 
roads within the development site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No part of the respective phase of development (as indicated on the 
submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01) shall be occupied until the approved scheme 
has been implemented in full.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

12) Prior to construction of access roads commencing above slab level a detailed scheme of 
street lighting on the proposed access roads within the development site shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full prior to the respective phase of development being brought into use (as 
indicated on the submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01).

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

13) No development shall commence above slab level until a detailed scheme of highway works 
together with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include: 

- Construction of a new four arm signal-controlled junction with integrated pedestrian/cyclist 
(Toucan facilities) at the site access,

Page 32

Agenda Item 4a



- 2 metre wide pedestrian footways along both sides of the A565 from the proposed junction 
in a southerly direction to Southport Road and the private access road that serves 71 & 73 
Southport Road,

- Construction of a minimum 3 metre wide shared use path running along the perimeter of 
the site from the proposed signal controlled junction to the existing Pegasus crossing on 
Broom’s Cross Road.

No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works 
have been constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: These details are required prior to commencement to ensure that acceptable 
access to the development is achieved and to ensure the safety of highway users.

14) Samples of the facing materials to be used in the external construction of this development 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
materials shall then be used in the construction of the development.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

15) Before the construction of the following plots above slab level: 8-10, 75-79, 127-131, 181-
183, 195-198, the finished levels shall be subject to a topographical survey to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The results of these surveys shall 
confirm that the Finished Floor Levels (FFL) of each plot to the levels shown on approved 
Engineering Planning Layout; and no further construction above FFL of external elevations of 
dwellings on those plots shall take place until approval is given as required above.  In the 
event that the submitted surveys fail to confirm the FFL correspond to the levels as 
approved, or are not within 200mm of those levels, new planning application(s) shall be 
submitted for those plots to which the variation relates.

Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of nearby occupiers and the character and 
appearance of the area whilst ensuring satisfactory drainage.

16) Prior to construction commencing above slab level of any dwelling highlighted on figure 5 of 
the submitted Noise Impact Assessment (50-213-R1-4) a scheme of acoustic glazing and 
ventilation to all habitable room windows must be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The dwellings shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details with the acoustic protection measures maintained thereafter. 

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future residents from unacceptable levels 
of traffic noise.

Page 33

Agenda Item 4a



Before the Development is Occupied

17) The development shall not be occupied until a detailed scheme of highway works together 
with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include: 

- Removal of the existing field access from Southport Road and reinstatement of grassed 
verges,

- The widening of the existing footway along Park View to at least 2 metres wide from the 
private access road that serves 71 & 73 Southport Road running south along the frontage of 
22 & 24 Park View,

- Introduction of dropped kerbs and tactile paving across the junction of the private access 
road that serves 71 & 73 Southport Road and Park View,

- Introduction of dropped kerbs and tactile paving across the junction of Southport 
Road/Park View,

- The relocation of existing street furniture in the vicinity of the proposed junction, including 
street lighting columns, vehicle actuated speed signs and Thornton Parish Council sign,

- Removal of the existing Armco style safety barrier fronting 22 & 24 Park View,
- Yellow box road markings at the proposed signal-controlled junction.
- Relocation of the existing grasscrete Police mobile camera monitoring position. 

No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works have 
been constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: These details are required prior to commencement to ensure that acceptable access 
to the development is achieved and to ensure the safety of highway users.

18) The development shall not be occupied or brought into use until a Travel Plan comprising 
immediate, continuing and long-term measures to promote and encourage alternatives to 
single-occupancy car use has been prepared, submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall then be implemented, monitored 
and reviewed in accordance with the agreed Travel Plan Targets. 

Reason: In order to meet sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 
occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking & cycling.

19) No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the curtilage of that 
specific dwelling for car(s) to be parked and that space shall thereafter be kept available for 
the parking of vehicles in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure 
the safety of highway users.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4a



20) No dwellinghouse shall be occupied unless and until an electric vehicle charging point for 
that residential unit has been installed and is operational in accordance with details that shall 
previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 
emissions.

21) No dwelling shall be occupied until facilities for the secure storage of cycles for that 
residential unit have been provided in accordance with details that shall previously have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
storage shall be permanently retained thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that enough cycle parking is provided for the development in the interest 
of promoting non-car based modes of travel.

22) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling visibility splays of 2 metres by 25 metres at the 
new junctions within the respective phase of development (as indicated on the submitted 
Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01) shall be provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or 
above a height of 0.9 metres above the carriageway level of the new development. Once 
created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

23) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling visibility splays of 2.0 metres x 2.0 metres 
measured down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway have been 
provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 0.9 metres above the 
footway level of the new development. Once created, these visibility splays shall be 
maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

24) No part of the development shall be occupied until a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to 
introduce waiting restrictions on Road 1 of the development to prohibit parking at all times 
has been implemented in full in accordance with details which shall previously have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

25) No part of the respective phase of development (as indicated on the submitted Build Phase 
Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01) shall be occupied until a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for a 20mph 
speed limit on the proposed access roads within the development site has been 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4a



implemented in full in accordance with details which shall previously have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

26) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied a verification report that 
demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation objectives and criteria shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised.

27) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the Local Planning 
Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, 
which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy, 
verification of the works must be included in the verification report required by condition 26.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised.

28) The development hereby permitted, including all components of the sustainable drainage 
system shall be constructed in accordance with the approved Engineering Planning Layout 
Sheets 1 and 2 (41-01-01 Rev P1 and 02 P1) prior to occupation of each respective phase of 
the development (as indicated on the submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01). 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage facilities are provided to serve the site and in order 
not to increase flood risk elsewhere.

29) Prior to occupation of development full details of the acoustic screening to gardens of plots 
facing Brooms Cross Road which exceed 50dB as outlined within the submitted Noise Impact 
Assessment (50-213-R1-4) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved boundary treatments shall be erected prior to occupation 
of the dwelling they would serve and be maintained thereafter.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of future residents from unacceptable levels 
of traffic noise.

30) No dwellinghouse hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 
connections to all proposed dwellings within the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The infrastructure shall be installed 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4a



prior to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling or 
apartment in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for the new dwellings and to facilitate 
economic growth.

31) Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling full details of an information pack to be provided 
informing residents of the presence and importance of the designated nature sites, and how 
residents can help protect them shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The agreed information must be provided on first occupation of each 
dwelling. 

Reason: In order to comply with the Habitats Regulations Assessment Regulations and 
mitigate increased recreational pressure on European sites.

32) No dwelling shall be occupied until a scheme for the provision of bat and bird boxes including 
the phasing and timing for their implementation has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented in accordance with those details 
and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To secure biodiversity enhancement.

33) No dwelling shall be occupied until a gap of 13cm by 13cm has been provided within the 
base of each of length of boundary fencing serving the respective plot in order to maintain 
connectivity for hedgehog. The gap shall be maintained free of obstruction at all times.

Reason: To secure biodiversity enhancement.

Ongoing Conditions

34) Within the first planting/seeding season following practical completion of the final dwelling 
within each phase (as indicated on the submitted Build Phase Plan, SEFT-BUILD-SP.01), all 
planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 
out; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development.

35) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and/or re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification), no extension shall be erected to the dwelling on plot 183 as 
indicated on the approved site plan.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of existing neighbours. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4a



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 20th October 2021

Subject: DC/2021/00977
17 Crown Close Formby  Liverpool  L37 4ET      

Proposal: Erection of a two storey extension to side and rear and single storey extension to 
rear with roof dormer, after demolition of rear porch

Applicant: Mr S Mathews Agent:

Ward: Ravenmeols Ward Type: Householder application

Reason for Committee Determination:  Petition endorsed by Cllr Maria Bennett.

Summary

The application seeks consent for the erection of a two storey extension to the side of the house, 
incorporating a rear dormer and a single storey extension to the rear of the property.  

The main issues to consider are the impact of the extensions on the character of the area and the 
impact on neighbouring properties.  

It is considered the application is acceptable on all grounds and it is recommended that planning 
permission be given subject to conditions.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Christine Griffiths

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

  Telephone 0345 140 0845 

Application documents and plans are available at:

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QRIF7ANWJ7I00

Page 39

Agenda Item 4b

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 40

Agenda Item 4b



The Site

A semi-detached dormer bungalow located on Crown Close in Formby.  The application property is 
positioned at the end of the close.

History

A similar two storey side extension has been added to the neighbouring property at number 18 
Crown Close, Formby, approved in 2017 under planning application DC/2016/02354.

Consultations

Highways Manager
No objection
 
Flooding & Drainage Manager
No objection, but highlight that a private drain passes under the site and should be protected 
during construction.

Tree Officer
No objections.
 
Neighbour Representations

Objections have been received from neighbouring residents within Crown Close, Lytles Close (at the 
rear), Green Lane and Redgate, together with a petition endorsed by Councillor Maria Bennett.  The 
grounds for objection can be summarised as follows:

Character 
 Massing/too big and out of scale
 Negative impact upon wildlife/removal of tree
 Flooding problems and sink hole formed within the vicinity of this area

Living Conditions
 Overshadowing and overlooking of nearby properties.
 Loss of light and negative impact upon outlook of nearby properties
 Too close to boundaries
 Overlooking from additional windows

Page 41

Agenda Item 4b



Other Matters
 Negative impact upon parking

 
Policy Context

The application site lies within an area designated as residential in the Sefton Local Plan which was 
adopted by the Council in April 2017.  

The Formby and Little Altcar Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) on 21st November 
2019 and carries full weight in decision making.               

Assessment of the Proposal

The main issues to consider in respect of this proposal are the impact on the character of the area 
and the impact on the living conditions of neighbouring residents.

Character of the area

Local Plan Policy HC4 ‘House Extensions’ permits development that is of high quality design that 
matches or complements the style of the dwelling and the surrounding area and the size and scale 
and materials of the development are in keeping with the original dwelling and surrounding area. 

Concerns have been expressed from neighbouring residents regarding the scale and massing of the 
development impacting on the character of the area.  The proposed extensions would increase the 
scale and massing of the host dwelling.  However, the width of the side extension would be less than 
that of the main house, whilst the two storey element would be set back from the existing main 
front elevation by over 2m.  The remaining mass of the extension would project to the rear and 
across the rear elevation of the main house, where views from public vantage points are limited.  

The front gabled elevation would be different from the main house, but would complement a similar 
extension to the neighbouring property at number 18.  The use of grey interlocking tiles would match 
the existing property and render to the elevations would be similar to other properties in the area.  
A front canopy would extend across the front of the two storey extension interlinking with and 
complementing the roof slope of the main house.     

Overall, the proposed extension would respond positively to the main house and other similar 
extensions in the area.  It would be acceptable in design terms and would not cause harm to the 
character of the street scene or wider area.  

Page 42

Agenda Item 4b



Living Conditions

Local Plan Policy HC4 advises that alterations to dwellinghouses should be designed so there is no 
significant reduction in the living conditions of neighbouring properties in relation to outlook, loss 
of light/overshadowing and privacy.

18 Crown Close 

This adjacent property, positioned south west of the application property, has a similar extension 
to that proposed. Due to the orientation of the properties, this will sit at right angles to the 
proposal.

The proposed two storey side extension would be set back over 2m behind its existing main front 
elevation.  This would prevent the side elevation from being in direct view from the first floor 
bedroom window in the front elevation of the neighbour’s extension, with the outlook being similar 
to that existing.  Although the proposed front canopy would extend beyond the front elevation of 
the neighbouring property, the ground floor of the neighbour’s extension is occupied by a garage.  
The proposed extension would therefore not appear overbearing or cause unacceptable 
overshadowing to the neighbour.

The first floor window proposed in the side elevation of the two storey extension would be 
sufficiently distanced from the side/rear garden of no.18 as to not give rise to overlooking concerns.  

16 Crown Close

The proposed single storey rear extension and two storey rear element would not breach the 
Council’s 45 degree guideline and would not appear overbearing to the neighbour or cause 
unacceptable overshadowing.

No windows are proposed in the side gable of the proposed extension facing no.16.  The rear dormer 
would introduce a first floor window that would be capable of overlooking the neighbour’s rear 
garden, but this would not be a direct view and is not unexpected in a built up area.  Furthermore, 
a rear dormer could be installed under permitted development which would introduce a similar 
degree of overlooking. 

The applicant has verified that there will not be any boundary encroachment with no.16 and the 
appropriate certificate of ownership has been signed.

11 Lytles Close 

The rear of the proposed two storey side extension would be more than 12m from the property to 
the rear, as recommended in the Council guidelines.  As such, no harm would be caused to the 
living conditions of this property with regards to outlook or overshadowing.  

Page 43

Agenda Item 4b



The rear dormer would introduce additional windows at first floor level.  The dormer would be 
capable of overlooking the neighbour’s rear garden.  However, the distance between the rear 
window and the neighbour’s boundary would be in accordance with the Council’s guidelines.  In 
any case, as a rear dormer could be constructed under permitted development, the degree of 
overlooking would not be dissimilar.  

Any potential overlooking from the proposed ground floor windows of the single storey rear 
extension would be sufficiently screened by high fencing, mature trees and a wooden outbuilding 
situated within the curtilage of this neighbouring property. 

Other matters
      
The proposal would see the replacement of a detached garage with an integral garage as part of 
the two storey side extension.  Although the garage would not fully meet the recommended 
dimensions set out in Policy H7 of the Neighbourhood Plan, it would be of a width and depth that 
would be useable and combined with the front drive, would be capable of maintaining car parking 
provision for 2 cars.  This is supported by the Council’s Highways Manager who has raised no 
objections.

The proposal would see the loss of 3 poor quality trees, as verified by the Council’s Tree Officer (a 
further 2 trees would be removed, but not as a result of the development).   The Tree Officer 
considers the tree loss to be acceptable subject to replacement planting being secured on a 1:1 
basis, in accordance with policy ESD7 of the Neighbourhood Plan.

It is understood that a private drain passes through the site, serving Crown Close.  The Council’s 
Flooding and Drainage Manager has advised that this should be investigated to ensure the 
development does not impact on the structural integrity of the drain.  As this is a private drain 
within the application site, it is a matter that would be dealt with under separate legislation (i.e. 
Building Regulations), however, an informative is recommended to draw attention to the matter.    

Conclusion

It is considered that the proposed development would be of an acceptable design that would not 
cause significant harm to the character of the street scene or the wider area.  It would not impact 
significantly upon the living conditions of neighbouring residents or present any other concerns as 
identified above.  It is considered that subject to conditions the proposed extension complies with 
the relevant policies of the Formby and Little Altcar Neighbourhood Plan and the Sefton Local Plan.

Page 44

Agenda Item 4b



Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 

Time Limit for Commencement

 1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.

Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 91 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

 2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents: 

A/659/LP
A/659/02A (received 7.09.21)
ARBORICULTURAL METHOD STATEMENT BS5837:2012: 
Documents referenced: ARBTECH AIA 01, ARBTECH TPP 01 &  Statement dated 18.8.21

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Occupied

3) No part of the development shall be occupied until the planting of 3 replacement trees has 
occurred.  Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective 
shall be replaced with others of a similar species, size and number as originally approved in 
the first available planting season.

Reason: To replace the trees lost as a result of the development

Page 45

Agenda Item 4b



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 20 October 2021 

Subject:  DC/2020/02331 
 Land Off Bankfield Lane  Southport  PR9 7NT       
Proposal: Reserved matters consent is sought for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 

for 156 dwellings and associated works (Pursuant to outline planning application 
DC/2017/00821 granted 20.10.20). 

 
Applicant: See attached Applicants List 
sheet 
   

Agent: Mrs Helen Leggett 
 Emery Planning Partnership Ltd  

Ward:  Meols Ward Type: Reserved Matters  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Petition endorsed by Cllr Lewis 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
This is an application for reserved matters consent for the development of 156 houses following 
the granting of outline planning permission as part of a hybrid planning application (i.e. an 
application for part full and part outline planning permission).  The outline element is referred to 
as Phase 2.    
 
The principle of the development to provide up to 200 houses on Phase 2 has already been 
established by the granting of the outline approval.  That outline approval had all matters reserved 
for later consideration bar access, which was found to be acceptable. 
 
Therefore, the key matters for consideration are the acceptability of the proposed layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping.   
 

Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions, subject to no objections 
being received from MEAS or Natural England on ecology grounds. 
   
Case Officer Kevin Baker 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QJWCKPNWN4E00 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4c



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 4c



The Site 
 
The site relates to a large development site comprising approximately 16.5 ha of arable land, with 
several small paddocks.  The residential edge of Churchtown is located north and west of the site.  
A mix of modern and traditional residential properties bound the northern and western edge of 
the site, with housing and the former Phillips factory (now a development site for residential use) 
beyond on the opposite side of Bankfield Lane/Rufford Road.  To the south and south east are 
open fields with the Three Pools waterway stretching along the eastern boundary. 
 
There are three open ditches across the whole site  one of these dissects the phase 2 site and runs 
in a west/east direction, connecting to an open ditch to the south boundary known as Captains 
Waterway. 
 
The site is relatively flat, albeit it does slope downwards from the west towards the eastern 
boundary. 
 

History 
  
In 2018, members resolved to approve a hybrid planning application (i.e. an application for part 
full, part outline planning permission) for a residential development on land off Bankfield Lane 
subject to a section 106 legal agreement and various planning conditions (app.ref: 
DC/2017/00821).  The Section 106 was formally signed and permission granted in October 2020.   
 
The application granted full planning permission for 128 houses, with access taken from a widened 
Blundells Lane via Bankfield Lane, and the provision of 7.3ha of open space to the east of the site 
between the developable area and Captains Waterway.  This element is referred to as Phase 1. 
 
Alongside the full application, outline permission was granted for the erection of up to 200 houses, 
with access taken from Phase 1 and linking with the widened access off Blundell Lane.  The outline 
permission granted details of access, with all other matters being reserved for subsequent 
approval.  This element is known as Phase 2. 
 
A separate application to alter the layout and house design of part of Phase 1 has been received 
but remains undetermined (App.ref: DC/2021/00924)   
 
Consultations 
 
Building Control 
No objections 
  
 
 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4c



Conservation Officer 
Acknowledge that the heritage statement refers to the old Unitary Development Plan policies.  
Also recommend that the landscaping be increased on the south-eastern edge of the built form to 
give a landscape buffer to respect setting of designated heritage assets and respect the contrast 
between built form and rural surroundings. 
 
Contaminated Land Team 
Repeat comments made on original application (i.e. requirement for standard contaminated land 
conditions). 
 
Environmental Health Manager 
No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Environment Agency 
No objection. 
 
Natural England 
Require further information, in the form of a Habitats Regulations Assessment, to determine 
impacts on designated sites. 
 
Tree Officer 
No objections. 
 
United Utilities 
Acknowledge that notwithstanding the submission of the Flood Risk Assessment, drainage 
statement and drainage information, no details of the drainage design for foul and surface water 
as required by conditions 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19 of the original permission have been provided.  
Subsequently, there would remain the need to submit such details as part of a separate 
application for approval of details reserved by condition. 
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
Require the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to be updated to reflect the reserved matters 
application, to take into account changes in habitat on site, more recent bird data and changes in 
case law relating the HRA.  Advise that surveys will need to be up-dated to enable the HRA 
assessment.  Recommend conditions relating to detailed planting, waste, energy efficiency and 
Japanese Knotweed. 
 
Highways Manager 
No objection. 
  
  

Page 50

Agenda Item 4c



Neighbour Representations 
 
A petition containing 46 signatures and endorsed by Cllr Lewis has been received objecting to the 
proposal on ground of drainage, knotweed, house design and mix and residential amenity. 
 
Residents 
Representations have been received from local residents on Verulam Road, Blundell Lane, The 
Crescent, The Grange, The Mallards, Bankfield Lane, Three Pools, Scarisbrick New Road, Dawlish 
Drive, Lexton Drive, Bakers Lane, Bodmin Avenue objecting to the proposed development.  The 
grounds of objection can be summarised as follows: 
 
Principle 
 Urbanisation of greenbelt land – land would be best used for farming. 
 Loss of good farm land 
 
Flooding and Drainage 
 Existing flooding needs to be resolved before any development occurs 
 No evidence of satisfactory surface water or sustainable drainage system. 
 Foul water will be discharged to Bankfield Lane 
 Increased flooding 
 Foul sewer is unlikely to be able to cope with the foul sewerage from this and other 

developments in the area 
 Land raising may result in new gardens draining into existing gardens 
 Lacking drainage information 
 Fundamental errors have been made in drainage report  
 
Living Conditions 
 Impact on privacy 
 Increased noise and air pollution from increased traffic 
 Loss of view 
 Loss of light 
 Substantial disruption to residents 
 
Design and Character 
 Takes no account of the character of the well established village and locality 
 Style of housing is not acceptable in this area 
 Scale and design is unacceptable 
 Impacts significantly on conservation area – this has not been fully considered 
 
Highway Safety 
 Increased traffic and congestion to the site, along Bankfield Lane and in the wider area 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4c



 Only one access route which is contrary to Sefton’s own policy and could not handle the 
amount of traffic and would be dangerous 

 Restricted access will have an impact on emergency situations 
 Schools nearby, increase traffic will be a risk to safety of children 
 Transport links are poor 
 Increased traffic affected by other developments nearby 
 Parking within development insufficient 
 Land should be accessed another way 
 No details have been submitted on how the emergency access will operate 
 Disruption to public transport routes  
 Footpaths will cause accidents 
 
Housing Mix and Tenure 
 Affordable Housing is not near expensive housing, dotted along the border with existing 

housing. 
 
Ecology 
 Presence of Japanese Knotweed, which has not been treated properly and has already been 

spread 
 Wildlife issues not been addressed, there will be a loss of wildlife on site 
 Habitat, species and biodiversity documents are inadequate and out of date 
 Flooding will harm water vole population 
 
Other Matters 
 Stress of existing infrastructure such as schools, doctors, dentists 
 No industrial employment or jobs in the area 
 Impact of construction traffic on local and wider area 
 Impact on climate change 
 Plans and papers are not accessible and poorly displayed 
 Piling should be conditions for low impact quitter piles 
 Conditions will be monitored closely 
 Local gardens will become more congested ruining the quaintness of the village 
 Impact on property prices 
 Housing company not engaged with local residents 
 Increased pollution from construction noise and dust 
 Application has been submitted on misleading information, whilst information is missing to 

allow a full assessment to be made 
 Development has been terribly planned and managed 
 
Local Member of Parliament  
Damian Moore has objected to the proposal, but not expressed any reasons for his objections.  

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 4c



Policy Context 
 
The application site is allocated for housing (MN2.2 Land at Bankfield Lane, Southport) and open 
space in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.                                                                                 

 
Assessment of the Proposal 
 
The principle of the development to provide up to 200 houses on Phase 2 (to which this 
application relates) has already been established by the granting of outline approval within the 
hybrid application.  That outline approval reserved all matters for later consideration bar access, 
which was found to be acceptable. 
 
Therefore, for this proposal the key matters for consideration are the layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping.   
 
Layout 
 
The hybrid application approved the detailed housing layout for Phase 1 of the development, which 
sits to the west of Phase 2.  The Phase 1 layout included a single access off Blundell Lane running 
through the site and leading into Phase 2.  The detailed layout submitted with this reserved matter 
application continues this access route through the development, maintaining the single access 
point. 
 
The housing layout is complementary to that approved under Phase 1, with houses orientated in a 
manner that provides passive surveillance, both to the street and to the public open spaces, and 
benefitting from private garden areas.  Similar to Phase 1, parking courtyards would be used to limit 
the extent of frontage parking and provide a more aesthetically pleasing street scene throughout.    
 
The interface distances between the front elevations of some of the plots fall slightly below the 
recommended standard.  However, this impact would be known to the future occupiers and would 
impact on the front rooms where a reduced level of amenity is already expected due to the regular 
passing of vehicles and pedestrians. 
 
The level of private amenity space for two of the plots also is slightly less that recommended.  
However, this shortfall would be minimal and would affect a very small number of properties when 
having regard to the overall development site and number of properties proposed.  The shortfall 
would impact on two of the Langley house types (plot 35 and 250) which offer an apartment style 
of accommodation within the development and would provide a total area of 43sq.m and 49sq.m 
respectively instead of the recommended 50sq.m. 
 
In respect of the impact on existing properties, the layout has had regard to outlook, overshadowing 
and privacy by adhering to or exceeding the Council's guidance on interface distances.  
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4c



Properties would be sited in a manner that would respect the existing ditch that cuts through the 
site, whilst allowing room for access.  The same can be said with regards to the Three Pools 
waterway, in respect of which cross sectional drawings demonstrate that an acceptable easement 
can be maintained to allow the Environment Agency to access the waterway.  The Environment 
Agency has raised no objection in this regard. 
Similar to Phase 1, pedestrian links through the site would be introduced connecting the 
development to the open space (approved under the hybrid application). 
 
Pedestrian and cycle links would be provided, establishing good connections through the 
development to the wider area and open spaces.  
 
Overall the layout is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Scale 
 
The hybrid application granted outline permission for up to 200 houses for Phase 2.  The reserved 
matters application proposes a total of 156 houses.  Combined with the 128 houses approved under 
Phase 1, a total of 284 houses would be provided.  This would be marginally below the indicative 
capacity identified in the Local Plan (i.e. 300) and will provide a density of approximately 33 dwelling 
per hectare across both phases.  Despite the reduced house numbers, the density would be 
consistent with the character of the area and compliant with policy HC3 of the Local Plan. 
 
As is evident from the submitted house types, the proposed houses will offer a mix of two-storey 
detached, semi-detached or terraced properties with heights complimenting those approved in 
Phase 1 and the general scale and massing in the locality. 
 
Appearance 
 
As with Phase 1, the proposed development would include standard house types, offering a mix of 
two storey detached, semi-detached and terraced housing.  A traditional material palette is 
proposed including brick, tile and render.  The housing is of good design, would in general 
complement that existing in the locality (and proposed in Phase 1) and would add active built 
frontages to key streets and open areas.  
 
Frontage parking would be broken up with soft landscaping, whilst the use of parking courtyards 
would complement that proposed within Phase 1 and would help to improve the overall appearance 
of the new street scene within the development.   
 
Details of boundary treatment and levels have not been provided at this stage, but are controlled 
by way of planning condition attached to the original permission.    
 
Landscaping 
 
The original application approved an area of open space to the east of the proposed housing.  Just 

Page 54

Agenda Item 4c



like Phase 1, Phase 2 proposes a formal play area/landscaped area adjacent to the wider open space 
to help soften the transition between open space and built form.   Tree planting throughout the site 
would help soften the built form within the surrounding area and would improve on that approved 
under Phase 1. Similarly, the retention of an existing ditch adds natural features, introducing a 
further green corridor within the development site and helping to protect and enhance wildlife on 
the site.  As identified above, properties would be orientated so as to face these open spaces, 
providing natural surveillance and ensuring they become an inclusive element of the development.   
 
The original application was supported by a general landscape strategy for the whole area, along 
with a connectivity analysis.  This looked at ways to introduce features that would make the area 
attractive and inviting whilst enhancing opportunities for existing wildlife and complementing the 
general character of the wider area.  It also looked at ways to improve the connectivity of the open 
space, the residential development and other recreation spaces in the local area.  Based on the initial 
strategy and analysis, it is considered that Phase 2 would be consistent with this.  The detailed 
planting drawings have not been submitted, but would be required by condition attached to the 
hybrid application. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Housing Mix 
 
It was acknowledged that Phase 1 did not fully comply with Policy H2 ‘Housing Type, Mix and Choice’ 
of the Local plan (with regards to 3 bedroom houses).   However, it was considered that the marginal 
inconsistency could be accommodated within any subsequent application for Phase 2.    
 
The applicant has submitted a housing mix schedule, which demonstrates that the number of 1, 2 
and 3 bedroom houses for Phase 2 would exceed the percentage requirement as set out in policy 
HC2 (Housing Type, Mix and Choice) of the Local Plan.  Overall, the proposal would ensure that the 
housing mix across both phases would be consistent with the Council's aims for an appropriate 
housing mix. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
The layout shows that 55 affordable units are to be provided within Phase 2.  Along with the 49 
affordable units proposed in Phase 1, it is considered that the development would comply with the 
30% requirement as set out within Policy HC1 of the Local Plan.  The distribution of affordable 
housing units is not entirely consistent with the requirements of HC1 in that there is a greater 
concentration of affordable housing in some areas above that recommended in the policy (i.e. Plots 
208 to 218).  However, the inconsistency is marginal and when assessing both phases is considered 
acceptable on balance. 
 
  

Page 55

Agenda Item 4c



Built Heritage & Archaeology 
 
In the original officer report, it was concluded that the site had negligible archaeological potential, 
whilst the development would not impact on the setting and views of Meols Hall (a grade II listed 
building) or the setting of Churchtown Conservation Area.  Phase 2 has no greater bearing on the 
initial assessment and is therefore acceptable in this regard.  The Council’s conservation officer has 
recommended that the landscaping be increased on the south-eastern edge of the built form to give 
a landscape buffer to respect setting of designated heritage assets and respect the contrast between 
built form and rural surroundings. However, the landscaping is consistent with the framework 
initially approved, introducing a more formal buffer between the housing and the wider open space 
to the east.  This is consistent with the design of Phase 1 and overall it is considered the development 
is acceptable and compliant with policy NH11 ‘Works Affecting Listed Buildings’, NH12 ‘Conservation 
Areas’ and NH14 ‘Scheduled Monuments and Non Designated Archaeology’ of the Local Plan.     
 
Flooding & Drainage 
 
The original application was supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) along with a Surface Water 
Drainage Strategy and Utilities Statement.  This considered both phases, assessed the potential 
sources of flooding to the development site and presented measures to mitigate the risk of flooding.  
 
The report concluded that the application site is suitable for residential development and would not 
give rise to flooding concerns, subject to the provisions of appropriate mitigation measures 
(including the raising of land). 
 
Whilst the FRA touched upon the effect of the proposed development on surface water runoff and 
a potential surface water drainage scheme, this was addressed in more detail within a separate 
surface water drainage strategy.  This proposed the use of a separate system for surface water 
(rather than combined with foul water) and proposed to take advantage of existing ordinary 
watercourses within the site as part of the overall surface water management system. 
 
Phase 2 is consistent with this approach in principle.  However, the current strategy for Phase 2 
proposes to utilise the central ditch in Phase 1, to serve Phase 2 in part.  This is contrary to that 
suggested in the original surface water drainage strategy, and is being reviewed further by the 
applicant. Any update will be reported as a late representation.  That said, several conditions were 
attached to the original permission and remain relevant to this application.  This includes condition 
15 which seeks the submission of ‘a site-wide strategy for foul and surface water drainage’ for 
approval by the Council, prior to commencement of development.  This will, in any case, address in 
full the management of surface water across the site as a whole.       
 
Impact on infrastructure 
 
Residents have raised concern regarding increased pressure on local services, including impact on 
local schools and health services. This was a concern initially expressed under the hybrid application, 
but it was concluded that the proposed development would be acceptable in this regard.  Given the 

Page 56

Agenda Item 4c



hybrid application granted outline approval for up to 200 houses for Phase 2, the reduced number 
of houses proposed under this application does not give rise to any additional concerns that were 
not originally addressed.   
 
The section 106 legal agreement approved under the hybrid application does secure a commuted 
sum of £2,129.15 per house under Phase 2, along with £244,852 in total for Phase 1.  This remains 
consistent with policy IN1 (Infrastructure and Developer Contributions) of the Local Plan.   
 
Ecology 
 
The hybrid application identified the various ecological issues across the site including the potential 
likely significant effects relating to increased recreational pressure on designated sites, the impact 
on the local wildlife site and water vole, and Japanese knotweed. 
 
A Habitats Regulations Assessment was completed for the hybrid application and the Council’s 
ecological advisors, Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS), have confirmed that this 
reserved matters application is in line with the hybrid application and ‘likely significant effects’ 
identified for the outline scheme remain unchanged (i.e. no likely significant effects subject to 
various mitigation measure being secured by condition or section 106 agreement).  Nevertheless, 
the Council’s ecological advisors have confirmed that an updated Habitats Regulations Assessment 
would be required for the Reserved Matters to take into account any changes in habitat on site, 
more recent bird data and due to changes in law.   
 
To enable this, MEAS have requested an updated ecological appraisal, including (but not limited to) 
updated surveys on birds, water vole and otter.  The applicant has reviewed the ecology report and 
submitted updated surveys.  This is still being considered by MEAS, comments on which will be 
reported as a late representation along with any updated comments from Natural England regarding 
the Habitats Regulations Assessment.   
 
Further concerns have been expressed from residents regarding the presence of Japanese Knotweed 
on site.  This was recognised within the hybrid application and conditions were attached to ensure 
updated surveys and restrictions are in place to address this matter. 
 
Highway Safety 
Various concerns have been expressed from residents regarding increased congestion, the use of a 
single access point and vehicular and pedestrian safety.  Such matters were considered in detail 
under the Hybrid application, including the use of a single access to the site for Phase 1 and 2. 
 
The Highways Manager has raised no objection to the layout proposed under Phase 2 and is satisfied 
that there is sufficient car parking provision to serve the development.      
 
Construction 
Various concerns have been expressed by residents regarding increased noise and disturbance from 
construction traffic and the impact of increased traffic on the local highway network and wider area.  

Page 57

Agenda Item 4c



Objections have highlighted that the development of the adjacent Phillips site for residential 
development and the drainage works off Blundell Lane by United Utilities, will only exacerbate the 
disturbance.   
 
It is inevitable that there will be an increase in noise and disturbance, however, a condition was 
attached to the hybrid application seeking the submission and approval of a full construction 
environmental management plan to minimise the impacts as far as possible.      
 
Conclusion 
 
The principle of residential development on Phase 2 was established under the hybrid application, 
which granted outline planning permission for up to 200 houses.  The access arrangement was also 
granted permission with matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping being reserved for 
subsequent approval.  This application provides further detail regarding these outstanding matters.   
 
The drawings and information submitted demonstrate that the scale of the development would be 
consistent with the parameters set at outline stage and would achieve the recommended density 
standards as set out in the Local Plan. 
 
The proposed housing would not cause significant harm to the living conditions of existing residents 
or those who would occupy the new houses approved under Phase 1.  There are minor reductions 
in the expected standards for distances between fronts of dwellings and the size of private garden 
areas for a small number of properties within the development, but this is considered acceptable 
when viewed as part of the wider development. 
 
The layout and design of the proposed houses would ensure the development connects well with 
Phase 1 and areas of open space.  Key street frontages and public open spaces would benefit from 
natural surveillance, whist the chosen house types would complement that approved under Phase 
1.  No harm would be caused to the character of the area or to existing local heritage assets. 
 
In line with the section 106 legal agreement, the proposed development would meet the Council’s 
affordable housing standards and would provide an acceptable housing mix. 
 
Landscaping would be provided within the site, with the use of soft landscaping to the eastern and 
southern boundaries to soften the appearance of the adjacent land and integrate well with the 
allocated open space approved under the hybrid application.   The proposal would also incorporate 
landscaping along the existing ditch which would support existing wildlife and would provide green 
spaces through the development.   
 
The development is overall consistent with the principles identified with the Flood Risk Assessment 
and Drainage Management Strategy and whilst there is some discrepancy regarding the discharge 
of surface water for Phase 2 (i.e. into the existing ditch at Phase 1), this can be addressed through 
the conditions attached to the hybrid application.   
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 4c



Updated ecological surveys are being reviewed by the Council’s ecological advisors (MEAS), and their 
comments will be reported as a late representation.  However, it is considered that the scale and 
layout of development is in line with the assessments initially carried out under the hybrid 
application and which were found to be acceptable. 
 
Finally, it is acknowledged that various objections have been made on matters of principle, access, 
congestion, pressure on infrastructure, Japanese knotweed and construction.  However, such 
matters were fully addressed under the hybrid application and, where necessary, measures secured 
by either planning condition or section 106 legal agreement.  There are no other matters raised that 
give rise to concern. 
 
It is therefore recommended that the application be approved, subject to no objections being 
received from MEAS or Natural England on ecology grounds.      
         

 
Recommendation - Approve with Conditions, subject to no objections 
being received from MEAS or Natural England on ecology grounds. 
 
 
Approved Plans 
 
 1) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:  
- 1328WHD/BLS2-LP01 
- 1328WHD/BLS2-PL01 Rev.M 
- Strategic Landscape Masterplan: 001 Rev B 
- E-H-P1 
- LAN-AP1 
- LAN-B-P1 
- NEL-P1 
- PRIESTLEY 4B6P HT 
- 3.113/P/BU/10/300 
- 4.209CB/P/BU/L10/300 
- 3.217/P(FG)/BU/L10/300 
- 3.1135ACB/P/BU/M4(2) 
- 2.214/P/BU/L10/300 
- 3.118SACB/P/BU/L10/300 
- 4.342/P/BU/L10/300 Rev.B 
- 4.201/P/BU/L10/300 Rev.A 
- 4.341/P/BU/L10/300 Rev.A 
- 3.205CB/P/BU/L10/300 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 4c



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 20th October 2021

Subject: DC/2021/02152
15 Harbury Avenue Ainsdale  Southport  PR8 2TA      

Proposal: Erection of a two storey extension to the side, garage and porch extension to the 
front, following the demolition of existing garage.

Applicant: Mr Neil Kennard Agent: Mr Robert Ball

Ward: Ainsdale Ward Type: Householder application

Reason for Committee Determination:  Applicant is Senior Staff Member

Summary
            
The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of a two storey extension to the side, 
garage and porch extension to the front, following the demolition of existing garage.

The main issues to consider are the impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties and 
the impact on the character and appearance of the area. 

It is concluded the extension will not cause harm and complies with Sefton Local Plan and is 
therefore recommended for approval, subject to conditions.

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions 

Case Officer Stephen O'Reilly

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 

Application documents and plans are available at:

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QYPDDLNWLXT00

Page 61

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 62

Agenda Item 5a



The Site
           
An existing two storey dwelling on the south side of Harbury Avenue, Ainsdale.  The existing 
dwelling has a single storey flat roof garage to the side.

History
        
There is no planning history associated with the application site.

Neighbour Representations
         
No neighbour representation received to date.

Policy Context

The application site lies within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  
                                  
Assessment of the Proposal

The main issues to consider are the impact on the living conditions of the neighbouring properties 
and the impact on the character and appearance of the area.

Living Conditions

Policy HC4 (House Extensions, Houses in Multiple Occupation and Flats) of the Local Plan seeks to 
ensure that extensions will not have any negative impacts on the living conditions of neighbouring 
properties, particularly with regards to outlook, light levels and privacy.

The proposed two storey side extension would not project beyond the front or rear elevation of 
the existing dwelling at first floor level or beyond the front or rear elevation of the neighbouring 
property, No.11 Harbury Avenue.  There are no windows in the side gable of No.11, nor are any 
proposed in the side elevation facing No 11.  As a result, the proposal would not cause any harm to 
the living conditions of number 11 in terms of overshadowing, loss of outlook or privacy.  The 
garage/porch extension would not project beyond that of the existing garage and will therefore 
not cause any harm to the living conditions of number 11.  

The proposed two storey side extension will not be visible from number 17 Harbury Avenue and 
the front projection to garage / porch is some distance away. Neither would cause any harm to the 
living conditions of this property in relation to overshadowing, loss of outlook or privacy.  

Page 63

Agenda Item 5a



The proposed extensions would be sufficiently far enough away from properties to the front and 
rear to not harm  their living conditions.

The proposal therefore meets the criteria of policy HC4.

Character

Policy HC4 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that proposals respond positively to the character and 
form of the existing property and those surrounding.

The proposal would be constructed from materials that would be similar in appearance to those of 
the existing dwelling.  The ridge and eaves height of the extension would match those of the 
existing dwelling, while the pitch of the roof would be like that of the host dwelling and other 
similar extensions within the area. The extension would be set back from the front of the dwelling 
at first floor level and would maintain a gap to the boundary to ensure there is no terracing effect.  
The proposed garage/porch extension would complement the design of the host dwelling.

The proposed extension would complement the existing house and surrounding area and would 
comply with policy HC4 of the Local Plan. 

Conclusion

The proposed extensions would not cause any harm to the living conditions of neighbouring 
properties or to the character and appearance of the area.

The proposal therefore complies with Policy HC4 of the Local Plan and is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions.

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions 

Time Limit for Commencement

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.

Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 
Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents: 01.

Page 64

Agenda Item 5a



Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.

During Building Works

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
must be of similar appearance to those used in the existing building.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development.

Page 65

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 20 October 2021

Subject: DC/2020/01032
Telegraph House, Moor Lane, Crosby

Proposal: Erection of a part four/part five storey building for mixed use including a 
commercial floorspace (Class E) at ground floor and 74 No. residential apartments 
(Class C3) on upper floors, roof terraces at fourth floor level and associated works 
including access and landscaping

Applicant: Crossfield Exclusive 
Developments Limited

Agent: Mr Matthew Sobic
Savills (UK) Limited

Ward: Blundellsands, Victoria and 
Manor

Type: Major application

Reason for Committee Determination: The application is presented by the Chief Planning Officer 
as it does not provide the full required amount of private outdoor amenity space.

Summary

The application seeks to provide a mix of residential and commercial units within Crosby District 
Centre, following the demolition of a derelict and now vacant building.  The report concludes that 
the development is acceptable in terms of design, highway safety, with the substantial economic 
benefits of the development outweighing any adverse impacts arising.  The report concludes that 
subject to conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement the application should 
be approved.

Recommendation:  Approve with conditions subject to completion of 
Section 106 Agreement to secure a commuted sum payment of £204,738 
(at 2021/22 rates) towards affordable housing off-site.

Case Officer Steve Faulkner

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

  Telephone 0345 140 0845 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Application documents and plans are available at:

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QFZA2KNW01A00

Page 68

Agenda Item 5b



Site Location Plan

Page 69

Agenda Item 5b



The Site

The application site comprises a part two storey, part three storey building of 1960s construction at 
the junction of Moor Lane and Richmond Road in Crosby.  The building was in a mix of commercial 
uses and is now unoccupied, and the site also comprises derelict land to the rear.  

The site lies within the town centre and assumes a very prominent position when directly 
approached off the main A565 roundabout to the north.  The site is largely within a commercial 
setting, bound by the pedestrianised area of Moor Lane to the south east, with three storey 
residential blocks to the north and east on the opposite side of Richmond Road and sheltered 
housing accommodation to the south and east.  Directly to the west of the site fronting Moor Lane 
is one of two blocks known as the Glenn Buildings (North), which have been subject to more recent 
investment.  The remaining immediate surroundings are of a largely commercial nature.

History
 
No history directly relevant to the application site, but an appeal was allowed at Central Buildings 
in July 2021 for 39 affordable units (DC/2020/00732). This is referred to throughout the report and 
represents a relevant material consideration for this proposal.

Consultations

MEAS – no objection following completion of Habitats Regulations Assessment (forwarded to 
Natural England), recommend conditions in respect of works during the bird breeding season and 
to secure energy efficient and low carbon design as set out in report.

Natural England- no objection following completion of Habitats Regulations Assessment.

Local Plans – no objections, welcome the range of uses proposed, scheme would require 
affordable housing and education contributions, and development must meet M4(2) of the 
Building Regulations.  Development must also address flooding and drainage concerns and make 
provision for new broadband connections.  

Highways Manager – no objection subject to planning conditions as set out in report.

Environmental Protection Manager – no objection subject to series of planning conditions as set 
out in report.

Contaminated Land – no objection subject to conditions.

Air Quality Manager – no objection subject to conditions.

Page 70

Agenda Item 5b



Lead Local Flood Authority – additional information relating to SuDS and soil investigation 
required.

Neighbour Representations

In total, over 120 properties were notified of the application in addition to the required publicity 
via site and press notices.  

A total of 57 responses were received, 52 in support of the application, 5 objecting.

Comments in support are summarized as follows:
- The site has been neglected for a long time and will benefit from re-development,
- The site has become an eyesore in the centre,
- Development will attract people to the village who will spend money, offering a boost to 

the economy,
- Footfall will increase,
- Much needed investment affording job creation,
- Development will assist in arresting the decline of the centre,
- Development needs to connect to and integrate with existing public realm and 

opportunities should be taken for improvement.

Comments in objection are summarized as follows:
- 4/5 storeys are too high compared with more general character of 3 storey properties,
- Proposed roof garden will impact on privacy of residents,
- Buildings would cause loss of light,
- Traffic problems set to arise, parking pressures and congestion,
- Increased noise from commercial uses
- Pressure on existing commercial uses who may be forced to close with complaints from 

new residents (‘Agent for Change’ principles)

Policy Context

The application site lies within an area designated as Crosby District Centre, with the site also 
positioned within a Primary Shopping Area. The part of the site fronting Moor Lane is identified as a 
Primary Shopping Frontage in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  
                       
A number of Supplementary Planning Documents are referred to throughout the report and these 
introduce a number of relevant material planning considerations.   In addition, the National Planning 
Policy Framework was revised in July 2021 and is also a further relevant material planning 
consideration.

Page 71

Agenda Item 5b



Assessment of the Proposal

The application is for the erection of a part four, part five storey building, which includes 979 sqm 
of commercial units on the ground floor, car parking to the rear and residential development in the 
storeys above.  A total of 74 residential units are provided on the upper floors.

Principle of Development and Main Issues

The proposal is located within Crosby District Centre and in part is identified as a primary shopping 
area.  The frontage to Moor Lane is part of the primary retail frontage. Local Plan Policy ED2 ‘Retail, 
Leisure and Other Town Centres Uses’ sets out how proposals in District Centres are considered.  It 
is expected that retail, leisure and other town centre uses (as defined in Annex 2 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)) would be located in district centres.  

Car park access is derived from Richmond Road, via the existing entrance to the Allengate Car Park, 
which largely serves customers of the adjacent food store.  As the proposal is within the Primary 
Shopping Area the preference would be for all ground floor units to be in retail uses, but following 
recent changes to the General Permitted Development Order, which allow for a broadening of town 
centre uses, it is considered that the ground floor could acceptably accommodate a wider range of 
uses within Class E of the Order. In addition to retail units this would include offices for visiting 
members of the public, and food and drink establishments such as coffee shops and restaurants (but 
not drinking establishments and hot food takeaways).  The applicant therefore would accept a 
planning condition to limit the range of ground floor uses which balances the need for active 
frontages with a flexible approach to securing possible end users.  

The proposed residential development above ground floor level in the upper floors is acceptable in 
principle having regard to part 5 of Local Plan Policy ED2.  Taking the above into account, there is no 
objection to the development in principle, subject to compliance with other detailed policies at 
national and local level.  

The main issues to consider relate to affordable housing provision and scheme viability.  The report 
also considers the design and the impact on the character of the area, the impact on highway safety, 
the impact on the adjoining occupiers and the living conditions of the future occupiers notably with 
regard to the provision of private outdoor useable space, drainage, contaminated land and 
archaeology.  The report also addresses issues raised having regard to the completion of an 
assessment under the Habitats Regulations, notably in respect of recreational pressures on the 
Sefton Coast.   

Affordable Housing and Viability

Local Plan Policy HC1 ‘Affordable and Special Needs Housing’ requires that schemes of 15 homes or 
more in Crosby must provide 30% of the scheme as affordable housing, which should be split 67:33 
between affordable/social rent and affordable ownership homes.  As the development is for 74 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5b



units, it would be expected that 23 units in total would be available on this basis.  

In response to the requirement of HC1(9), the applicant has submitted a viability report which 
suggested that the development could not proceed with a reasonable return to the developer if this 
was made a requirement of the scheme (and additionally it should be noted that no contributions 
could be offered in respect of education or other town centre improvements).  The report suggests 
a profit margin to the developer of 15%.

In July 2021, this report was reviewed in detail by the Council’s retained viability consultant, CP 
Viability. This was carried out in accordance with the RICS document ‘Assessing viability in planning 
under the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 for England (Guidance Note 1st Edition, March 
2021)’, and the Planning Practice Guidance on Viability published in 2018 and since updated.  The 
report’s findings remain valid for a six month period (i.e. until January 2022).

With a fixed developer profit of 15% on cost (in line with Savills’ assessment and reflecting the lower 
end of the 15-20% range normally expected for flatted development) the proposals generate a 
residual land value of £1,244,738. As this is above the agreed benchmark land value of £1,040,000 
the development is therefore is deemed to be viable.  Furthermore, there is a surplus of £204,738 
(residual land value – benchmark land value) which could be used towards planning policies. 

It is therefore considered that the development would allow for a total contribution of £204,738 of 
Section 106 monies, whether it be towards affordable housing, or any other measure that may be 
legitimately provided for within the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) regulations.  

The main differences between the applicant’s report and the assessment made by the Council’s 
consultant relates to contingency.  Though it suggests that commercial rental yields may be slightly 
less than suggested by the applicant, the main difference relates to contingency, which was set at 
4.98% by the applicant whereas CP Viability confirm 3.50% to be reasonable.  The applicant has now 
agreed this figure and the scheme accords with Policy HC1 (9) in this respect

However, it is still necessary to consider Policy HC1 (10), which states that off-site provision of 
affordable housing, or a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value, will be considered where 
it can be robustly justified, and where the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating 
mixed and balanced communities.  This also accords with Paragraph 63 of the NPPF, which states:

“Where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify the type of 
affordable housing required, and expect it to be met on-site unless:

(a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly justified; and

(b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities.”

Taking the first point, it has been noted that the applicant has approached five different Registered 
Providers (RP) who have confirmed that the delivery of the requested units on site would not meet 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5b



their requirements and demonstrates that there is no interest in the delivery of residential on the 
site from affordable housing delivery partners (the Supplementary Planning Document ‘Affordable 
Housing’ requires at least three) .  The general concerns relate to a perceived lack of dedicated 
parking provision for end users and other existing commitments in the locality (Plus Dane are the RP 
for Central Buildings).  Generally the interest of RPs would appear to be focussed on larger schemes 
where grant funding can be secured.

On the second point, there is clear a current shortage of affordable housing in Crosby, though the 
applicant has pointed to recent planning permissions which when implemented will begin to address 
this shortage.  This does not equate to an over-supply, nor does it in any way justify the approach to 
reduced provision, but it does bring focus on the point that off-site provision could make a 
meaningful contribution to providing additional affordable housing units locally, in a situation of 
local affordable need.  

The possibility of meaningful use of a commuted sum has been raised with the Service Manager of 
Investment and Housing Services and it is accepted that this could be utilised subject to an element 
of flexibility over its precise location and a 10 year clawback period.  The final agreed provision for 
spending would be based on the guidance contained in Section 11 of the Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘Affordable Housing’,  which sets out the following hierarchy.

• First Preference - The ward in which it was secured 
• Second Preference - The settlement in which it was secured 
• Third preference - A settlement adjacent to that in which it was secured
• Fourth preference - Elsewhere in Sefton

In summary, the applicants have demonstrated that the development would not be able to 
proceed at all if the full policy requirement of 23 homes on site is met. If the development does 
not proceed, a variety of other benefits that weigh in favour of the development would not 
materialise.  Officers are therefore of the view that it would not be possible to insist on the full 
quota of affordable housing and instead it is recommended that the sum of £204,738 be secured 
via a Section 106 legal Agreement.  This would enable those monies to be diverted to other sites 
according to the above hierarchy to assist in providing affordable housing off-site.  

As such the development does not conflict with Sefton Local Plan Policy HC1 and Paragraph 63 of 
the NPPF and this is afforded significant weight in the planning balance.

Economic Benefits

The proposal is considered to give rise to urban regeneration benefits and represents investment 
that will support the vitality and viability of the centre.  New employment opportunities will be 
generated, and new residential properties in the area will also spend locally contributing to 
supporting new and existing businesses in the area.  It is anticipated by the applicant that the new 
commercial floorspace may deliver in the region of 42 – 52 full time employment opportunities, 
(though it is recognised that there are existing unoccupied premises at present).

Page 74

Agenda Item 5b



A further jobs would be created through the construction process.  The applicant has suggested that 
a total of 57 person years would be achieved on this basis.

It is also considered that the mix of one and two bedroom accommodation may assist in freeing up 
a number of existing under-occupied properties elsewhere and increase available choice of family 
housing elsewhere, which offers a social benefit in addition to a boost to the housing market.

It is noted that across the board there have been substantial reductions in footfall across many town, 
district and local centres in the past 18 months and significant jobs lost.  In such an environment, it 
is considered investment of this nature ought to be strongly supported subject to compliance with 
other policies and the appropriate addressing of environmental impacts and social implications.  

In line with Paragraph 80 of the NPPF, these factors must be given significant weight in the planning 
balance.  It is considered that the scheme will deliver substantial economic benefits.

Design and Character of the Area

The proposal is for a part four, part five storey building, which will offer active frontages to both 
Moor Lane and Richmond Road.  The building currently gives rise to a non-active frontage to 
Richmond Road, save for a wall opening that would have offered car parking for previous occupiers.  
This development would resolve this by offering a strong active frontage.  

The main pedestrian access to the residential part of the development is onto Richmond Road, but 
there are opportunities for ground floor access to the commercial premises fronting Moor Lane too.  
Further safe pedestrian access is available from the car park to the rear of the site as well.

The side of the development facing Moor Lane would improve on the existing by bringing the ground 
floor forward to align with the Glenn Buildings, resolving a townscape issue of the current building 
being set back behind a canopy above the ground floor.  The building does give rise to a slightly 
awkward transition with the adjacent two storey Glenn Buildings, and the difficulty of linking the 
buildings is further exacerbated by the existing pitched roof. Whilst less than ideal, it is felt that this 
is the best available design solution that can be accommodated given these constraints.

The Crosby Centre SPD identifies the site as capable of accommodating development of at least two 
storeys in height.  The building does give rise to a five storey corner feature when viewed from the 
non-pedestrianised section of Moor Lane which is a height not especially common across the centre.  
There is some acknowledged variance in height and scale in the centre, not least with the more 
traditional buildings fronting the central part of the pedestrian area of a three storey scale, but also 
various two storey buildings of later construction, single storey components adjacent to the two 
storey art deco influenced Glenn Buildings (South), the three storey residential flats at Avon Court, 
and the new sheltered accommodation to the south and east of the site at Grove Court, which is of 
three storey height but assumes a more significant impact owing to its roof massing.

Page 75

Agenda Item 5b



The height and mass of the building is clearly over and above anything else within the centre at 
present, but it is clear that whilst traditional materials are consistent across the centre, there is wider 
variance in respect of scale and massing.  The new design clearly improves on the existing building, 
which offers largely inactive frontages (none to Richmond Road and Moor Lane compromised by the 
ground floor setting back and canopies), awkward internal layouts which would appear to be off-
putting to prospective end users as borne out by a lack of occupation. With such variance across 
Crosby, added to the site’s prominence on a corner, it is felt on balance that the increased height is 
capable of being acceptably accommodated on this occasion, with the best efforts made to address 
an awkward joining to Glenn Buildings (North).

At the request of officers, and prior to the application being submitted, the applicant agreed to 
undertake a review with Places Matter, an independent design review body, in respect of the design 
and layout of the proposals.  This review concluded that a series of changes would be beneficial to 
the development, but their more prevalent concerns related to the practicalities of the internal 
layout and landscaping, rather than scale and height.  It is therefore significant that the approach to 
height and scale has been subject to a separate independent review which is largely accepting of 
this.

The proposal has also been subject to a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA), provided 
by the applicant which identifies a number of key viewpoints that owing to the general street 
patterns of the centre give rise to most of the visual impacts being localised, i.e. the buildings 
generally visible from short to medium range.  The site would mostly not be viewed from the 
opposite end of the pedestrianised section of Moor Lane, and views from the A565 by-pass facing 
north will be of a building set behind a range of fragmented and varied building heights as explained 
above.  The building would not be especially visible on the A565 southbound approach due to the 
intervening roundabout and trees which filter visual impacts facing that direction.  The wider visual 
impacts of the building are agreed not to be harmful.  

The building is stepped back on its upper floors to help reduce its visual massing, with the tiled 
mansard and aluminium roof, and the elevations have been broken down with a wider selection of 
materials and greater verticality to increase the glazed emphasis of the windows. This reduces 
impressions of elongated mass enabling the building’s height at its corner to be played down 
somewhat.  These changes add depth and richness to the elevations.

The choice of materials for this proposal are kept to a minimum and would incorporate a variety of 
grey, buff and red bricks, which reflect the general pattern of materials that prevail in the centre at 
present, and a tiled mansard roof is proposed with aluminium feature dormers.  A planning condition 
is recommended to secure samples.

The footpaths around the building will all be improved and the access into the site will be finished 
to an appropriate standard, which will also match the existing public realm.  The space to the rear 
incorporating the car park is active and well overlooked, making provision for safe pedestrian access 
whether from Richmond Road or round the back of the Glenn Buildings (South).  The design of the 
rear is enhanced by a raised lawn proposed to the entrance from the car park.  

Page 76

Agenda Item 5b



The applicant also proposes planters and seating at the front of the commercial premises to the 
corner, which would address approaches from Moor Lane heading in a westerly direction off the 
main A565 roundabout.

The outdoor space identified for use by occupiers is subject to a bespoke design, and the larger area 
of the two roofspaces would include a raised lawn area for relaxation, an outdoor lounge with 
moveable seating, and various communal loungers and seating.  The smaller outdoor space 
proposed communal dining and table tennis facilities.  Subject to the precise details and timing of 
the availability being secured by condition, these spaces are considered to offer excellent 
opportunities for relaxation in an otherwise confined setting.

Having regard to the above, it is not unreasonable to raise some reservations over the height and 
scale of the built form, and the manner of the building’s joining to the Glenn Buildings (North).  
However, more generally, the chosen approach offers a substantial improvement on the existing 
derelict building and land, and also addresses long standing concerns over a lack of active frontage 
and debilitating impacts on the centre due to the prominent location of the building as it stands.  
The development will also not give rise to unacceptable visual impacts from wider vantage points 
whether short or long range.   Weight is also afforded to the fact that the application has been 
independently scrutinised prior to submission by an independent panel and has seen a number of 
recommendations of that panel accepted and taken through to the final chosen design.

Taking the above into account, the scheme is therefore felt to bring no specific conflict with Local 
Plan Policy EQ2 ‘Design’, or the provisions set out by Section 12 of the NPPF.  

Impact on the adjoining occupiers 

The proposals introduce residential and commercial activities consistent with what prevails 
elsewhere within the district centre.  The nearest immediate neighbour, on Moor Lane, is the Glenn 
Buildings (North), which comprises a mix of uses including a bar and function rooms.  The proposed 
uses and built form would not cause harm to this property or any others on the north side of Moor 
Lane.

On the Opposite side of Moor Lane are further buildings in mixed residential, office and commercial 
use, and these include Glenn Building (South).  The development will not give rise to any adverse 
impacts in terms of their use or built form.

Page 77

Agenda Item 5b



The other nearest occupiers likely to be affected are Avon Court, on the opposite side of Richmond 
Road to the north of the development, and Grove Court which comprises a sheltered housing to the 
east.  Avon Court comprises various three storey flat roofed residential properties set at right angles 
to Richmond Road, and the nearest building would be 22 metres away from the proposed Richmond 
Road elevation.  This is sufficient to prevent unacceptable overshadowing and there would be no 
loss of outlook or privacy resulting to Avon Court, as the nearest buildings do not face the 
development directly, rather, face south west along Richmond Road, or south east towards Grove 
Court.

Grove Court is set well back into the site towards the A565 by pass and this means the building at 
its nearest to the development is positioned over 50 metres away, with the car park and landscaped 
areas intervening.  As such it is not anticipated that there would be any unacceptable overshadowing 
or loss of privacy to these neighbouring occupiers.

The roof terraces will be used for outdoor private space to the residential flats, so it is not 
unreasonable to raise concerns over impacts on adjoining premises, but in reality, the terrace is not 
going to enable direct views into nearby residential properties adjacent as it is elevated above those 
nearest, windows of adjoining premises are offset, and there is acceptable distance between the 
terrace and other properties above.

Due to the mix of residential and commercial uses proposed, the Environmental Protection Manager 
has recommended a scheme of sound insulation that protects the newly created residential 
properties from activity in the commercial uses below.  

It has also been identified (and is noted by one of the objectors) that complaints occasionally arise 
relating to noise from entertainment establishments in this area.  In addition, the England noise map 
indicates that part of the site might be impacted by high levels of road traffic noise.  It is therefore 
recommended that appropriate acoustic glazing and acoustically treated ventilation is provided to 
properties and installed prior to occupation.  

It is also recommended in the absence of clarification in a noise assessment that any music proposed 
within the building is played at background levels only.

A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) can address any issues arising during the 
construction process and an informative added.  

In summary the proposal brings with it a number of impacts similar to those the development will 
face itself owing to its district centre location.  The scheme is acceptably designed and with 
appropriate planning conditions will comfortably co-exist alongside those uses around it.  In these 
respects, the scheme is fully compliant with Local Plan Policies EQ2 ‘Design’ and EQ4 ‘Pollution and 
Hazards’.

Page 78

Agenda Item 5b



Living Conditions of Future Occupiers

The size of the apartments are acceptable, meeting minimum space standards, and the outlook and 
living conditions are considered to be acceptable.  All entrances to the flats have been designed to 
have level thresholds and provide step free access into the building. It has been designed to be 
accessible to all residents and each floor will also have use of a separate communal staircase. 

The communal corridors are all 1.5m wide and there are two lifts proposed, all of which afford access 
to the private amenity area on the roof. The communal entrances into the building have been 
designed to achieve the minimum standards of M4(2) of the Building Regulations.

The Council requires private amenity space to be provided with new flats.  For a development of this 
size, a total of 1,440 sq metres would be required.  This proposal provides 866 sq metres, on the 
roof of the building, which clearly falls short of delivering the required amount and delivers just 60% 
of the overall requirement.  It is noted that Paragraph 32 of the SPD ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple 
Occupation’ does suggest that a communal area such as a roof terrace is one way of meeting the 
standard.

Paragraph 33 states that a lower standard may be acceptable where the proposal is within easy 
walking distance to a local centre, where the benefits of being close to community facilities and 
public transport are significant.  Clearly, that is the case here.  It also allows for reduced standards 
where the re-use of a building has wider significant community or regeneration benefits.  

The proposal does not give rise to the re-use of the building.  However, it is currently vacant, and its 
redevelopment added to its ongoing derelict status meets with the spirit of what the guidance 
intends.  These are criteria on which the applicants are entitled to rely when formulating their 
proposals.

It is also noted that under recently revised permitted development rights, it would prove possible to 
secure the existing building’s reuse for residential development, subject to prior approval being 
obtained, with no outdoor space deliverable and further roof top extensions which would be capable 
of delivering approximately 40-45 units.  This assumes units of a size consistent with those proposed, 
which themselves largely exceed minimum space standards comfortably.

If 72 residential dwellings can be accepted in land use planning terms, having regard to transport, 
noise, flooding and contaminated land issues, it is in theory then possible for a number of units to 
be achieved via prior approval with no private outdoor space whatsoever.  This is not understood to 
represent a desirable proposition for the applicant but is raised simply to illustrate the difficult 
challenges now faced when seeking to secure acceptable private outdoor space for such 
developments as a result of recent changes to permitted development rights.  

Page 79

Agenda Item 5b



The recent appeal decision at Central Buildings is also noted and is a relevant material consideration 
that cannot be set aside.  Although some of the findings of the Inspector are not accepted, such as 
the undue weight given to the reliance on occupiers using high-specification tumble dryers for 
clothes’ drying, the Inspector has identified similar points in the SPD relating to the development’s 
central location and has also pointed to the proximity of various parks nearby.  These are not 
accepted to represent a substitute for the provision of private outdoor space for residents, but it is 
considered reasonable given the number and quality of those parks for them to offset the level of 
identified shortfall in available private space. 

Additionally, the useable space provided is accessible to all residents and has been designed to a 
high quality specification.  Taken in isolation, an area of 866 sq metres is a substantial area offering 
plentiful space for end users.

In conclusion, the scheme fails to meet the Council’s quantitative requirement for private outdoor 
amenity space to be provided for new flats but appropriate justifications have been presented that 
accord with the provisions of Paragraphs 32-34 of the SPD ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation’.  
This in turn allows the conclusion that there is no direct conflict with Local Plan Policy EQ2 ‘Design’.  
However, whilst there is a noted shortage of provision, there is provision nevertheless.  The failure 
to secure the full quantum required by guidance weighs against the development to a moderate 
degree  in the wider planning balance and is to be considered against all other factors for and 
against.  

Parking, Transport and Highway Safety

The main vehicular access into the site would be from Richmond Road, sharing the access available 
for Allengate car park.  The access into the site adjacent to the building itself would be gated and 
parking is confirmed only to be available for use by residential occupiers.  26 parking spaces are 
provided in total, two of which are accessible, two motor cycle bays, and 80 cycle spaces.  

There are no defined parking requirements in town centres for 5 dwellings or more and standards 
must be considered on a site by site basis.  The Supplementary Planning Document ‘Sustainable 
Travel’ also confirms that even car-free development may be accepted where it can be 
demonstrated that there is good access to public transport and local amenities, and where there is 
no adverse highway safety impact.  

The applicant has provided evidence in their Transport Statement to the effect that there are various 
bus routes in close proximity to the site, and there is good pedestrian accessibility to the site given 
it is within a district centre, fronting onto the pedestrianised area.  A Minimum Accessibility 
Standards Audit (MASA) has been supplied with the application and this also confirms that the site 
is in a highly accessible location, with a variety of sustainable transport options available locally.  

Page 80

Agenda Item 5b



There are two other car parks within the district centre (The Green and Cookslands) which in 
addition to Allengate, comprise over 300 parking spaces.  For residential development, the greatest 
pressures are generally in evenings and at weekends, and consequently, it is at weekends where 
demand will be greatest given that during most evenings there will be reduced demand on parking 
associated with the wider centre.

The applicant has therefore indicated that leasehold arrangements for the flats would allocate 
spaces for some occupiers, and others would be able to apply for permits to park in the district 
centre but there would be limited availability.  That said, it is felt that available supply is sufficient 
to cater for likely demand resulting from the development.

In these circumstances, it is considered that a lower level of car parking is acceptable.  This 
assessment has regard to the appeal allowed in July 2021 for Central Buildings, which also provided 
for levels of parking on-site lower than would be expected were the site outside a district centre.

The Transport Statement has established likely trip rates to be in the order of 7 two way trips in the 
AM peak (8am to 9am) and 11 two way trips during the PM peak period (5pm to 6pm) which would 
amount to less than one vehicle every five minutes in the peak hours.  This level of traffic is easily 
capable of being accommodated.  Though the building is currently vacant, the existing commercial 
space is of a comparable size to that proposed, and it is accepted that if the building was fully 
occupied the number of trips associated with the new proposed units would be no different.

Tracking drawings have been provided demonstrating that refuse can be collected from the area to 
the rear of the building and vehicles can exit the site in forward gear.  Servicing is proposed from the 
pedestrianised section of Moor Lane which is consistent with a large number of other units in the 
centre and would be subject to existing restrictions to preclude it between 0600 and 2200.  

With regard to conditions, a number are attached including a requirement to secure a Car Parking 
Management Strategy to ensure spaces are maintained for residents, and 3 electric vehicle charging 
points are provided which would also be secured by condition and exceed the number required.  

A travel plan is recommended by the Highways Manager and this will enable the promoting of a 
range of sustainable means of travel and will complement the car park management plan.  A 
construction traffic management plan is also required and is incorporated as part of a Construction 
Method Statement (CMS), as is a condition to ensure that redundant vehicle crossings to Richmond 
Road are reconstructed plus a condition ensuring that the proposed new block paving ties in 
effectively with that existing to Moor Lane and Richmond Road.

Having regard to the above, whilst the Highways Manager is of the view that there will be additional 
pressures on parking availability within the centre at certain times, this would not give rise to 
conditions harmful to highway safety and the development can be accommodated acceptably.  
There would be no conflict in this respect with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ3 ‘Accessibility’ or Section 
9 of the National Planning Policy Framework (Promoting sustainable transport), in particular 
paragraph 111. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5b



Flooding and Drainage

The applicant will be required to demonstrate that the requirements of policy EQ8 ‘Flood risk and 
surface water’ are met, including the incorporation of sustainable drainage systems and provision 
for their long-term management and maintenance.  The site is in Flood Zone 1.  

Following receipt of the application the applicants provided information in respect of the Sustainable 
Drainage System (SuDS). It is recommended that the site is drained on a separate system with foul 
water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. This can 
be included in a condition to ensure that this is implemented and would ensure that there is no 
conflict with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ8 ‘Flood Risk and Surface Water’ and the provisions of 
Paragraph 167 of the NPPF.
 
Contaminated Land

A preliminary risk assessment has identified potentially contaminative sources, including Made 
Ground associated with the construction / demolition of  buildings on site, and an electricity sub-
station in the north of the site.  As such, the applicant’s consultants have recommended a site 
investigation to establish the depth and nature of any Made Ground soils and contamination, and 
to obtain information on the ground conditions for a geotechnical assessment. 

The Made Ground and / or infilled basements could be a potential source of ground gases, and it 
has been recommended that ground gas monitoring wells should be installed if deep Made Ground 
is encountered during any intrusive investigation. 

The Contaminated Land Team Leader agrees with these recommendations for a site investigation 
and a full suite of planning conditions and informative form part of the recommendation.  Subject 
to these safeguards the proposals would not conflict with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ6 
‘Contaminated Land’ and the provisions of NPPF paragraph 183.

Air Quality

It has been recommended that electric vehicle recharging points are provided in line with the Sefton 
Council Lowering Transport Emissions Planning Policy Note.  This is addressed by planning condition.  
It has also been recommended that a written scheme to control dust from construction activities 
should be submitted to the Council for prior approval and will be a specific part of a condition 
requiring a Construction Environment Management Plan.  This ensures compliance with Sefton Local 
Plan Policy EQ4 ‘Pollution and Hazards’.

Page 82

Agenda Item 5b



Heritage Impacts

There are no adjacent conservation areas or listed buildings, though some buildings on Moor Lane 
including the Glenn Buildings (North and South) and The George Public House are considered to be 
non-designated heritage assets.  The latter is of such distance from the site that it is not adversely 
affected by the development. Though, as mentioned above, there is a difficult connection to the 
setting of the Glenn Buildings (North), the general setting is likely to be improved overall by the 
removal of the existing derelict, vacant building.

The development therefore gives rise to no conflict with Policy NH15 of the Sefton Local Plan.

Ecology and Habitats Regulations Assessment

Following the application submission, Natural England requested further information to determine 
impacts on the Ribble and Alt Estuaries SPA and Ramsar sites; Sefton Coast SAC and Sefton Coast 
SSSI. It was in turn requested that an assessment be carried out of the operational impacts on 
designated sites via additional recreation pressure.  Following that response, MEAS has completed 
a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).

The following international and national designated sites are identified to be accessible (by foot, car 
and public transport) to the development site. 

• Ribble and Alt Estuaries SPA (2.1km); 
• Ribble and Alt Estuaries Ramsar (2.1 km); 
• Sefton Coast SAC (2.1km); 
• Mersey Estuary SPA (17.4km);
• Mersey Estuary Ramsar (17.4km); 
• Liverpool Bay SPA (11.9km) 
• Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA (17.5km; 
• Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar (17.5km); 
• Dee Estuary SAC (18.7km) 
• Dee Estuary SPA (28.9km); and 
• Dee Estuary Ramsar site (22.9km.) 

As the proposal is for 74 net residential units, this will result in increased visits (and in turn, increased 
recreational pressure) to international and national sites. This may result in significant effects on 
habitats and species for which these sites have been designated. 

Sefton Local Plan’s HRA and the SPD ‘Nature Conservation’ respectively identifies recreational 
pressure from residential development as a Likely Significant Effect alone and in combination. 
Recreational pressure is recognised in the formal statutory Conservation Advice Packages and Site 
Improvement Plans as Medium-High risk to qualifying features of the international and national 
sites. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 5b



An assessment of likely significant effects has been undertaken using the Source Pathway-Receptor 
model, which is based upon the essential features and characteristics of the project only and 
concludes that, without mitigation/preventative measures, there will be likely significant effects on 
the above international and national sites. 

Appropriate Assessment has therefore been undertaken in accordance with Regulation 63 (Habitats 
Regulations 2017) and this concludes that, with mitigation/preventative measures secured through 
the appropriate planning mechanisms, there will be no adverse effect upon the integrity of 
international and national sites. 

Natural England have been consulted on the outcome of this Appropriate Assessment and have 
confirmed that they raise no objections.  The assessment of likely significant effects, an Appropriate 
Assessment Summary and the final comments of Natural England are appended to the Committee 
Report.

The response from MEAS gives rise to no other outstanding concerns but recommends any works 
taking place during the bird breeding season are carried out under appropriate supervision.  Subject 
to appropriate conditions, the scheme gives rise to no conflicts with Sefton Local Plan policies NH2, 
NH3 and NH4.

Climate Change

The site is advantageously situated given its district centre location. This enables higher density 
residential and commercial development offering services to the public whilst drawing residential 
occupiers closer to existing services.  This gives rise to sustainable development which in itself ought 
to reduce the need for travel and facilitate linked trips, in turn, reducing carbon emissions.  

It is also noted that the development will be required to meet energy efficiency measures required 
under the regulatory framework through Part L of the Building Regulations, and as part of that 
detailed assessment at the detailed design stage, Standard Assessment Procedure (‘SAP’) 
Calculations will be undertaken.  Given that these SAP Calculations may generate a requirement for 
decentralised energy, the applicant has identified areas on the roof where Photovoltaics may be 
located as shown on the Roof Plan provided with the application.
 
As such, the building will meet energy efficiency requirements as required by legislation and 
opportunities for photovoltaics are capable of further exploration subject to requirements under 
Part L and viability.  Even if photovoltaics are not delivered at this stage, the scale of roof space 
presents that opportunity in the future. 

In addition, Policy EQ7 allows for major development to incorporate measures to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions where practicable.  One of these measures relates to infrastructure or low emissions 
vehicles and to this extent the scheme is compliant with that policy.  There are no specific issues 
brought by the development that give rise to concerns on this point and there is no conflict with 
Policy EQ7 of the Sefton Local Plan.

Page 84

Agenda Item 5b



Representations 

The proposals have been subject to a considerable number of representations.  The letters of 
objection are from existing residents of the centre and raise concern over direct impacts resulting 
from the development, mostly, overlooking, loss of privacy, parking pressures, increased noise and 
disturbance and the scale of the built form.  

That the letters of objection are from close to hand would afford those concerns a reasonable degree 
of weight, however, it is not accepted that the scheme is unacceptably designed or would give rise 
to the other impacts being claimed.  Planning conditions are recommended where impacts might 
otherwise prove unacceptable and appropriate weight is therefore afforded to those 
representations.

It is also important to contextualise the support for the proposal.  A large number of letters in 
support do not derive from those directly notified of the development, with many from businesses 
and community groups who express support for the developer as much as for the actual 
development itself.  

There are a number of letters in support from Crosby residents too, but the theme of all the support 
is essentially the same in that it suggests that the investment should be supported with spin-off 
benefits likely to accrue and the removal of a derelict eyesore site focussing heavily in some letters.  

Though the support is significant in terms of the number of letters received, its weight is slightly 
tempered by the fact that the vast majority of them do not come directly from notifications sent by 
the Council.  That notwithstanding, the comments received still accord in many respects with the 
view of officers that the significant economic and regeneration benefits brought about by the 
development merit support being offered, and it is felt that the level of support should be 
considered to be at least on a par with that advanced by objectors.  

On balance, it is considered that the wider public support for the proposals adds a small degree of 
weight in favour of the development proposed.

Other Matters

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines how high quality and reliable 
communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being, the 
importance of which is now being demonstrated during the Coronavirus Pandemic. The inclusion of 
adequate broadband facilities for each residential unit can be secured by a condition to comply with 
the NPPF and Local Plan Policy IN1 ‘Infrastructure and Developer Contributions’.

As stated above, viability issues do not allow for the provision of financial contributions towards 
school education.

Page 85

Agenda Item 5b



Section 106 Legal Agreement 

The report has outlined a single planning obligation, which will be included in a Section 106 legal 
agreement.  This is in relation to providing a financial contribution to off-site affordable housing, 
with the monies to be spent in line with the above hierarchy set out by the Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘Affordable Housing’.  

This is for a sum of £204,738.  It is considered that this meets the necessary planning tests and are 
relevant to the development and comply with Local Plan Policy IN1 ‘Infrastructure and Developer 
Contributions’.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

The benefits of the scheme relate to a quality design that deals very effectively with a currently 
derelict and vacant site, bringing investment and regeneration to the borough.  The development 
will bring new residents to the village and with it increased spending power to use in existing services 
and facilities, whilst revitalising the existing commercial offer in this part of Crosby.  These factors 
weigh significantly in favour of the development.  This scheme would make a significant contribute 
to the Council’s five year housing supply position and this also weighs significantly in favour of the 
development.

It is considered by the Highway Manager that parking levels are acceptable and will not bring 
additional concern over highway safety.  There are no identifiable adverse impacts on fauthe 
environment, in relation to air quality, contaminated land, drainage, ecology or in respect of non-
designated heritage assets.  Impacts on nearby and future occupiers can also be appropriately 
managed.  These factors attract neutral weight in the planning balance.

It is accepted that the development will not deliver the full amount of on-site affordable housing 
required by policy.  However, the applicant has confirmed agreement to an off-site financial 
contribution and this has been established as appropriate following an open and transparent review 
of the applicant’s viability report by the Council’s retained consultant, CP Viability.  This approach is 
endorsed by Policy HC1 of the Sefton Local Plan and the failure to make the full on-site provision is 
not therefore considered to weigh against the development.

In relation to the disadvantages of the scheme, it provides only 60% of the private amenity space 
required by the Council’s ‘Supplementary Planning Guidance’.  However the applicant is considered 
to have taken advantage of all available opportunities to provide as much private amenity space as 
is practicable. The site’s central location plus other nearby facilities (acknowledged via HRA) and the 
possibilities now ranging via permitted development is such that this harm is not considered to be 
sufficient to outweigh the other factors favouring the granting of planning permission. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5b



In assessing any proposal of this nature, all relevant matters must be weighed and a balanced view 
taken. The scheme offers significant regeneration benefits and will bring a positive use to a site 
which is derelict at present and will likely continue to remain the case without any meaningful form 
of investment.  

As such the scheme offers a range of regeneration benefits - physical, economic and social - and 
would be a stimulus for further redevelopment in Crosby. These are given significant weight in the 
planning balance and it is considered that these outweigh the identified lack of outdoor amenity 
space. In all other respects the proposal accords with national and local planning policy and is 
recommended for approval subject to the completion of a legal agreement and conditions as set out 
below.

Recommendation - Approve with conditions subject to completion of 
Section 106 Agreement to secure a commuted sum payment of £204,738 
(at 2021/22 rates) towards affordable housing off-site.

Time Limit

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 
91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Approved Plans

2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents:
 
- RBA_187_(2-)_A001 Revision P01 – ‘Existing Location Plan’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A002 Revision P01 – ‘Existing Site Aerials’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A003 Revision P01 – ‘Existing Elevations’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A100 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Site Plan – In Context’ 
- RBA_187_(2-)_A101 Revision P02– ‘Proposed Ground Floor Plan’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A103 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Typical First & Second Floor Plan’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A104 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Third Floor’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A105 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Fourth Floor’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A106 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Roof Plan’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A201 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Elevations – Sheet 01’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A202 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Elevations – Sheet 02’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A203 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Elevations – Sheet 03’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A204 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Contextual Rendered Elevations’
- RBA_187_(2-)_A300 Revision P02 – ‘Proposed Interface Compliance Diagram’

Page 87

Agenda Item 5b



- RBA_187_(2-)_A301 Revision P01 – ‘Proposed Enablement Strategy’
- 1014-ASRI-XX-XX-DR-L-0001 Revision 00 – ‘Landscape Ground Floor Plan’
- 1014-ASRI-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 Revision 00 – ‘Fourth Floor Landscape Arrangement’
- 10933_T:200:1:1 – ‘Topographical Survey’
- CGIs and sketch visuals

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.

Before the Development is Commenced

3) No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Statement shall provide for: 

i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
iv) the location of a site compound; 
v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 
vi) details of all wheel washing facilities including provision for the wheel washing of 

every vehicle directly engaged in construction/demolition activity prior to it leaving 
the site;

vii) measures to control noise and vibration during construction, including details of 
piling and the days/hours when piling will take place; 

viii) details of external lighting during construction; 
ix) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 

works; 
x) details of construction working hours;
xi) The name and contact details of person(s) accountable for air quality and dust

issues, and
xii) A programme for issuing information on construction activities to residents that

border the site.

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period for the development. 

Reason: To safeguard the conditions of neighbouring/adjacent occupiers and land users.

4) No development shall commence until a preliminary investigation report has been submitted 
to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The report must include:

 - Desk study
 - Site reconnaissance

Page 88

Agenda Item 5b



 - Data assessment and reporting
 - Formulation of initial conceptual model
 - Preliminary risk assessment

If the Preliminary Risk Assessment identifies there are potentially unacceptable risks a detailed 
scope of works for an intrusive investigation, including details of the risk assessment 
methodologies, must be prepared by a competent person (as defined in the National Planning 
Policy Framework, revised July 2021). The contents of the scheme and scope of works are 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to ensure 
that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property and 
residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

5) No development shall commence until the approved scope of works for the investigation and 
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall 
include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate 
remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage.  Remediation shall proceed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to ensure 
that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property and 
residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

6) No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition 
suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant 
linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy must include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure 
that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 on completion of the development.  The remediation strategy must be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details at all times.

Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to ensure 
that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5b



minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property and 
residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

During Building Works

7) Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling full details of an information pack to be provided 
informing residents of the presence and importance of the designated nature sites, and how 
residents can help protect them shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The pack shall include a responsible user code and a list of alternative 
greenspaces.  The agreed information must be supplied to occupiers on first occupation of 
each dwelling. 

Reason: To mitigate recreational pressure on the designated coast.

8) No development shall commence above slab level until details of the implementation, 
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Those details shall include: 

i) a timetable for its implementation, and 
ii) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall 

include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system 
throughout its lifetime.  

The sustainable drainage system shall be implemented and thereafter, managed and 
maintained in perpetuity in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: These details are needed prior to the commencement of development in case design 
changes are necessary; in order to promote sustainable development, in order to secure 
proper drainage and to manage risk of flooding and pollution.

9) No development shall commence above slab level until a detailed scheme of highway 
improvement works has been submitted to the local planning authority for its written 
approval. The scheme shall include the full reconstruction of the two redundant vehicle 
crossings as footway on Richmond Road and works to the existing block paviours on the Moor 
Lane/Richmond Road frontage to ensure the proposed areas of hard landscaping tie into the 
existing footway.  No part of the development shall be brought into use until the highway 
improvement works and accesses have been constructed in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Page 90

Agenda Item 5b



10) No part of the residential development shall be occupied until a Car Parking Management Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which sets out 
measures ensuring they will be available for residents of the development at all times. The 
provisions of the Car Parking Management Plan shall be implemented and strictly adhered to 
and shall not be varied other than through agreement with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11) Within six months of the development being first occupied or brought into use a Travel Plan 
comprising immediate, continuing and long-term measures to promote and encourage 
alternatives to single-occupancy car use has been prepared, submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall then be implemented, 
monitored and reviewed in accordance with the agreed Travel Plan Targets. 

Reason: In order to meet sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 
occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking & cycling.

12) No development shall commence above slab level until details of the materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the development are submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason: These details are required prior to external construction to ensure an acceptable 
visual appearance to the development.

13) No development shall commence above slab level until a scheme of sound insulation to 
protect future residents from noise associated with the ground floor commercial use has been 
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter. 

Reason: To ensure that no harm results to the living conditions of residents above proposed 
ground floor commercial uses.

14) No development shall commence above slab level until a timetable for the provision of all 
private outdoor amenity space in conjunction with drawing no. 1014-ASRI-XX-XX-DR-L-0002 
Revision 00 – ‘Fourth Floor Landscape Arrangement’, including confirmation of full access for 
all properties, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
The private outdoor amenity space shall be made available for occupiers of the development 
at all times thereafter.

Before the Development is Occupied

15) A scheme of works for the proposed vehicular and/or pedestrian accesses shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  No part of the development shall 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5b



be brought into use until a means of vehicular and/or pedestrian access to the 
site/development has been constructed. These works shall be in accordance with the scheme 
approved above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

16) No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, turning 
and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained thereafter for that 
specific use.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

17) A minimum of 3 no. electric vehicle charging points shall be provided in accordance with a 
scheme to be approved in writing by the local planning authority. The charging points shall be 
installed and made fully operational prior to first occupation of the development, and the 
equipment shall be retained in working order thereafter.

Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 
emissions.

18) No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 
connections to all proposed dwellings within the development have been submitted and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The infrastructure shall be installed prior 
to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 
economic growth.

19) Prior to the first use, or subsequent alternative use, of the commercial units, a scheme of noise 
and odour control for any kitchen equipment, plant or equipment shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter. 

Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of adjoining occupiers and to prevent unacceptable 
noise and odour in the wider district centre.

20) a) The approved remediation strategy must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior 
to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation.

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation 

Page 92

Agenda Item 5b



objectives and criteria must be produced and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority, prior to commencement of use of the development.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

21) a) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the Local Planning 
Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, verification of the works must be included in the verification report required by 
Condition 19.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

Ongoing Conditions

22) Foul and surface water shall be drained from separate systems at all times.

Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

23) The commercial units on the ground floor of the development hereby permitted, shown on 
drawing no RBA_187_(2-)_A101 Revision P02– ‘Proposed Ground Floor Plan’, shall be used for 
only for the uses falling within Class E of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification):

i)  Retail
ii) Restaurant / Café
iii) Banks / Financial Services
iv) Indoor sport, recreation and fitness

Reason: To ensure the vitality and viability of the town centre is retained.

24) No live or recorded music or entertainment shall be provided in the commercial units other 
than background music.

Page 93

Agenda Item 5b



Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of adjoining users.

25) Use of the commercial units hereby permitted shall only take place between the hours of 
08:00-23:00 on any day, including Sundays and Bank Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of adjoining users.
 
Notes to Applicant

1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  
Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4569 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

2) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a Council 
approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways Development 
and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information

3) Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 
required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence 
until conditions 5 and 6 above have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found 
after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected 
by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing, until condition 20 has been complied with in relation to that contamination.  
Contaminated land planning conditions must be implemented and completed in the order 
shown on the decision notice above.

4) There are a variety of piling methods available, some of which cause considerably greater noise 
and vibration than others. It is common for the prevailing ground conditions to influence the 
chosen method of piling. Where the prevailing ground conditions would permit more than one 
piling method, the Council would expect the contractor to choose the method which causes 
the least amount of noise and vibration, in accordance with the following hierarchy

- Pressed-in methods, e.g. Hydraulic jacking
- Auger / bored piling
- Diaphragm Walling
- Vibratory piling or vibro-replacement
- Driven piling or dynamic consolidation
- Should the contractor propose to use a method which is not the preferred lower impact 

option, then satisfactory justification will need to be provided in order to demonstrate the 
piling method that is utilised meets Best Practicable Means (BPM). Please note vibration 
monitoring will be required for all piling projects. For further advice on what to include in your 
piling methodology scheme and current standards please contact Sefton’s Pollution Control 
Team. 

Page 94

Agenda Item 5b



5) The proposal also includes a Section 106 Agreement.

Page 95

Agenda Item 5b



Page 1 of 2 
 

Date: 29 September 2021 
Our ref:  367416 
Your ref: DC/2021/01032 
  
 

 
 
 

Steve Faulkner 
Sefton Council  
 
BY EMAIL ONLY 
 
 

 Hornbeam House 

 Crewe Business Park 
 Electra Way 

 Crewe 
 Cheshire 

 CW1 6GJ 

 
 T 0300 060 3900 

  

 
Dear Mr Faulkner 
 
Planning consultation: Erection of a part four/part five storey building for mixed use including a 
commercial f loorspace (Class E) at ground floor and 74 No. residential apartments (Class C3) on 
upper floors, roof terraces at fourth floor level and associated works including access and 
landscaping.   
Location: Telegraph House Moor Lane Crosby. 
 
Thank you for your consultation received by Natural England on 08 September 2021.  
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the 
natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future 
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.    
 

 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND’S ADVICE 
 
NO OBJECTION - SUBJECT TO APPROPRIATE MITIGATION BEING SECURED 
 
We consider that without appropriate mitigation the application would have an adverse effect on 
the integrity of : 
 

• Sefton Coast Special Area of  Conservation (SAC) 

• Ribble & Alt Estuaries Special Protection Area (SPA) 

• Ribble & Alt Estuaries Ramsar 
• Mersey Narrows & North Wirral Foreshore SPA 

• Mersey Narrows & North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar 

• Sefton Coast Site of Special Scientif ic Interest (SSSI) 
• Mersey Narrows SSSI 

 
In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable, the following 
mitigation measures should be secured:  
 

• Provision of the Sefton advisory leaflet explaining the sensitives of the nearby 
designated sites and including a ‘responsible user code’.  

 
We advise that an appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to any planning 
permission to secure these measures. 
 

 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5b



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
Internationally and nationally designated sites  
The application site is within 2.6km of Sefton Coast SAC, Ribble & Alt Estuaries SPA, Ribble & Alt 
Estuaries Ramsar and Sefton Coast SSSI. The site is also within 2.8km of Mersey Narrows & North 
Wirral Foreshore SPA, Mersey Narrows & North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar and Mersey Narrows 
SSSI.  
 
Please see the subsequent sections of this letter for our advice relating to SSSI features.  
 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
Natural England notes that your authority, as competent authority, has undertaken an appropriate 
assessment of the proposal in accordance with regulation 63 of the Conservation of Species and 
Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended). Natural England is a statutory consultee on the 
appropriate assessment stage of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process.  
 
The appropriate assessment concludes that your authority is able to ascertain that the proposal will 
not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any of the sites in question. Having considered the 
assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate for all identif ied adverse effects that could 
potentially occur as a result of the proposal, Natural England advises that we concur with the 
assessment conclusions, providing that all mitigation measures are appropriately secured in any 
planning permission given.  
 
We advise the Sefton advisory leaflet is secured by a suitably worded planning condition to mitigate 
any increased recreational pressure on nearby designated sites.  
 
Sefton Coast SSSI and Mersey Narrows SSSI 
Our concerns regarding the potential impacts upon the above SSSI’s coincide with our concerns 
regarding the potential impacts upon the international designated sites, therefore we are content 
that providing the application is undertaken in strict accordance with the details submitted  
and providing the above conditions are secured, the development is not likely to damage the 
interest features for which the site has been notif ied. 
 
Please note that if your authority is minded to grant planning permission contrary to the advice in 
this letter, you are required under Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) to notify Natural England of the permission, the terms on which it is proposed to grant it 
and how, if at all, your authority has taken account of Natural England’s advice. You must also allow 
a further period of 21 days before the operation can commence. 
 
If you have any queries relating to the advice in this letter please contact  me on the details below. 
For any new consultations, or to provide further information on this consultation please send your 
correspondences to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 
Should the proposal change, please consult us again.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Alice Watson 
Development and Planning Adviser 
Cheshire, Greater Manchester, Merseyside & Lancashire 
Alice.Watson@naturalengland.org.uk  
 
 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk
mailto:Alice.Watson@naturalengland.org.uk


Page 98

Agenda Item 5b



Page 99

Agenda Item 5b



Page 100

Agenda Item 5b



Page 101

Agenda Item 5b



Page 102

Agenda Item 5b



Page 103

Agenda Item 5b



Page 104

Agenda Item 5b



Page 105

Agenda Item 5b



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 20th October 2021 

Subject:  DC/2021/00124 
 Land At Town Lane, Southport         
Proposal: Application under s.106BA of the Act to vary the requirements secured by a s.106 

planning obligation attached to planning permission S/2012/0400 for: 
1. Schedule 1 (Lancashire Highway Contribution) to be deleted in its entirety. 
2. Schedule 2 (Sefton Highway Contribution) to be deleted in its entirety. 
3. Schedule 9 (Education Contribution) to be deleted in its entirety (this Schedule 

was introduced pursuant to the supplemental deed dated 27 September 2018). 
4. The definition Affordable Housing Supply Plan is to be replaced. 
5. The plan at Annex 1 of the deed is to be replaced. 
6. The definition Agreed Mix is to be deleted and replaced. 
7. Clause 4.1 of the amended section 106 Agreement is to be replaced. 

 
Applicant: BDW Trading Limited 
 

Agent: Ms Elaine Field 
 Weightmans LLP  

Ward:  Kew Ward Type: Revised affordable housing obligation  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Matter of Principle 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
The applicant has been faced with major issues during the construction of 759 homes as part of a 
wider residential led mixed use development, which has impacted on both the viability of the 
development and the delivery of the housing on the site. In light of the unforeseen works, mainly 
connected with a failed drainage solution necessitating a complete and costly redesign, the 
applicant considers that there is now a need to revisit the viability of the scheme to avoid the 
remainder of the scheme stalling or worse case, seeing the site being mothballed. 
 
The applicant is, therefore, proposing to amend the Section 106 legal agreement (S106) to provide 
a total of 127 affordable dwellings on site (instead of 144) through the delivery of the scheme, but 
remove all off-site infrastructure contributions (a combined total of £230,855 when index linked to 
current prices).   
 
The key issues to consider are whether the planning policy contributions set out in the S106 
agreement (including affordable housing and infrastructure contributions) are still necessary and 
whether they can be viably delivered.  If not, what the implications of this may be and whether this 
would be acceptable.  
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 5c



Taking all matters into consideration, it is considered that the Council should agree to the 
proposed amendments to the S106 agreement, other than the financial contribution towards the 
off site highway works, located outside of the Sefton Boundary in neighbouring West Lancashire. 
 

Recommendation: To agree to amend the Section 106 agreement as 
follows: 
 
1.  Schedule 2 (Sefton Highway Contribution) to be deleted in its 

entirety  
2.  Schedule 9 (Education Contribution) to be deleted in its entirety (this 

Schedule was introduced pursuant to the supplemental deed dated 
27 September 2018). 

3.  The definition Affordable Housing Supply Plan is to be replaced. 
4.  The plan at Annex 1 of the deed is to be replaced. 
5.  The definition Agreed Mix is to be deleted and replaced. 
6. Clause 4.1 of the amended section 106 Agreement is to be replaced.  
 
   
Case Officer Kevin Baker 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
  Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QN6LQANW06900 

Page 108

Agenda Item 5c



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 5c



The Site 
 
The application site is a large scale, partially completed residential site in Kew, Southport.  It is 
situated off Town Lane/Birkdale Cop and is bound to the north east /east by residential properties, 
by Boundary Brook to the south/south east, by Birkdale Cop to the west (with open fields beyond), 
and by Southport Business Park and open land to the north. 
 
The site forms part of a wider residential led mixed use development, and is a key residential 
development site being one of Sefton’s largest housing delivery sites i.e. it is the largest housing 
site in Southport.  It is located on a previous shallow landfill site with poor ground conditions. 
 
History 
  
Planning Application History 
 
In March 2014, planning permission was granted for: 
 
 “Part (A) Erection of 668 houses and apartments; an extra care development comprising of 126 
homes and 44 bed respite and dementia care building; a unit comprising 216 sq m retail; associated 
hard and soft landscaping and new access and highways. Part (B) Outline planning permission for a 
business park with uses B1, B2, B8 and Sui Generis car Showroom” (Application ref: S/2012/0400) 
 
The application was granted subject to a S106 legal agreement, which secured the following: 
- Management and maintenance of all public open spaces, including the Sustainable urban 

drainage systems 
-  The delivery of 15.9% affordable housing (by bedspaces) setting out tenures, rental levels 

nomination rights and the timing of delivery 
-  Commitment to working with Build Sefton to secure opportunities for Local Labour 
-  Commuted sum payment of £10,000 towards improved capacity and safety at roundabout 

Junction of Scarisbrick New Road/Meols Cop Road/New Foul Lane/Town Lane.  
-  Commuted sum payment of £25,000 towards a scheme of interactive signs and safety measures 

around the junction of Birkdale Cop/Heathey Lane (outside the Sefton borough), including the 
need to enter into a separate supplementary agreement with Lancashire County Council to 
facilitate these works 

- The delivery of 30% affordable housing within the extra care facility. 
 
In addition to the above, and very much separate to the Section 106 agreement (referred to as S106), 
the applicant entered into a legal contract with the Council to provide a phased  commuted sum  
payment over the life of the housing development of £2.3 million towards the cost of the 
development of the final phase of Southport Business Park. This is on land described as ‘The North 
East Quadrant’ (a  payment otherwise known as the ‘Commercial Subsidy’) comprising land 
contracted to Wilson Bowden Developments (a sister company of David Wilson Homes).  Due to 
scheme viability changes an amount of £1.15m (i.e. half that in the original contract) is now being 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5c



offered to the Council, because of claimed reduced overall scheme viability, and this is subject of 
separate and ongoing discussions with the Council.  This is covered below in greater detail. 

  
Since the original permission was granted, there have been four key ‘re-plan’ applications (i.e. part 
alternative schemes to that originally granted) which directly relate to this application. These are: 
 
- DC/2016/01102: Erection of 89 dwellings (including two 4 storey apartment blocks) and all 

associated works.  (Alternative in part to S/2012/0400 approved 03/03/2014) 
Approved 16 November 2016 (Phase 3). 
 

- DC/2018/00085: The erection of 91 dwellings within Phase 4 (including one 4 storey apartment 
and five 3 storey apartments), 119 dwellings within Phase 6 (including one 3 
storey apartment) and all associated works (re-plan of original Plots H1-H58 & 
J1- J97 from Planning Approval ref: S/2012/0400 plus additional 21 units).  
Approved 28 September 2018. 

 
- DC/2018/01015: DC/2018/01015 – Erection of 46 dwellings within Phase 5A with associated 

works.  Approved 16 November 2018. 
 
- DC/2018/02052: Erection of 57 dwellings within Phase 7, 114 dwellings within Phase 8, 93 

dwellings within Phase 9 and all associated works (re-plan of original plots 
C18-C46, D1-D77,E80-E96, F1-F96 & G1-G30 from planning approval 
S/2012/0400, plus additional 16 units).   Approved 29 March 2019. 

 
All of the above applications relate to changes made to the residential aspect of the development.  
They sought alternative proposals to various phases of the residential element of the development 
(9 in total based on the latest development programme), specifically phases 3, 4, 5A, 6, 7, 8, and 9.  
These applications approved an increase in the number of residential units proposed from 668 to 
759 (combined increase of 91 units, of which the number of affordable houses has increased to 
144, maintaining the same affordable housing percentage as initially approved).  They also 
secured, through supplementary agreements to the original S106 attached to planning application 
S/2012/0400, a combined total of £170,331 towards education provision on the additional 91 units 
added to the original scheme. 
 
A number of other applications have been submitted seeking minor and non-material 
amendments, as well as discharging conditions relating primarily to enabling works.  
 
Site History 
 
From the outset, the site was known to have very difficult ground conditions, owing to its location 
in an area comprising soft sand and silts (which have poor bearing capacity), together with its 
former use as a landfill.  The significant site difficulties have resulted in the site taking almost 30 
years to come forward for development, having been allocated in two Unitary Developmnet Plans 
before eventually starting development in 2015.  

Page 111

Agenda Item 5c



 
During the construction process for the housing, the applicant identified major issues with respect 
to the ground conditions, which has resulted in costs escalating significantly above initial 
expectations.  This has included failed drainage solutions on multiple occasions leading to 
significant issues with respect to the sewer installations; original engineer contractors going into 
administration (2018) requiring a third party consultant to design a new costly drainage solution; 
significant remedial works; additional abnormal costs including the need for a pump station, 
electrical sub stations, service diversion, cart away and piling.  The ground conditions are described 
by the applicant as the most difficult of any site they have had to deal with nationally and their on-
site costs are said to be of a level not experienced by the company on other sites. 
 
As it stands, it is understood that 312 market houses have to date been completed on site with 55 
affordable dwellings, with a further 92 dwellings having started but not finished.  Overall, 459 
dwellings have therefore either been completed or construction has started, leaving 300 to be 
commenced.  It is understood that the applicant has completed Phase 1 and 3 of the residential 
development and has now started on all phases but one (that being phase 8).   
 
The care home (to be provided by Priory Asset Management),  which is not affected by these 
technical problems due to it being largely an institutional building, has yet to commence on site, 
whilst  the business park (specifically the ‘North East Quadrant’ controlled by Wilson Bowden 
Developments) has also stalled. 

 

Consultations 
 
Highways 
No objections to the removal of the £10,000 highway contribution. 
 
Lancashire County Council 
Object to the loss of a financial contribution of £25,000 to provide safety improvements to the 
junction of Birkdale Cop and Heathey Lane.  

 
Neighbour Representations 

A site notice was displayed but no comments have been received. 
Policy Context 
 
The site has been earmarked for residential development for many years, preceding the Sefton 
Local Plan and having been allocated for housing in two successive Development Plans.  However, 
whilst previously allocated for housing, the Local Plan recognised the longstanding nature of the 
site, planning permissions and commencement of development.  Strictly speaking, therefore, and 
for the avoidance of doubt, the application site lies within an area designated as primarily 
residential in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   
  

Page 112

Agenda Item 5c



Assessment of the Proposal 
 
Introduction 
 
As recognised in the planning history, the applicant has been faced with major issues during the 
construction phase, which has impacted on both the viability of the development and the delivery 
of the housing on site.  The applicant has continually emphasised that these issues are 
unprecedented and could not have been anticipated at the time of the original application.   In 
light of the significant additional unanticipated works and costs, the applicant considers that there 
is now a need to review the viability of the scheme to avoid it from stalling or, worse case, seeing 
the site being mothballed. 
 
The applicant is, therefore, proposing to amend the S106 agreement to provide a total of 127 
(instead of 144) affordable dwellings on site through the delivery of the scheme, but remove all 
infrastructure contributions (a combined total of £230,855 when index linked to current prices).   
 
The key issue to consider, therefore, is whether the planning policy contributions set out in the 
S106 agreement (including affordable housing and infrastructure contributions) are still necessary 
and whether they can be viably delivered.  If not, what the implications of this may be and 
whether this would be acceptable.    
 
Affordable Housing Provision 
 
Despite the fact that, at the time, the policy requirement for affordable housing provision was 30% 
by bedspaces, the housing element of the development was subject to a comprehensive viability 
assessment, acknowledging the longstanding technical problems which the site faced.  This was 
analysed by the Council’s retained viability consultants at the time, Three Dragons, who 
considered that just over 15% affordable housing by bedspaces was acceptable.  This was based on 
a constrained development site and reflective of the requirement to make a reasonable return on 
existing use land value and, in the case of this development, to provide a financial contribution (of 
£2.3 million) to the wider business park development (the Commercial Subsidy).  A total, 
therefore, of 127 affordable housing units were secured via the S106 agreement in the original 
permission.  These were proposed to be interspersed throughout the development in line with the 
Council’s ‘pepperpotting’ requirement and a phasing programme.   
 
As recognised in the planning history, the number of houses approved on the development has 
increased to 759 houses.   Under the various ‘re-plan’ amendments, the number of affordable 
housing units increased to 144 (increase of 17 units).  This was retaining the ‘just over 15% 
affordable housing by bedspaces’ but equivalent to 19% affordable housing by dwellings (because 
the affordable housing units are, in general, smaller than the market dwellings in this scheme.).   
 
The proposed amendment to the S106 would limit the provision of affordable housing to 127 
dwellings (which is what the applicant has already contractually agreed with the registered 

Page 113

Agenda Item 5c



provider – the body which would manage these dwellings).  This would be less than the 15.9% 
provision (based on bed spaces) secured by the S106 agreement because of the increased number 
of dwellings subsequently proposed.  It must be noted that the legal agreement sought to 
calculate affordable housing provision based on bedspaces as this was the policy requirement at 
the time.  The Council’s current guidelines, however, for calculating affordable housing provision, 
which were recently amended in line with National Planning Policy, are based on housing units.  
Consequently, if the proposed affordable housing provision were calculated on housing units 
rather than bedspaces, the overall affordable housing provision would work out at just shy of 17%. 
 
There are a couple of aspects therefore which need to be considered.  Firstly, the applicant is still 
committed to providing a large number of affordable homes within the residential element of the 
development (127 in total).    Secondly, whilst it is unfortunate that the applicant cannot 
accommodate the additional affordable houses agreed under the various amendments, when 
calculated as units rather than bedspaces, the difference in housing provision is marginal (i.e. 2%).     
 
The Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment has calculated the affordable housing need 
across the Borough.  In this instance, it is recognised that Southport has the highest affordable 
housing need across Sefton as a whole, both quantitively and by the proportion of borough 
households in Southport.  To put it into perspective, over 50% of Sefton’s annual (and total) 
affordable housing need is in Southport.  Consequently, there is a continuing need for affordable 
housing in the area and a matter of principle to secure as much affordable housing as possible.   
    
The original permission secured the full 30% affordable housing delivery on the 126 units of the 
extra care scheme.  This is unaffected by the proposed amendments being sought. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
Highway safety improvements within Sefton 
 
The Transport Assessment submitted with the 2012 application assessed the impact of the 
development on the roundabout junction of Scarisbrick New Road (A570)/Meols Cop Road/New 
Foul Lane/Town Lane (Kew)/McDonald’s/Tesco access road.  A very modest improvement to the 
Town Lane (Kew) approach was identified as required, but this would have had limited benefit in 
terms of the existing levels of congestion that is regularly experienced at this junction. Rather than 
implement the identified improvement which would admittedly address the effects of the 
proposed development, a contribution of £10,000 was secured towards a more comprehensive 
scheme to improve the capacity and safety in the longer term. 
 
However, since planning permission was granted, the Council’s Highways Manager has confirmed 
that funding has been secured separately by the Combined Authority towards the Southport 
Eastern Access scheme, which includes modifications to the roundabout.  Given the small amount 
of money secured under the original permission and the recent developments towards the wider 
highway network, the Highways Manager is satisfied that the contribution is no longer necessary 
to make the development acceptable in highway safety terms.  

Page 114

Agenda Item 5c



 
Highway safety improvements to the junction of Birkdale Cop and Heathey Lane (within West 
Lancashire) 
 
Under the original 2014 permission, Lancashire County Council determined that there was a 
detrimental impact on highway safety within the vicinity of the site, at the junction of Birkdale Cop 
and Heathey Lane.  In order to address the safety risk present, a contribution of £25,000 was 
sought and secured to provide safety improvements to the junction of Birkdale Cop and Heathey 
Lane.   
 
In assessing whether the measures previously secured are still necessary, Lancashire County 
Council’s Highways team have carried out a further analysis of the collision data available to them.  
The analysis has identified that the risk to drivers at this junction, due to speed influencing the 
ability for drivers to manoeuvre the junction, remains present.  Lancashire County Council have 
therefore objected to the loss of the financial contribution. 
 
With no evidence to argue otherwise, it is considered that the loss of this financial contribution 
would give rise to a highway safety risk.  Negotiations have been had with the applicant on this 
matter, who has agreed to maintain this payment should it be considered necessary.  Based on the 
advice received and lack of evidence to argue otherwise, such requirement remains necessary and 
should be retained.   
 
Education Contributions 
 
The Council currently secure contributions towards primary education from new housing 
development in some parts of Sefton, including Southport. These contributions are not allocated 
to any specific school until it is clear which schools require additional capacity. This decision may 
be made several years after the contribution is secured and combined with contributions from 
other local developments. It may not always be the nearest school to a development that is 
proposed for expansion. 
 
The original proposal for 668 houses pre-dated the requirement for developer contributions for 
local primary schools (i.e. September 2017).  Nevertheless, in anticipation of the additional housing 
in the area, Kew Woods Primary was expanded to a two form entry (60 places per year group) to 
address any additional demand from the development. 
 
The key ‘re-plan’ applications identified in the planning history were assessed under the adopted 
Local Plan, which in accordance with Policy IN1 (Infrastructure and Developer Contributions) 
required a financial contribution of circa £170,000 towards primary education costs in the Kew and 
Norwood Wards. 
 
In all of the key ‘replan’ applications it was considered reasonable that education contributions be 
assessed on the basis of the increase in units over and above what was previously approved but 
discounting the 1 bed units.  The contributions were sought prior to the occupation of a unit on 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5c



any of the affected phases. 
 
The contribution from these additional homes would have contributed to the longer term 
requirement for additional primary school capacity in Southport.  However, there has been some 
additional capacity in the Southport area in recent years, in part to accommodate the growth likely 
to be generated by the implementation of the Sefton Local Plan, and it is considered that 
additional capacity can be funded through contributions secured on developments that do not 
have the same viability concerns as this site 
 
Consequently, whilst the current proposal to remove the entire education contribution would fail 
to meet the requirements of Local Plan Policy IN1, it is considered that the loss would not 
undermine education provision in these wards and such requirement is no longer necessary.     
 
Viability  
 
Para 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework confirms that planning applications that comply 
with the local plan policies should be assumed to be viable.  It is up to the applicant to 
demonstrate whether circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment.  It does go on, 
however, to say that the weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision 
maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case.  Additionally, Planning Practice Guidance 
suggests that an acceptable profit for a developer is between 15% and 20%, and in less than 
straightforward schemes, which this is, would likely be closer to the higher figure due to the 
complexity of the site.  This is the risk incentive to developing a site. 
 
In justifying the applicant’s case, Cushman and Wakefield have been appointed by the applicant to 
undertake an initial assessment of the viability of the scheme.  This report concludes that, based 
on the usual parameters of a viability assessment, there is a strong justification to remove the 
S106 contributions in order to prevent the scheme from stalling.   
 
The applicant suggests that even with the removal of these financial obligations and whilst it 
would move the scheme closer to profitability it would not put it to a point that would make the 
scheme viable, although they believe that it should ‘enable the Group to continue with the 
development of the site.’  For clarity, the scheme does make a profit, however, this is not at a level 
which would make the scheme viable and normally incentivise a developer to take the project 
forward.  It is evident, however, that the applicant is demonstrating a commitment to continue 
with the development, despite the financial difficulties they are facing. 
 
To verify the viability assessment, the Council’s retained viability consultants, CP Viability, have 
been instructed to undertake an independent assessment of this report.  To support their 
assessment and recognising the complexity of any appraisal (and the financial/viability 
interrelationship between the requested S106 changes and the Business Park Commercial Subsidy) 
they have engaged specialist cost consultancy support to appraise the abnormal development 
costs. The cost consultancy’s findings are reflected in CP Viability’s final report. 
 

Page 116

Agenda Item 5c



Accordingly, CP Viability have concluded: 
 
(i) The Planning Practice Guidance on viability is clear that the minimum level of profit for a 

housing scheme sold on a speculative basis is 15% on revenue. However, in their experience 
this tends to be for smaller projects with low or nil associated abnormal costs. For large, multi-
phased schemes with significant abnormal costs, the level of return expected for a 
housebuilder should typically be higher (pushing towards the upper end of the range set out in 
the guidance, which is 20% on revenue).  

 
(ii) Given the large scale nature of the subject scheme and the high level of abnormal costs, a 

developer profit of 19.09% on revenue would be expected if a third-party developer were to 
complete the scheme (which is how viability must be assessed – based on what the ‘typical’ or 
‘average’ developer would require as a return). 

 
(iii) Notwithstanding the above, in all three of CP Viability’s tested scenarios (which excludes the 

adjusted commercial subsidy payment – see below point (iv)) the scheme generates a 
developer profit well below the guidance minimum of 15% on revenue (i.e. the range of profit 
shown is 10.13% to 12.90% on revenue). They argue that this points to the scheme being 
unviable when measured against the parameters of viability set out in the guidance. 

 
(iv) As stated above, all three of the scenarios tested exclude any Commercial Subsidy payment 

(see below). As noted, the applicant (through discussions/negotiations with the Council’s 
officers) is proposing to make a payment of £1.15m towards the Commercial Subsidy. With 
this payment included the developer profit shown in the appraisals reduces to 9.04% to 
10.44% on revenue (i.e. the scheme is even less viable). 

 
Accordingly, CP Viability have advised that following the requirements of the viability guidance the 
scheme does not meet the minimum profit deemed necessary for a viable scheme (even before 
the commercial subsidy payment of £1.15m is included). On this basis, they conclude that the 
applicant’s assertion that the scheme is unviable and subsequently requires some assistance to 
continue, by way of relaxation of planning policy contributions, is justified by the viability 
outcomes. 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5c



 
It is important to note that whilst DWH accept the overall findings of the CP Viability report they 
disagree over abnormal costs totalling £3.5m and other miscellaneous costs. However, given CP 
Viability’s overall conclusions, DWH do not wish to challenge this element. Furthermore, and 
notwithstanding this, CP Viability conclude that the development has a viability gap of £13.2m i.e. 
that is the amount of additional net revenue which would be required to get to 19.09% profit on 
the scheme. 
 
Consequently, and following the requirements of the national guidance for undertaking viability 
testing, it can be concluded that the scheme is unviable.  
   
Other Matters 
 
Commercial Subsidy 
 
In addition, the applicant is looking to renegotiate the separate agreed legal contract to pay, 
subject to key dates over the life of the development, £2.3m by staged payments towards the cost 
of the development of the final phase of Southport Business Park namely land denoted as ‘the 
North East Quadrant’.  This is known as the Commercial Subsidy.   
 
The applicant has sought agreement to pay a significantly reduced amount of £1.15m.  Whilst this 
is a matter that is being considered separately by the Council, it is important to be aware of this 
negotiation as the viability of the original scheme (particularly with regards to the agreed reduced 
affordable housing provision) did have regard to the Commercial Subsidy.   
 
As demonstrated above, however, whether the Council agree to the reduced Commercial Subsidy 
or not, the development would still have a significant shortfall in developer profit and the scheme 
would still be unviable having regard to the planning requirements.   
 
For the avoidance of doubt the Commercial Subsidy matter is a separate matter and any 
agreement to the S106 changes requested will not prejudice the Council’s consideration of the 
matter at a later date 
 
Insurance Claim 
 
It is understood that the applicant is seeking an insurance claim of up to £5 million against Hydrock 
Contracting (the Contractor) through their protection and indemnity insurance (PPI) cover, given 
the difficulties experienced to address the difficult ground conditions.  The outcome of this claim is 
unknown (and may not be known for some time), but even if it was successful, there would still be 
a significant viability gap which would not lead to the planning recommendations in this report 
changing. 
 
 
 

Page 118

Agenda Item 5c



Conclusion 
 
The 759 dwelling capacity housing site comprises approximately 6% of the total borough’s 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) housing supply of circa 11,500 dwellings. 
Furthermore, the site is assumed to deliver circa 250 units (50 dwellings per annum) as part of the 
borough’s five-year supply position, comprising some 5% of the overall five-year supply.  After 
Land to the East of Maghull it is the largest housing site in the borough and the largest in 
Southport.   
 
To date, 367 dwellings have been recorded as completed on site, including 55 affordable dwellings, 
and a further 92 dwellings are under construction.  There remains, however, a significant number 
of units left to construct (392 or 300 if excluding those that have already commenced), including 
affordable housing. 
 
It is recognised that there have been significant difficulties with the site during the construction 
phases, which have significantly increased costs on site.  These have forced the applicant to review 
the viability of the scheme and consequently the applicant is seeking to remove a number of S106 
contributions as identified above. 
 
It is evident from the information provided that the scheme would not be viable, as verified by the 
Council’s retained viability consultants, and its continuation is at significant risk.  The subsequent 
impact on the housing delivery within Sefton should the scheme be stalled or in a worst case 
scenario mothballed, would be significant with a possible risk of the Council failing to demonstrate 
a 5 year supply.  This would put significant pressure on other developments elsewhere to ensure 
they are delivered and would still be challengeable on appeal.   
 
In terms of affordable housing provision, the applicant is still proposing to provide 127 affordable 
housing units.  This would be a marginal reduction to that previously agreed and in essence 
equates to a reduction of only 17 units.  When calculated as dwellings, the reduction is minimal at 
around 2%.  Nevertheless, and as highlighted above, Southport is seen as having the highest 
affordable housing need and any reduction would be very disappointing.  However, should the 
development be mothballed the loss of in excess of 70 affordable homes in the Southport would 
be significant  Furthermore, there is clear justification that the  developer could propose to provide 
no further affordable housing on viability grounds  and should the developer appeal on such 
grounds, the loss of the outstanding affordable housing to which the developer is committed to 
providing would significantly outweigh the number of affordable homes proposed to be removed 
from the scheme  It is considered therefore that the amendment proposed would secure the 
highest amount of affordable housing on site.   
 
There would be a significant loss in education contributions. Whilst such contributions were 
secured late on (as a result of amendments to the scheme increasing the number of houses 
proposed) they were necessary to comply with Policy IN1 of the Local Plan, which was adopted 
after the original scheme was approved.  That said, the difficulties experienced by the developer 
were unknown at the time that such contributions were secured.  Had they been, the developer 

Page 119

Agenda Item 5c



would inevitably have challenged the viability of such requests and this would have been likely to 
have been supported at any appeal, particularly given the fact that the local schools had already 
been extended in anticipation of this residential development as a whole.   
 
In terms of highway safety, Lancashire County Council have objected to the loss of the financial 
contribution towards the off site highway works (outside of Sefton).  They have advised that there 
remains a highway safety concern, which the financial contribution would help to overcome.  This 
requirement remains necessary to ensure highway safety.  The Council’s Highways Manager has 
not objected to the removal of the highway’s contribution towards the off site highway works 
(within Sefton) as it is no longer considered necessary.   
 
It is acknowledged that the applicant is in discussion with the Council regarding the renegotiation 
of the Commercial Subsidy contractual agreement.  However, even if it were agreed that there 
would be a reduced payment, the scheme would still not be viable.  It is also understood that the 
applicant is continuing to pursue their legal claim against Hydrock Contracting through their 
protection and indemnity insurance (PPI) cover, which may result in compensation being received 
by the applicant.  However, it is unclear as to when a conclusion on this may be or if it would be 
successful.  Furthermore, the degree of compensation is limited to a maximum of £5 million and 
would unlikely be enough to raise profit levels to an acceptable range, having regard to national 
guidance.  In short, if it were successful it would only raise profits from the development to a 
maximum of 16.29% on revenue, significantly short of the 19% plus expected for a development of 
this nature. 
 
Whilst this current situation is highly unfortunate, the applicant has confirmed that the developers 
remain very much committed to the development of the site which is clearly demonstrated 
through the submission of this application.  They do not want to stall or mothball the site if they 
can avoid it.  Demand for their homes is good and sales have been progressing well to date.  They 
remain on site and the development continues to progress. As such, and taking all matters into 
consideration, should the development not continue to be built out, it is considered that the risk to 
housing delivery and the provision of affordable housing (albeit at a lesser amount) would be 
significant should the Council not agree to the amendments proposed.  That said, the loss of the 
financial contribution towards off site highway works (outside of Sefton) would also be a 
significant risk.  However, if this application were approved, the applicant is willing to meet this 
requirement in light of the need to prevent harm to highway safety.   
 
It is considered that the Council should agree to the proposed amendments to the S106 
agreement, other than the removal of the financial contribution towards the off site highway 
works, outside of the Sefton Boundary.  It is considered that the S.106 as amended would still 
serve a useful purpose, particularly with regards to delivering affordable housing in Sefton.   
 

 
 

Page 120

Agenda Item 5c



Recommendation – To agree to amend the Section 106 agreement as 
follows: 

 
1.  Schedule 2 (Sefton Highway Contribution) to be deleted in its 

entirety. 
2.  Schedule 9 (Education Contribution) to be deleted in its entirety (this 

Schedule was introduction pursuant to the supplemental deed dated 
27 September 2018). 

3.  The definition Affordable Housing Supply Plan is to be replaced. 
4.  The plan at Annex 1 of the deed is to be replaced. 
5.  The definition Agreed Mix is to be deleted and replaced. 
6.  Clause 4.1 of the amended section 106 Agreement is to be replaced. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 5c



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Planning 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 20th 
October 2021

Subject: Planning Appeals

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer

Wards Affected: (All Wards)

Cabinet Portfolio: Planning and Building Control

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To advise members of the current situation with regards to appeals.  Attached is a list of 
new appeals, enforcement appeals, development on existing appeals and copies of 
appeal decisions received from the Planning Inspectorate

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the contents of this report be noted for information since the appeals decisions 
contained herein are material to the planning process and should be taken into 
account in future, relevant decisions.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To update members on planning and enforcement appeals

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
N/A

(B) Capital Costs
N/A

Page 123

Agenda Item 6



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There are no resource implications 

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

There are no climate emergency implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment:  Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Page 124

Agenda Item 6



The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6560/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4761/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Tina Berry
Telephone Number: 0345 140 0845
Email Address: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appeals extract from the back office system plus copies of any Planning Inspectorate 
decisions.

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available anywhere else on the internet 
can ben access on the Councils website www.sefton.gov.uk/planapps

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note that copies of all appeal decisions are available on our website: 
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/

Contact Officer: Mr Steve Matthews 0345 140 0845

Email: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appeals Received and Decisions Made

Appeals received and decisions made between 09 August 2021 and 29 September 2021

Appeal Decisions

DC/2020/02568 (APP/M4320/D/21/3276976)

77 Scarisbrick New Road Southport PR8 6LJ

Erection of a retractable enclosure for outdoor swimming pool 
(retrospective) and erection of fence to boundary wall

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

12/07/2021

24/09/2021

Dismissed

Reference:

New Appeals

DC/2021/00270 (APP/M4320/W/21/3278550)

12 Kew Road Formby Liverpool L37 2HB 

Variation of condition 2 pursuant to planning permission 
DC/2020/00847 to allow changes to the approved drawings.

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

20/09/2021

Reference:

DC/2021/00732 (APP/M4320/W/21/3278769)

2 Argyle Road Southport PR9 9LH

Alterations to the side elevation at lower ground/ ground floor 
level, and the erection of a detached outbuilding at the rear to 
replace the existing garage (part retrospective).

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

20/09/2021

Reference:

DC/2021/01290 (APP/M4320/W/21/3279863)

Kirkstone Road North Litherland Liverpool L21 7NT 

Prior notification application for 18.0m Phase 8 Monopole C/W 
wrapround Cabinet at base and associated ancillary works.

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

24/09/2021

Reference:

Page 127

Agenda Item 6



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site Visit made on 7 September 2021  
by F Rafiq BSc (Hons) MCD MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 24 September 2021 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/D/21/3276976 

77 Scarisbrick New Road, Southport  PR8 6LJ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Howie against the decision of Sefton Council. 

• The application Ref DC/2020/02568, dated 9 December 2020, was refused by notice 

dated 20 May 2021. 

• The development proposed is a retractable enclosure for outdoor swimming pool and 

erection of fence to boundary wall. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. A revised National Planning Policy Framework was published in July 2021 (the 

Framework). Whilst the paragraph numbers have changed in regard to those 
relevant to the main issue of this case, the substance thereof remains the same 

as the 2019 iteration. I have sought comments from the main parties and 
taken any comments made into consideration. 

3. I have utilised part of the Council’s description of development from the 

decision notice rather than the application form as this includes the erection of 
the fence albeit the appellant has indicated that they would be happy for the 

fence to be omitted. 

4. The retractable enclosure for the swimming pool was in place at the time of my 
site visit, and permission is therefore sought retrospectively. 

Main Issue 

5. The main issue is the effect of the development on the living conditions of 

neighbouring occupants of No 2A Balfour Road, with particular regard to 
outlook, sunlight, privacy, light and noise. 

Reasons 

6. The appeal property is a large, detached property on Scarisbrick New Road in a 
predominantly residential area. It is situated close to the junction with Balfour 

Road, where the rear of No 2A Balfour Road faces the side boundary of the rear 
garden of No 77. 

7. The enclosure around the swimming pool is situated close to the boundary 

between the appeal site and No. 2A. I note the reference to the height of the 
enclosure being only around 2.865m and that this is at the ridge, which is away 

Page 128

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/21/3276976

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

from the boundary with No. 2A. Nevertheless, the enclosure is of a significant 

size and extends along most of the length of the common boundary between 
the appeal site and No. 2A, where it is clearly visible from the elevated ground 

floor windows and from first floor level. Given the very shallow depth of No. 
2A’s rear garden, the enclosure is in close proximity to this neighbouring 
dwelling, whose occupants experience a strong sense of intrusion from the 

large glazed structure.  

8. I note the comments by the appellant that the fence could be omitted, but it 

forms part of the appeal development before me. Whilst this element of the 
development would partly screen the swimming pool enclosure, it would result 
in a taller combined wall and fence on the boundary. The height and close 

proximity of this would, in addition to that of the pool enclosure, have an 
overbearing impact on users of the garden area of No. 2A. This boundary being 

to the east of this neighbouring garden would also result in unacceptable 
overshadowing. 

9. The Council have raised concerns on the loss of privacy but I consider the 

views into the swimming pool structure from the upper floor of No. 2A are 
limited due to the obscure roofing material and the narrow angle of view above 

the boundary wall through the glazed side elevation of the pool enclosure. I 
note the reference to the perceived loss of privacy, but irrespective of the 
appeal scheme, there would be views between the upper floor of No. 2A and 

the rear garden area of the appeal site, including the swimming pool. 

10. Lighting from the swimming pool enclosure would be visible from the 

neighbouring property at No. 2A and I have been provided with a photograph 
which shows the swimming pool illuminated at night. I don’t however consider 
that this lighting, which is focussed on illuminating an internal space, would be 

so bright or give rise to glare that could cause unreasonable disturbance to 
neighbouring occupiers living conditions. 

11. I also appreciate the concerns in relation to noise and disturbance, but it must 
be borne in mind that the swimming pool or garden can be used irrespective of 
the appeal proposal, which would be capable of generating noise. Although an 

indoor pool could be used through the year, I am satisfied that disturbance 
from utilisation of this space could be mitigated by a condition controlling the 

hours of use had the development been otherwise acceptable. 

12. Despite this, I conclude that the development would unacceptably harm the 
living conditions of neighbouring occupants of No 2A Balfour Road, with 

particular regard to outlook and sunlight. As such, it would be contrary to 
Policy HC4 of the Local Plan for Sefton, which seeks, amongst other matters, to 

ensure that there is no significant reduction in the living conditions of the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties. It would also be contrary to the House 

Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (June 2018) and the 
Framework, which seek, amongst other matters, a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users. 

Other Matters 

13. The appellant has stated that a swimming pool structure that was 365mm 

lower would be allowed without the need for planning permission. Be that as it 
may, the additional height of the appeal scheme when combined with the 
extensive length close to the property boundary with No. 2A, results in greater 

Page 129

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/21/3276976

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

harm to neighbouring occupants living conditions. This limits the weight that I 

can attach to it in favour of allowing the scheme. 

14. I also note that not all of the moveable panels exceed 2.5m, but I need to 

consider the swimming pool enclosure as a whole. I have considered all other 
representations, but they do not alter my finding on the main issue.   

Conclusion 

15. For the reasons given above, having considered the development plan as a 
whole, the approach in the Framework, and all other relevant material 

considerations, the appeal is dismissed.  

F Rafiq  

INSPECTOR 

Page 130

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Planning Committee  

Visiting Panel Schedule 
Date Monday 18th October 2021

Start:  10:00 am at BOOTLE TOWN HALL

Agenda 
Item Time Application Details Ward

4B 10:30am
DC/2021/00977

17 Crown Close, Formby
L37 4ET

Ravenmeols

5A 10:50am
DC/2021/02152

15 Harbury Avenue, Ainsdale
PR8 2TA

Ainsdale

4C 11:20am

DC/2020/02331
Land Off Bankfield Lane

Southport
PR9 7NT

Meols

*** Comfort Break – Southport Town Hall ***

4A 12:15pm
DC/2021/00417

Land Off Holgate
Thornton

Manor

5B 12:40pm

DC/2021/01032
Telegraph House

Moor Lane, Crosby Manor

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 August 2021
	4a DC/2021/00417 - Land off Holgate, Thornton
	Summary
	Recommendation: Approve with Conditions Subject to the Completion of a S106 Legal Agreement Securing the Following: -
	- 62 affordable dwellings (including two thirds social/ affordable rented and one third discount market)
	- 20% of market dwellings to qualify as ‘accessible and adaptable’ under Building Regulations
	- £459,380 in contributions towards primary education in the Manor Ward
	- Supplementary feed for bird species on a nearby field for a minimum 30 years period (£95,000 in total)
	- The management of public open space and sustainable drainage systems
	- Contributions towards the Brooms Cross Management Plan
	- Around £6,658 to monitor compliance with the agreement
	Site Location Plan
	The Site
	The application site comprises 7.2 ha of former agricultural land including the existing Orchard Farm complex. It is bounded by Brooms Cross Road to the north, Park View/ Southport Road to the west, Holgate to the east and residential properties to the south.
	History
	The Council provided an Environmental Impact Assessment Screening Opinion in December 2020 concluding that the development of up to 221 dwellings on site would be unlikely to have ‘significant effects on the environment’ thus not warranting the preparation of an Environmental Statement (DC/2020/02451).
	Planning permission was granted on appeal in August 2019 for the erection of 14 dwellings towards the northern perimeter of the site adjacent to Orchard Farm (reference DC/2018/01568).
	Consultations
	Clinical Commissioning Group
	No objection.
	Conservation Officer
	Object to the loss of Orchard House.
	Environment Agency
	No comment received.
	Environmental Health Manager
	Air Quality
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Contaminated Land
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Noise
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Flooding and Drainage Manager
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Highways Manager
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Historic England
	No objection.
	Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
	No objection subject to conditions (comments based solely on transportation implications).
	Local Plan Manager
	No objection.
	Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Natural England
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Tree Officer
	No objection.
	United Utilities
	No objection subject to conditions.
	Neighbour Representations
	A 31-signature petition endorsed by Councillor John Joseph Kelly has been submitted objecting to the proposal due to an exacerbation of existing traffic issues, highway safety, air pollution and harm to the environment and ecology.
	An ePetition containing 245 signatures has been submitted via the Council’s website, objecting to the proposal due to increased traffic on to an already congested road, associated highway safety issues and increase in air pollution. Other objections include harm to the character of the area and setting of historic villages and Broom’s Cross. Loss of green space, recreation opportunities, trees and impact on ecology of the area including protected species such as pink footed geese. Increased flood risk.
	Objections received from multiple residents within 441 individual addresses and Thornton Parish Council on the following grounds: -
	Environmental Matters
	- Loss of Green Belt and open space reducing opportunities for recreation and damaging the natural environment
	- Impact on trees, ecology/ protected species including skylarks and geese
	- Environmental impacts during Climate Emergency and lack of public transport
	- Increased risk of flooding with fields often covered with surface water
	- The site constitutes Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land
	- Environmental Impact Assessment should be required
	- Increased air pollution
	Transportation and Highway Safety
	- Increase in traffic would exacerbate existing issues with regular congestion and network at capacity
	- A new signalled junction would cause tailbacks of traffic
	- Emergency services will not be able to make their way through traffic
	- Other developments in the area contributing to traffic already
	- Transport Assessment uses old data and survey information from lockdown
	- Concerns over existing road layout, with streets used as rat runs and associated highway safety issues
	- Removal of a car crash barrier on Park View
	- Site is not accessible to public transportation
	Design and Amenity
	- Detrimental impacts on the character of the area and overdevelopment of the site
	- Harm to heritage assets including Orchard House, scenery and rural landscape
	- Overlooking and overshadowing of existing neighbours
	- Increased noise and disturbance to existing residents and general detrimental impacts on health and wellbeing
	- Two storey properties next to bungalows on Holgate Park is inappropriate
	- Impacts on boundary treatments and existing hedges
	- A bridleway through a residential estate is unsuitable
	- Construction disturbance
	Development Pressures and Other Matters
	- No demand for houses with many empty properties not selling and Brownfield sites elsewhere
	- Increased population will impact on services and local infrastructure, insufficient spaces in schools with closest schools oversubscribed and lack of availability in GP practices
	- Lack of amenities within the area which is a small parish unsuitable for further development
	- Strong opposition demonstrates the significant harm which would be caused to local amenity, proposal is simply for profit
	Policy Context
	Recommendation – Approve with Conditions Subject to the Completion of a S106 Legal Agreement Securing the Following: -
	- 62 affordable dwellings (including two thirds social/ affordable rented and one third discount market)
	- 20% of market dwellings to qualify as ‘accessible and adaptable’ under Building Regulations
	- £459,380 in contributions towards primary education in the Manor Ward
	- Supplementary feed for bird species on a nearby field for a minimum 30 years period (£95,000 in total)
	- The management of public open space and sustainable drainage systems
	- Contributions towards the Brooms Cross Management Plan
	- Around £6,658 to monitor compliance with the agreement

	4b DC/2021/00977 - 17 Crown Close Formby Liverpool
	Summary
	Recommendation: Approve with Conditions
	Site Location Plan
	The Site
	History
	Consultations
	Highways Manager
	No objection
	Flooding & Drainage Manager
	No objection, but highlight that a private drain passes under the site and should be protected during construction.
	Tree Officer
	No objections.
	Neighbour Representations
	Other Matters
	 Negative impact upon parking
	Policy Context
	Assessment of the Proposal
	The main issues to consider in respect of this proposal are the impact on the character of the area and the impact on the living conditions of neighbouring residents.
	Recommendation - Approve with Conditions

	4c DC/2020/02331 - Land off Bankfield Lane, Southport
	5a DC/2021/02152 - 15 Harbury Avenue, Ainsdale
	Summary
	Recommendation: Approve with Conditions
	Site Location Plan
	The Site
	An existing two storey dwelling on the south side of Harbury Avenue, Ainsdale.  The existing dwelling has a single storey flat roof garage to the side.
	History
	There is no planning history associated with the application site.
	Neighbour Representations
	No neighbour representation received to date.
	Policy Context
	The proposed extensions would be sufficiently far enough away from properties to the front and rear to not harm  their living conditions.
	The proposal therefore meets the criteria of policy HC4.
	Character
	Policy HC4 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that proposals respond positively to the character and form of the existing property and those surrounding.
	The proposal would be constructed from materials that would be similar in appearance to those of the existing dwelling.  The ridge and eaves height of the extension would match those of the existing dwelling, while the pitch of the roof would be like that of the host dwelling and other similar extensions within the area. The extension would be set back from the front of the dwelling at first floor level and would maintain a gap to the boundary to ensure there is no terracing effect.  The proposed garage/porch extension would complement the design of the host dwelling.
	The proposed extension would complement the existing house and surrounding area and would comply with policy HC4 of the Local Plan.
	Conclusion
	The proposed extensions would not cause any harm to the living conditions of neighbouring properties or to the character and appearance of the area.
	The proposal therefore complies with Policy HC4 of the Local Plan and is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.
	Recommendation - Approve with Conditions

	5b DC/2021/01032 - Telegraph House, Moor Lane, Crosby
	SF_DC-2021-01032_Telegraph House
	Reason for Committee Determination: The application is presented by the Chief Planning Officer as it does not provide the full required amount of private outdoor amenity space.
	Summary
	Recommendation:  Approve with conditions subject to completion of Section 106 Agreement to secure a commuted sum payment of £204,738 (at 2021/22 rates) towards affordable housing off-site.
	Site Location Plan
	The Site
	The application site comprises a part two storey, part three storey building of 1960s construction at the junction of Moor Lane and Richmond Road in Crosby.  The building was in a mix of commercial uses and is now unoccupied, and the site also comprises derelict land to the rear.
	The site lies within the town centre and assumes a very prominent position when directly approached off the main A565 roundabout to the north.  The site is largely within a commercial setting, bound by the pedestrianised area of Moor Lane to the south east, with three storey residential blocks to the north and east on the opposite side of Richmond Road and sheltered housing accommodation to the south and east.  Directly to the west of the site fronting Moor Lane is one of two blocks known as the Glenn Buildings (North), which have been subject to more recent investment.  The remaining immediate surroundings are of a largely commercial nature.
	History
	No history directly relevant to the application site, but an appeal was allowed at Central Buildings in July 2021 for 39 affordable units (DC/2020/00732). This is referred to throughout the report and represents a relevant material consideration for this proposal.
	Consultations
	MEAS – no objection following completion of Habitats Regulations Assessment (forwarded to Natural England), recommend conditions in respect of works during the bird breeding season and to secure energy efficient and low carbon design as set out in report.
	Natural England- no objection following completion of Habitats Regulations Assessment.
	Local Plans – no objections, welcome the range of uses proposed, scheme would require affordable housing and education contributions, and development must meet M4(2) of the Building Regulations.  Development must also address flooding and drainage concerns and make provision for new broadband connections.
	Highways Manager – no objection subject to planning conditions as set out in report.
	Environmental Protection Manager – no objection subject to series of planning conditions as set out in report.
	Contaminated Land – no objection subject to conditions.
	Air Quality Manager – no objection subject to conditions.
	Lead Local Flood Authority – additional information relating to SuDS and soil investigation required.
	Policy Context
	A further jobs would be created through the construction process.  The applicant has suggested that a total of 57 person years would be achieved on this basis.
	It is also considered that the mix of one and two bedroom accommodation may assist in freeing up a number of existing under-occupied properties elsewhere and increase available choice of family housing elsewhere, which offers a social benefit in addition to a boost to the housing market.
	It is noted that across the board there have been substantial reductions in footfall across many town, district and local centres in the past 18 months and significant jobs lost.  In such an environment, it is considered investment of this nature ought to be strongly supported subject to compliance with other policies and the appropriate addressing of environmental impacts and social implications.
	In line with Paragraph 80 of the NPPF, these factors must be given significant weight in the planning balance.  It is considered that the scheme will deliver substantial economic benefits.
	Design and Character of the Area
	The proposal is for a part four, part five storey building, which will offer active frontages to both Moor Lane and Richmond Road.  The building currently gives rise to a non-active frontage to Richmond Road, save for a wall opening that would have offered car parking for previous occupiers.  This development would resolve this by offering a strong active frontage.
	The main pedestrian access to the residential part of the development is onto Richmond Road, but there are opportunities for ground floor access to the commercial premises fronting Moor Lane too.  Further safe pedestrian access is available from the car park to the rear of the site as well.
	The side of the development facing Moor Lane would improve on the existing by bringing the ground floor forward to align with the Glenn Buildings, resolving a townscape issue of the current building being set back behind a canopy above the ground floor.  The building does give rise to a slightly awkward transition with the adjacent two storey Glenn Buildings, and the difficulty of linking the buildings is further exacerbated by the existing pitched roof. Whilst less than ideal, it is felt that this is the best available design solution that can be accommodated given these constraints.
	The Crosby Centre SPD identifies the site as capable of accommodating development of at least two storeys in height.  The building does give rise to a five storey corner feature when viewed from the non-pedestrianised section of Moor Lane which is a height not especially common across the centre.  There is some acknowledged variance in height and scale in the centre, not least with the more traditional buildings fronting the central part of the pedestrian area of a three storey scale, but also various two storey buildings of later construction, single storey components adjacent to the two storey art deco influenced Glenn Buildings (South), the three storey residential flats at Avon Court, and the new sheltered accommodation to the south and east of the site at Grove Court, which is of three storey height but assumes a more significant impact owing to its roof massing.
	The height and mass of the building is clearly over and above anything else within the centre at present, but it is clear that whilst traditional materials are consistent across the centre, there is wider variance in respect of scale and massing.  The new design clearly improves on the existing building, which offers largely inactive frontages (none to Richmond Road and Moor Lane compromised by the ground floor setting back and canopies), awkward internal layouts which would appear to be off-putting to prospective end users as borne out by a lack of occupation. With such variance across Crosby, added to the site’s prominence on a corner, it is felt on balance that the increased height is capable of being acceptably accommodated on this occasion, with the best efforts made to address an awkward joining to Glenn Buildings (North).
	At the request of officers, and prior to the application being submitted, the applicant agreed to undertake a review with Places Matter, an independent design review body, in respect of the design and layout of the proposals.  This review concluded that a series of changes would be beneficial to the development, but their more prevalent concerns related to the practicalities of the internal layout and landscaping, rather than scale and height.  It is therefore significant that the approach to height and scale has been subject to a separate independent review which is largely accepting of this.
	The proposal has also been subject to a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (TVIA), provided by the applicant which identifies a number of key viewpoints that owing to the general street patterns of the centre give rise to most of the visual impacts being localised, i.e. the buildings generally visible from short to medium range.  The site would mostly not be viewed from the opposite end of the pedestrianised section of Moor Lane, and views from the A565 by-pass facing north will be of a building set behind a range of fragmented and varied building heights as explained above.  The building would not be especially visible on the A565 southbound approach due to the intervening roundabout and trees which filter visual impacts facing that direction.  The wider visual impacts of the building are agreed not to be harmful.
	The building is stepped back on its upper floors to help reduce its visual massing, with the tiled mansard and aluminium roof, and the elevations have been broken down with a wider selection of materials and greater verticality to increase the glazed emphasis of the windows. This reduces impressions of elongated mass enabling the building’s height at its corner to be played down somewhat.  These changes add depth and richness to the elevations.
	The choice of materials for this proposal are kept to a minimum and would incorporate a variety of grey, buff and red bricks, which reflect the general pattern of materials that prevail in the centre at present, and a tiled mansard roof is proposed with aluminium feature dormers.  A planning condition is recommended to secure samples.
	The footpaths around the building will all be improved and the access into the site will be finished to an appropriate standard, which will also match the existing public realm.  The space to the rear incorporating the car park is active and well overlooked, making provision for safe pedestrian access whether from Richmond Road or round the back of the Glenn Buildings (South).  The design of the rear is enhanced by a raised lawn proposed to the entrance from the car park.
	The applicant also proposes planters and seating at the front of the commercial premises to the corner, which would address approaches from Moor Lane heading in a westerly direction off the main A565 roundabout.
	The outdoor space identified for use by occupiers is subject to a bespoke design, and the larger area of the two roofspaces would include a raised lawn area for relaxation, an outdoor lounge with moveable seating, and various communal loungers and seating.  The smaller outdoor space proposed communal dining and table tennis facilities.  Subject to the precise details and timing of the availability being secured by condition, these spaces are considered to offer excellent opportunities for relaxation in an otherwise confined setting.
	Having regard to the above, it is not unreasonable to raise some reservations over the height and scale of the built form, and the manner of the building’s joining to the Glenn Buildings (North).  However, more generally, the chosen approach offers a substantial improvement on the existing derelict building and land, and also addresses long standing concerns over a lack of active frontage and debilitating impacts on the centre due to the prominent location of the building as it stands.  The development will also not give rise to unacceptable visual impacts from wider vantage points whether short or long range.   Weight is also afforded to the fact that the application has been independently scrutinised prior to submission by an independent panel and has seen a number of recommendations of that panel accepted and taken through to the final chosen design.
	Taking the above into account, the scheme is therefore felt to bring no specific conflict with Local Plan Policy EQ2 ‘Design’, or the provisions set out by Section 12 of the NPPF.
	Impact on the adjoining occupiers
	The proposals introduce residential and commercial activities consistent with what prevails elsewhere within the district centre.  The nearest immediate neighbour, on Moor Lane, is the Glenn Buildings (North), which comprises a mix of uses including a bar and function rooms.  The proposed uses and built form would not cause harm to this property or any others on the north side of Moor Lane.
	On the Opposite side of Moor Lane are further buildings in mixed residential, office and commercial use, and these include Glenn Building (South).  The development will not give rise to any adverse impacts in terms of their use or built form.
	The other nearest occupiers likely to be affected are Avon Court, on the opposite side of Richmond Road to the north of the development, and Grove Court which comprises a sheltered housing to the east.  Avon Court comprises various three storey flat roofed residential properties set at right angles to Richmond Road, and the nearest building would be 22 metres away from the proposed Richmond Road elevation.  This is sufficient to prevent unacceptable overshadowing and there would be no loss of outlook or privacy resulting to Avon Court, as the nearest buildings do not face the development directly, rather, face south west along Richmond Road, or south east towards Grove Court.
	Grove Court is set well back into the site towards the A565 by pass and this means the building at its nearest to the development is positioned over 50 metres away, with the car park and landscaped areas intervening.  As such it is not anticipated that there would be any unacceptable overshadowing or loss of privacy to these neighbouring occupiers.
	The roof terraces will be used for outdoor private space to the residential flats, so it is not unreasonable to raise concerns over impacts on adjoining premises, but in reality, the terrace is not going to enable direct views into nearby residential properties adjacent as it is elevated above those nearest, windows of adjoining premises are offset, and there is acceptable distance between the terrace and other properties above.
	Due to the mix of residential and commercial uses proposed, the Environmental Protection Manager has recommended a scheme of sound insulation that protects the newly created residential properties from activity in the commercial uses below.
	It has also been identified (and is noted by one of the objectors) that complaints occasionally arise relating to noise from entertainment establishments in this area.  In addition, the England noise map indicates that part of the site might be impacted by high levels of road traffic noise.  It is therefore recommended that appropriate acoustic glazing and acoustically treated ventilation is provided to properties and installed prior to occupation.
	It is also recommended in the absence of clarification in a noise assessment that any music proposed within the building is played at background levels only.
	A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) can address any issues arising during the construction process and an informative added.
	In summary the proposal brings with it a number of impacts similar to those the development will face itself owing to its district centre location.  The scheme is acceptably designed and with appropriate planning conditions will comfortably co-exist alongside those uses around it.  In these respects, the scheme is fully compliant with Local Plan Policies EQ2 ‘Design’ and EQ4 ‘Pollution and Hazards’.
	Living Conditions of Future Occupiers
	The size of the apartments are acceptable, meeting minimum space standards, and the outlook and living conditions are considered to be acceptable.  All entrances to the flats have been designed to have level thresholds and provide step free access into the building. It has been designed to be accessible to all residents and each floor will also have use of a separate communal staircase.
	The communal corridors are all 1.5m wide and there are two lifts proposed, all of which afford access to the private amenity area on the roof. The communal entrances into the building have been designed to achieve the minimum standards of M4(2) of the Building Regulations.
	The Council requires private amenity space to be provided with new flats.  For a development of this size, a total of 1,440 sq metres would be required.  This proposal provides 866 sq metres, on the roof of the building, which clearly falls short of delivering the required amount and delivers just 60% of the overall requirement.  It is noted that Paragraph 32 of the SPD ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation’ does suggest that a communal area such as a roof terrace is one way of meeting the standard.
	Paragraph 33 states that a lower standard may be acceptable where the proposal is within easy walking distance to a local centre, where the benefits of being close to community facilities and public transport are significant.  Clearly, that is the case here.  It also allows for reduced standards where the re-use of a building has wider significant community or regeneration benefits.
	The proposal does not give rise to the re-use of the building.  However, it is currently vacant, and its redevelopment added to its ongoing derelict status meets with the spirit of what the guidance intends.  These are criteria on which the applicants are entitled to rely when formulating their proposals.
	It is also noted that under recently revised permitted development rights, it would prove possible to secure the existing building’s reuse for residential development, subject to prior approval being obtained, with no outdoor space deliverable and further roof top extensions which would be capable of delivering approximately 40-45 units.  This assumes units of a size consistent with those proposed, which themselves largely exceed minimum space standards comfortably.
	If 72 residential dwellings can be accepted in land use planning terms, having regard to transport, noise, flooding and contaminated land issues, it is in theory then possible for a number of units to be achieved via prior approval with no private outdoor space whatsoever.  This is not understood to represent a desirable proposition for the applicant but is raised simply to illustrate the difficult challenges now faced when seeking to secure acceptable private outdoor space for such developments as a result of recent changes to permitted development rights.
	The recent appeal decision at Central Buildings is also noted and is a relevant material consideration that cannot be set aside.  Although some of the findings of the Inspector are not accepted, such as the undue weight given to the reliance on occupiers using high-specification tumble dryers for clothes’ drying, the Inspector has identified similar points in the SPD relating to the development’s central location and has also pointed to the proximity of various parks nearby.  These are not accepted to represent a substitute for the provision of private outdoor space for residents, but it is considered reasonable given the number and quality of those parks for them to offset the level of identified shortfall in available private space.
	Additionally, the useable space provided is accessible to all residents and has been designed to a high quality specification.  Taken in isolation, an area of 866 sq metres is a substantial area offering plentiful space for end users.
	In conclusion, the scheme fails to meet the Council’s quantitative requirement for private outdoor amenity space to be provided for new flats but appropriate justifications have been presented that accord with the provisions of Paragraphs 32-34 of the SPD ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation’.  This in turn allows the conclusion that there is no direct conflict with Local Plan Policy EQ2 ‘Design’.  However, whilst there is a noted shortage of provision, there is provision nevertheless.  The failure to secure the full quantum required by guidance weighs against the development to a moderate degree  in the wider planning balance and is to be considered against all other factors for and against.
	Parking, Transport and Highway Safety
	The main vehicular access into the site would be from Richmond Road, sharing the access available for Allengate car park.  The access into the site adjacent to the building itself would be gated and parking is confirmed only to be available for use by residential occupiers.  26 parking spaces are provided in total, two of which are accessible, two motor cycle bays, and 80 cycle spaces.
	There are no defined parking requirements in town centres for 5 dwellings or more and standards must be considered on a site by site basis.  The Supplementary Planning Document ‘Sustainable Travel’ also confirms that even car-free development may be accepted where it can be demonstrated that there is good access to public transport and local amenities, and where there is no adverse highway safety impact.
	The applicant has provided evidence in their Transport Statement to the effect that there are various bus routes in close proximity to the site, and there is good pedestrian accessibility to the site given it is within a district centre, fronting onto the pedestrianised area.  A Minimum Accessibility Standards Audit (MASA) has been supplied with the application and this also confirms that the site is in a highly accessible location, with a variety of sustainable transport options available locally.
	There are two other car parks within the district centre (The Green and Cookslands) which in addition to Allengate, comprise over 300 parking spaces.  For residential development, the greatest pressures are generally in evenings and at weekends, and consequently, it is at weekends where demand will be greatest given that during most evenings there will be reduced demand on parking associated with the wider centre.
	The applicant has therefore indicated that leasehold arrangements for the flats would allocate spaces for some occupiers, and others would be able to apply for permits to park in the district centre but there would be limited availability.  That said, it is felt that available supply is sufficient to cater for likely demand resulting from the development.
	In these circumstances, it is considered that a lower level of car parking is acceptable.  This assessment has regard to the appeal allowed in July 2021 for Central Buildings, which also provided for levels of parking on-site lower than would be expected were the site outside a district centre.
	The Transport Statement has established likely trip rates to be in the order of 7 two way trips in the AM peak (8am to 9am) and 11 two way trips during the PM peak period (5pm to 6pm) which would amount to less than one vehicle every five minutes in the peak hours.  This level of traffic is easily capable of being accommodated.  Though the building is currently vacant, the existing commercial space is of a comparable size to that proposed, and it is accepted that if the building was fully occupied the number of trips associated with the new proposed units would be no different.
	Tracking drawings have been provided demonstrating that refuse can be collected from the area to the rear of the building and vehicles can exit the site in forward gear.  Servicing is proposed from the pedestrianised section of Moor Lane which is consistent with a large number of other units in the centre and would be subject to existing restrictions to preclude it between 0600 and 2200.
	With regard to conditions, a number are attached including a requirement to secure a Car Parking Management Strategy to ensure spaces are maintained for residents, and 3 electric vehicle charging points are provided which would also be secured by condition and exceed the number required.
	A travel plan is recommended by the Highways Manager and this will enable the promoting of a range of sustainable means of travel and will complement the car park management plan.  A construction traffic management plan is also required and is incorporated as part of a Construction Method Statement (CMS), as is a condition to ensure that redundant vehicle crossings to Richmond Road are reconstructed plus a condition ensuring that the proposed new block paving ties in effectively with that existing to Moor Lane and Richmond Road.
	Having regard to the above, whilst the Highways Manager is of the view that there will be additional pressures on parking availability within the centre at certain times, this would not give rise to conditions harmful to highway safety and the development can be accommodated acceptably.  There would be no conflict in this respect with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ3 ‘Accessibility’ or Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework (Promoting sustainable transport), in particular paragraph 111.
	Flooding and Drainage
	The applicant will be required to demonstrate that the requirements of policy EQ8 ‘Flood risk and surface water’ are met, including the incorporation of sustainable drainage systems and provision for their long-term management and maintenance.  The site is in Flood Zone 1.
	Following receipt of the application the applicants provided information in respect of the Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS). It is recommended that the site is drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. This can be included in a condition to ensure that this is implemented and would ensure that there is no conflict with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ8 ‘Flood Risk and Surface Water’ and the provisions of Paragraph 167 of the NPPF.
	Contaminated Land
	A preliminary risk assessment has identified potentially contaminative sources, including Made Ground associated with the construction / demolition of  buildings on site, and an electricity sub-station in the north of the site.  As such, the applicant’s consultants have recommended a site investigation to establish the depth and nature of any Made Ground soils and contamination, and to obtain information on the ground conditions for a geotechnical assessment.
	The Made Ground and / or infilled basements could be a potential source of ground gases, and it has been recommended that ground gas monitoring wells should be installed if deep Made Ground is encountered during any intrusive investigation.
	The Contaminated Land Team Leader agrees with these recommendations for a site investigation and a full suite of planning conditions and informative form part of the recommendation.  Subject to these safeguards the proposals would not conflict with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ6 ‘Contaminated Land’ and the provisions of NPPF paragraph 183.
	Air Quality
	It has been recommended that electric vehicle recharging points are provided in line with the Sefton Council Lowering Transport Emissions Planning Policy Note.  This is addressed by planning condition.  It has also been recommended that a written scheme to control dust from construction activities should be submitted to the Council for prior approval and will be a specific part of a condition requiring a Construction Environment Management Plan.  This ensures compliance with Sefton Local Plan Policy EQ4 ‘Pollution and Hazards’.
	Heritage Impacts
	There are no adjacent conservation areas or listed buildings, though some buildings on Moor Lane including the Glenn Buildings (North and South) and The George Public House are considered to be non-designated heritage assets.  The latter is of such distance from the site that it is not adversely affected by the development. Though, as mentioned above, there is a difficult connection to the setting of the Glenn Buildings (North), the general setting is likely to be improved overall by the removal of the existing derelict, vacant building.
	The development therefore gives rise to no conflict with Policy NH15 of the Sefton Local Plan.
	Ecology and Habitats Regulations Assessment
	Following the application submission, Natural England requested further information to determine impacts on the Ribble and Alt Estuaries SPA and Ramsar sites; Sefton Coast SAC and Sefton Coast SSSI. It was in turn requested that an assessment be carried out of the operational impacts on designated sites via additional recreation pressure.  Following that response, MEAS has completed a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).
	The following international and national designated sites are identified to be accessible (by foot, car and public transport) to the development site.
	•  Ribble and Alt Estuaries SPA (2.1km);
	•  Ribble and Alt Estuaries Ramsar (2.1 km);
	•  Sefton Coast SAC (2.1km);
	•  Mersey Estuary SPA (17.4km);
	•  Mersey Estuary Ramsar (17.4km);
	•  Liverpool Bay SPA (11.9km)
	•  Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA (17.5km;
	•  Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore Ramsar (17.5km);
	•  Dee Estuary SAC (18.7km)
	•  Dee Estuary SPA (28.9km); and
	•  Dee Estuary Ramsar site (22.9km.)
	As the proposal is for 74 net residential units, this will result in increased visits (and in turn, increased recreational pressure) to international and national sites. This may result in significant effects on habitats and species for which these sites have been designated.
	Sefton Local Plan’s HRA and the SPD ‘Nature Conservation’ respectively identifies recreational pressure from residential development as a Likely Significant Effect alone and in combination. Recreational pressure is recognised in the formal statutory Conservation Advice Packages and Site Improvement Plans as Medium-High risk to qualifying features of the international and national sites.
	An assessment of likely significant effects has been undertaken using the Source Pathway-Receptor model, which is based upon the essential features and characteristics of the project only and concludes that, without mitigation/preventative measures, there will be likely significant effects on the above international and national sites.
	Appropriate Assessment has therefore been undertaken in accordance with Regulation 63 (Habitats Regulations 2017) and this concludes that, with mitigation/preventative measures secured through the appropriate planning mechanisms, there will be no adverse effect upon the integrity of international and national sites.
	Natural England have been consulted on the outcome of this Appropriate Assessment and have confirmed that they raise no objections.  The assessment of likely significant effects, an Appropriate Assessment Summary and the final comments of Natural England are appended to the Committee Report.
	The response from MEAS gives rise to no other outstanding concerns but recommends any works taking place during the bird breeding season are carried out under appropriate supervision.  Subject to appropriate conditions, the scheme gives rise to no conflicts with Sefton Local Plan policies NH2, NH3 and NH4.
	Climate Change
	The site is advantageously situated given its district centre location. This enables higher density residential and commercial development offering services to the public whilst drawing residential occupiers closer to existing services.  This gives rise to sustainable development which in itself ought to reduce the need for travel and facilitate linked trips, in turn, reducing carbon emissions.
	It is also noted that the development will be required to meet energy efficiency measures required under the regulatory framework through Part L of the Building Regulations, and as part of that detailed assessment at the detailed design stage, Standard Assessment Procedure (‘SAP’) Calculations will be undertaken.  Given that these SAP Calculations may generate a requirement for decentralised energy, the applicant has identified areas on the roof where Photovoltaics may be located as shown on the Roof Plan provided with the application.
	As such, the building will meet energy efficiency requirements as required by legislation and opportunities for photovoltaics are capable of further exploration subject to requirements under Part L and viability.  Even if photovoltaics are not delivered at this stage, the scale of roof space presents that opportunity in the future.
	In addition, Policy EQ7 allows for major development to incorporate measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions where practicable.  One of these measures relates to infrastructure or low emissions vehicles and to this extent the scheme is compliant with that policy.  There are no specific issues brought by the development that give rise to concerns on this point and there is no conflict with Policy EQ7 of the Sefton Local Plan.
	Representations
	The proposals have been subject to a considerable number of representations.  The letters of objection are from existing residents of the centre and raise concern over direct impacts resulting from the development, mostly, overlooking, loss of privacy, parking pressures, increased noise and disturbance and the scale of the built form.
	That the letters of objection are from close to hand would afford those concerns a reasonable degree of weight, however, it is not accepted that the scheme is unacceptably designed or would give rise to the other impacts being claimed.  Planning conditions are recommended where impacts might otherwise prove unacceptable and appropriate weight is therefore afforded to those representations.
	It is also important to contextualise the support for the proposal.  A large number of letters in support do not derive from those directly notified of the development, with many from businesses and community groups who express support for the developer as much as for the actual development itself.
	There are a number of letters in support from Crosby residents too, but the theme of all the support is essentially the same in that it suggests that the investment should be supported with spin-off benefits likely to accrue and the removal of a derelict eyesore site focussing heavily in some letters.
	Though the support is significant in terms of the number of letters received, its weight is slightly tempered by the fact that the vast majority of them do not come directly from notifications sent by the Council.  That notwithstanding, the comments received still accord in many respects with the view of officers that the significant economic and regeneration benefits brought about by the development merit support being offered, and it is felt that the level of support should be considered to be at least on a par with that advanced by objectors.
	On balance, it is considered that the wider public support for the proposals adds a small degree of weight in favour of the development proposed.
	Other Matters
	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines how high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is essential for economic growth and social well-being, the importance of which is now being demonstrated during the Coronavirus Pandemic. The inclusion of adequate broadband facilities for each residential unit can be secured by a condition to comply with the NPPF and Local Plan Policy IN1 ‘Infrastructure and Developer Contributions’.
	As stated above, viability issues do not allow for the provision of financial contributions towards school education.
	Section 106 Legal Agreement
	The report has outlined a single planning obligation, which will be included in a Section 106 legal agreement.  This is in relation to providing a financial contribution to off-site affordable housing, with the monies to be spent in line with the above hierarchy set out by the Supplementary Planning Document ‘Affordable Housing’.
	This is for a sum of £204,738.  It is considered that this meets the necessary planning tests and are relevant to the development and comply with Local Plan Policy IN1 ‘Infrastructure and Developer Contributions’.
	Planning Balance and Conclusion
	The benefits of the scheme relate to a quality design that deals very effectively with a currently derelict and vacant site, bringing investment and regeneration to the borough.  The development will bring new residents to the village and with it increased spending power to use in existing services and facilities, whilst revitalising the existing commercial offer in this part of Crosby.  These factors weigh significantly in favour of the development.  This scheme would make a significant contribute to the Council’s five year housing supply position and this also weighs significantly in favour of the development.
	It is considered by the Highway Manager that parking levels are acceptable and will not bring additional concern over highway safety.  There are no identifiable adverse impacts on fauthe environment, in relation to air quality, contaminated land, drainage, ecology or in respect of non-designated heritage assets.  Impacts on nearby and future occupiers can also be appropriately managed.  These factors attract neutral weight in the planning balance.
	It is accepted that the development will not deliver the full amount of on-site affordable housing required by policy.  However, the applicant has confirmed agreement to an off-site financial contribution and this has been established as appropriate following an open and transparent review of the applicant’s viability report by the Council’s retained consultant, CP Viability.  This approach is endorsed by Policy HC1 of the Sefton Local Plan and the failure to make the full on-site provision is not therefore considered to weigh against the development.
	In relation to the disadvantages of the scheme, it provides only 60% of the private amenity space required by the Council’s ‘Supplementary Planning Guidance’.  However the applicant is considered to have taken advantage of all available opportunities to provide as much private amenity space as is practicable. The site’s central location plus other nearby facilities (acknowledged via HRA) and the possibilities now ranging via permitted development is such that this harm is not considered to be sufficient to outweigh the other factors favouring the granting of planning permission.
	In assessing any proposal of this nature, all relevant matters must be weighed and a balanced view taken. The scheme offers significant regeneration benefits and will bring a positive use to a site which is derelict at present and will likely continue to remain the case without any meaningful form of investment.
	As such the scheme offers a range of regeneration benefits - physical, economic and social - and would be a stimulus for further redevelopment in Crosby. These are given significant weight in the planning balance and it is considered that these outweigh the identified lack of outdoor amenity space. In all other respects the proposal accords with national and local planning policy and is recommended for approval subject to the completion of a legal agreement and conditions as set out below.
	Recommendation - Approve with conditions subject to completion of Section 106 Agreement to secure a commuted sum payment of £204,738 (at 2021/22 rates) towards affordable housing off-site.

	SF_DC_2021_01032_Telegraph House_NE response
	SF_DC_2021_01032_HRA

	5c DC/2021/00124 - Land at Town Lane Kew, Southport
	6 Planning Appeals
	Enc. 1 for Planning Appeals
	Appeals Report - Committee
	APPEAL DECISION 77 Scarisbrick New Road


	7 Visiting Panel Schedule

